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American International Group, Inc. (AIG) is a leading global
insurance organisation. Founded in 1919, today AIG member
companies provide a wide range of property casualty insurance,
life insurance, retirement products, and other financial services
to customers in more than 80 countries and jurisdictions.
These diverse offerings include products and services that help
businesses and individuals protect their assets, manage risks and
provide for retirement security. AIG common stock is listed on the
New York Stock Exchange and the Tokyo Stock Exchange.
AIG Europe Limited is one of the largest property-casualty insurance
companies by gross written premium in the UK. The Company is the
largest US headquartered property-casualty insurer in Europe.
AIG’s businesses have over 65 years of experience in Europe
and are proud to offer AIG’s innovative and tailored products
and solutions to our customers across the region.

most
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

NET PREMIUMS WRITTEN

TOTAL EQUITY

£3,661m £3.4bn

insurer
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AT A GLANCE

AIG EUROPE LIMITED

At AIG we aspire to be our clients’most
valued insurer. Through collaboration with our
clients and partners we are able to develop products
and services that meet their specific needs. By embracing
diversity of all kinds – be it race, gender, sexuality
or religion – we ensure that we remain innovative
and relevant. And by taking courageous decisions,
we can help our customers reduce fear of the future.
IRELAND

UNITED
KINGDOM

The Company’s operations are organised into
three key segments, with a diverse product
offering sold via a multitude of sales channels.
P12 LIABILITY AND FINANCIAL LINES
The Liability and Financial Lines business provides insurance
solutions to the full spectrum of enterprises, from large
multinational and mid-sized companies to small businesses,
entrepreneurs and non-profit organisations.

P14 PROPERTY AND SPECIAL RISKS
The Property and Special Risks business provides
comprehensive cover for a range of businesses across
a multitude of industries for both commercial property,
energy and engineered risks together with targeted
solutions for specific insurance risks.

P16 PERSONAL INSURANCE
In Personal Insurance we offer products and
services that help people around the world
live healthier and safer lives, plan for the future,
as well as understand and minimise risk to their
possessions and finances.

PORTUGAL

WHERE WE OPERATE
AIG
*As of 30 November 2016

SPAIN
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FINLAND

NORWAY

3

SWEDEN

GEOGRAPHIC AREAS
OF OPERATION:
UK, NORTH AND SOUTH

4,900

DENMARK

EMPLOYEES

27
COUNTRIES

POLAND

NETHERLANDS

BELGIUM

GERMANY
LUXEMBOURG

CZECH REPUBLIC
SLOVAKIA

FRANCE

AUSTRIA
HUNGARY
ROMANIA

SWITZERLAND

ITALY

BULGARIA

GREECE

CYPRUS

MALTA
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AIG EUROPE LIMITED

Focusing
what we

on

do

best
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Chief Executive’s Statement
2016 has been a year of intensified focus: our geographic
focus, our focus on profitable business lines and also our
focus on our clients.
A Baldwin
Chief Executive Officer

AIG in Europe

OUR STRATEGY IS
UNDERPINNED BY
FIVE KEY PILLARS:
	Value Based Management,
which means we focus on
those segments where we
have the greatest ability to
create value;
	Customer, which means
putting our customer at the
centre of everything that
we do and delivering
an improved client and
partner experience;
	Simplification, which
means improving
efficiency, simplifying our
organisational structure and
empowering employees;
	Technology/IT, by
modernising, digitising
and mobilising our
technology capabilities
to better serve our customers
and empower our people;
	People, meaning we seek to
develop, attract and engage
with a diverse workforce.

We have continued to build strong momentum
towards our vision to be our clients’ most
valued insurer by concentrating on the
business lines and geographies where we
can deliver the most value. We improved
our business mix, reduced our expenses and
also took steps to exit certain geographies,
narrowing our footprint to those countries
where we can operate a sustainable,
profitable business.
We have also continued to put our clients
at the centre of everything we do and
collaboration has been a major theme for
AIG Europe in 2016. I’m proud of the great
strides we have taken this year to work closer
than ever before with our clients and partners
to innovate and co-create products that
address their needs both today and tomorrow.
Geographic Focus
At the beginning of last year our parent
company AIG Group made a global
strategic update to the market. This outlined
plans to achieve a number of financial goals
while simplifying the business, becoming
increasingly client focused and delivering
operating synergies.
This led to AIG Europe narrowing its
geographic footprint. In October it was
announced that Fairfax Financial Holdings
Limited (Fairfax) will acquire renewal rights
for the portfolio of local business written by
AIG’s operations in Bulgaria, Czech Republic,
Hungary, Poland, Romania and Slovakia
and assume the AIG operating assets
and employees for these countries. These
transactions are expected to close during
the course of 2017. Shortly after the year
end in December 2016, AIG disposed
of its ownership interest in AIG Greece
Representation of Insurance Enterprises S.A.,
which acts as a Managing General Agent
(MGA) for AIG Europe Limited’s Greece
branch, to EXIN Group. It is therefore

I’m proud of the great
strides we have taken
this year to work closer
than ever before with
our clients and partners
to innovate and co-create
products that address
their needs both today
and tomorrow.

anticipated that by the end of 2017,
AIG Europe will have underwriting
operations in 21 countries.
2016 Company Performance
In 2016, we continued to operate in a
challenging environment. Low interest rates,
uncertainty reinforced by the UK’s referendum
decision to leave the European Union,
the growing spectre of inflation and the
commoditisation of certain products continued
to put a downward pressure on prices,
profitability, and investment returns.
We also experienced a higher level of
severe claims as well as some adverse claims
development which led us to take a decision
to strengthen our reserves. This impacted our
profitability in 2016.
These challenges validate our strategy of
focusing on underwriting discipline and on
those business lines and geographic areas
that are most profitable. We have continued
to improve our business mix towards those
areas of focus and, even though we have
chosen to walk away from premium in certain
lines of business, overall, the level of net
written premiums has risen.
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AIG EUROPE LIMITED

Chief Executive’s Statement
(continued)

We see targeted growth
opportunities across Europe to
partner with our customers to help
them achieve their ambitions.
A Baldwin
Chief Executive Officer

We continue to focus on our core capabilities,
including financial lines, multinational and
client risk solutions, leveraging our geographic
reach, our capacity and our expertise. We
are confident that we can compete effectively
in this market with this continued focus.
AIG is compliant with Solvency II reporting
and capital requirements, which came into
force on 1 January 2016.
A summary of our financial performance
can be found in the Strategic Report.
Collaboration at AIG
We will only succeed in our goal to become
our clients’ most valued insurer if we are able
to get closer to our clients. We have taken
even greater steps in 2016 to do this through
greater empathy and understanding, which
has led to some great partnerships. AIG
partnered with Europcar Ireland to assist
them in using smart technology, specifically
telematics, to improve driver behaviour and
incentivise those positive behaviours. Together
we ran a smooth driving contest in the early
part of 2016, the result of which was to
reduce their cost of claims by 23%. By
working together we were able to help our
client reduce one of their most significant
costs through the use of innovative technology.
Last year also saw us launch five new
industry segments in an effort to get closer
and become more relevant to our customers.
We now have dedicated groups for Financial
Services, Energy, Construction, Manufacturing
and Transportation and are mining the deep
experience we have across the business.
We have established close relationships with
a number of companies within these industry
areas and have invited them to collaborate
with us to explore solutions and investigate
their needs. This is an exciting new approach
and one that I expect to bear fruit this year
and in the future.

Innovation at AIG
We continue to invest in innovation and
technology that helps us to deliver value to our
clients. In Italy we have invested in technology
which has meant that we have boosted new
business in Financial Lines, half of which came
via no-touch underwriting platforms, Managing
General Agents and other trading mechanisms.
In the UK, also in Financial Lines, we have
developed a new website and app to support
regional brokers distribute our new PrivateEdge
product and we’ve also improved our online
platform which resulted in an increase in
premiums generated online.
We foster innovation in all its forms. One of
our most innovative moves this year was an
addition that we made to our Directors’ and
Officers’ policy in the UK for senior executives
and their families who might be pursuing a
residency application in the UK in the wake
of the referendum decision by the UK to leave
the European Union. The addition allowed for
the payment of legal costs should a residency
application be turned down, and was
launched within a month of the UK’s
referendum decision. The cover was added
at no additional cost to all primary AIG
policies written out of the UK. Since its
introduction in the UK in July, the additional
cover has also been rolled out in Sweden,
Norway, Denmark, Finland and France.
Outlook for 2017
The macro-economic background for
2017 remains challenging. As the process
of the UK leaving the EU commences this
year we anticipate continued uncertainty
and elsewhere political instability is also likely
to result in a subdued economic environment.
The uncertainty surrounding Brexit is also
likely to lead to currency instability which
may also impact our financial performance.
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In March 2017, we made a decisive move to
locate an insurance company in Luxembourg
to ensure continued smooth operation of our
business across the European Economic Area
(EEA) and Switzerland once the UK leaves
the EU. From 2019, AIG proposes to have
two AIG subsidiary insurance companies in
Europe – one in the UK to write UK business
and one in Luxembourg to write EEA and
Swiss business.
This move ensures AIG is positioned for
whatever form the UK’s exit from the EU
ultimately takes. Luxembourg, a founding
member of the European Union, offers us
a secure location in a stable economy with
an experienced and well-respected regulator
in continental Europe close to many of our
major markets. The UK remains a core
market where AIG will continue to invest
and grow and AIG will continue to support
its European operations from the UK.
The proposed restructure is expected to
complete in the first quarter of 2019,
subject to regulatory approval.
We continue to simplify our business and
reduce costs through efficiencies. We see
targeted growth opportunities across Europe
to partner with our customers to help them
achieve their ambitions. We will continue
to focus on the largest European economies
where we still have the ability to add scale.
We will focus even more on profitable
business – on lines and geographies where
we can add the most value. We also need
to be agile and innovative in our thinking to
embrace new ways of working. We will be
flexible and work in collaboration with our
clients as a business enabler: to give our
customers the security to allow them to
take risks and make investments.

A Baldwin
Chief Executive Officer
13 April 2017
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AIG EUROPE LIMITED
CLAIMS IN NUMBERS

Delivering

£3.2bn
CLAIMS PAID IN 2016

£1.7m

CLAIMS PAID PER WORKING HOUR
IN 2016

593,000

NEW CLAIMS REGISTERED IN 2016

>900
CLAIMS STAFF

our

1
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on

promises
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STRATEGIC REPORT

AIG EUROPE LIMITED

The Directors present their Strategic Report on the Company for the year ended 30 November 2016.

How we create value
Our aim is to put the customer at the centre of everything we do:
from the services we provide, to the investments we make in
technology and data, to the structure of our business.

FOCUS

on our core
competencies

OUR AIM IS TO BE
OUR CLIENTS’
MOST VALUED
INSURER

COLLABORATION

EXPERTISE

with clients and partners

in risk, products
and industries

OUR STRATEGIC PILLARS
The Company’s business strategy,
which is aligned to AIG’s global
strategy, has five key themes:

1. Value based
management
We will make business decisions based
on the long-term benefits and costs rather
than short-term thinking, to ensure that
we pursue a sustainable business
model. This means our focus is on
retention, customer segmentation
and portfolio optimisation.

2. Client Focus
We must empathise with clients in order
to fully understand their challenges.
We will work together with them to solve
their problems, through collaboration
and applying different perspectives
as well as using AIG’s risk expertise
and financial strength.
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Through focus, expertise and collaboration
we can deliver the following services:

RISK TRANSFER
The backbone of our business remains
to provide cover for loss with best-in-class
claims handling expertise.

RISK ADVICE
We use our vast experience of
claims to advise our clients on risk.

CO-CREATION
We work in partnership with our
customers to create bespoke products
that fit their exact risk profile.

INNOVATION
We invest in innovation and embrace new
technology to keep our customers safe.

DATA ANALYTICS

Reducing
fear of the
future and
empowering
clients.

We help our customers take better
risks through the use of data, both
external and in-house.

INDUSTRY EXPERTISE
We are developing industry practice
groups to give us better understanding
of our clients’ risks.

3. Simplification

4. Technology

5. People

We must operate more simply to bring
us closer to our customers and to simplify
customer interaction with AIG. We will
make decisions more quickly and ensure
that our employees are empowered to
make decisions at the right levels of
the Company.

We must continue to improve our use
of technology to better serve customers
and distribution partners, increase
productivity, reduce expenses and better
position us against our competitors.

We must continue to recruit and retain
the right people in the right places with
the right skills. Only by ensuring we
have a diverse range of abilities and
experiences we will be able to empathise
and engage with our clients, meet their
needs and solve their problems.
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Serving the
customer

Commercial

The Company’s operations are
organised into three key segments,
with a diverse product offering sold
via a multitude of sales channels.
The chart below illustrates the mix
of Net Premiums Written in 2016.

The Liability and Financial Lines business
provides insurance solutions to the full spectrum
of enterprises, from large multinational and
mid-sized companies to small businesses,
entrepreneurs and non-profit organisations.

LIABILITY AND FINANCIAL LINES

The product and service offerings encompass
both traditional product types such as general
liability, property and financial lines and highly
specialised ones for political risk, cyber security,
the aviation industry, and crisis management.
The product mix during 2016 was as follows:

LIABILITY AND FINANCIAL LINES
NET PREMIUMS WRITTEN

Liability and financial lines
Property and special risks
Personal insurance

TOTAL INSURANCE

£1,580.4m
(2015: £1,515.4m)

CASUALTY

26%
31%

£720.1m
(2015: £690.6m)

43%

FINANCIAL LINES

£819.2m
(2015: £780.5m)

ENVIRONMENTAL

£41.1m
(2015: £44.3m)
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FINANCIAL LINES
Provides protection for a diverse range
of organisations worldwide.
Management liability products include
Directors’ and Officers’ Liability, Employment
Practices Liability, Pension Trustee Liability
and Crime insurance, offering protection for
claims brought against directors, officers and
senior employees for actual or alleged breach
of duty, neglect, misstatements, errors or
omissions, as well as protection for losses
suffered by organisations due to crime.
Cyber insurance provides protection
against liability arising from computer
hacking, viruses, and data breaches in
addition to covering income loss, cyber
extortion, and forensic/notification/public
relation costs after a cyber incident.

CASUALTY
Casualty provides both traditional and
complex insurance solutions on a primary
and/or excess basis for diverse businesses
with local or global risk exposures.
Dedicated Casualty underwriting, risk
consulting and claims teams operate in
all key regional insurance markets,
as well as at Lloyd’s.
AIG Casualty is a worldwide leader
in Primary and Excess liability markets,
offering public and production, motor fleet
and employer’s liability cover, with marketleading capacity.
Casualty also includes Crisis Management
insurance for Product Contamination/Recall,
providing both asset and liability protection
following a product recall, malicious product
tamper or extortion event.

M&A insurance includes Warranties
& Indemnities Insurance, which offers
buyers and sellers involved in mergers,
acquisitions, divestitures or other business
transactions protection from financial loss
due to inaccuracies in representations and
warranties, as well as Tax Insurance
and Contingent Liability Insurance.
Kidnap & Ransom protection aims to
support our clients against threats that may
impact a business or person anywhere in
the world. These include various forms of
extortion, detention, hijack, and evacuation.
We offer a range of solutions including
preventative advice, financial reimbursement
and access to leading crisis consultants.
Professional Liability protects
professionals in the event of claims arising
from errors and omissions while providing
professional services to others. Professionals
include architects, engineers, accountants,
lawyers, and media, technology and
insurance brokers.
Financial Institutions includes
Professional Liability, Directors’ and Officers’
Liability and Crime cover provided to banks,
insurance companies and other financial
institutions to cover claims alleging failure
to render professional services and
commitment of errors and omissions in
the execution of professional services,
claims brought against directors, officers
and senior employees for actual or alleged
breach of duty, neglect, misstatements,
errors or omissions as well as protection
for losses suffered by financial institutions
due to crime.

ENVIRONMENTAL
Includes third-party liability and first party
on and off-site clean-up costs, biodiversity
damage plus defence and mitigation costs.
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Serving the
customer
(continued)

PROPERTY AND SPECIAL RISKS

The Property and Special Risks business
provides comprehensive cover for a
range of businesses across a multitude
of industries for both commercial
property, energy and engineered risks
together with targeted solutions for
specific insurance risks.
GLOBAL PROPERTY
Includes commercial property, energy and
engineered risks. Commercial property offers
insurance cover for material damage and
business interruption on an all risks and
specific perils basis. The business insures
some of the world’s largest and most complex
organisations. The Energy and Engineered
Risk segment provides comprehensive
property insurance cover for offshore and
onshore oil exploration, power generation,
oil and petrochemical, chemicals and
pharmaceuticals, mining and construction.

AIG EUROPE LIMITED
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The product mix during 2016 was as follows:

SPECIAL RISKS

PROPERTY AND SPECIAL RISKS

Aerospace – insurance solutions for
the global aviation and space industry,
encompassing the spectrum of coverage
required by aircraft operators, manufacturers
and ground service providers.

NET PREMIUMS WRITTEN

TOTAL INSURANCE

Comprises of the following businesses:

£1,118.6m

Marine – cargo transportation products and
handling services worldwide; policies include
cargo, hull and marine liability.

GLOBAL PROPERTY

Political Risk – risk transfer solutions to
enable companies to manage the risk of
disruption/loss after a political event that
may be associated with their international
business operations.

(2015: £1,171.9m)

£616.5m
(2015: £621.0m)

SPECIAL RISKS

£502.1m
(2015: £550.9m)

Package – products are designed for the
SME market and provide an extensive range
of covers, most commonly purchased being
property and casualty.

Surety – provides protection by way of
guarantee to public and private sector clients
against the inability of contractors and service
providers to fulfil their contractual obligations.
Trade Credit – is a leading Excess of Loss
Credit Insurer protecting corporates and trade
finance funders against non-payment of trade
receivables for goods and services supplied
on credit due to buyer default.
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Serving the
customer
(continued)

Consumer
PERSONAL INSURANCE

In Personal Insurance we offer products and
services that help people around the world
live healthier and safer lives, plan for the future,
as well as understand and minimise risk to their
possessions and finances. Our products and
services prepare and protect our customers
– individuals and groups – against financial
impact to their lives, property and personal
belongings. Our products include: Personal
Accident and Supplemental Health, Travel
Insurance, Extended Warranty and Service
Programmes, Personal Auto and Personal
Property. Personal Property also includes our
market leading Private Client Group high-networth business and our Personal Insurance
Services business.
The product mix during 2016 was as follows:
PERSONAL INSURANCE
NET PREMIUMS WRITTEN

TOTAL INSURANCE

£962.3m
(2015: £865.8m)

PERSONAL ACCIDENT

£453.9m
(2015: £434.1m)

PERSONAL LINES

£508.4m
(2015: £431.7m)

AIG EUROPE LIMITED

PERSONAL ACCIDENT

Includes voluntary and sponsor-paid personal
accident and supplemental health products
for individuals, employees, associations and
other organisations. It also includes travel
insurance products and services for leisure
and business travellers.

PERSONAL LINES
Comprises the following pillars:
Personal Property: Offers a very wide
suite of products for individual consumers
– ranging from ‘simple contents’ policies for
renters to high-net-worth solutions for the
wealthiest of clients. Cover is provided for
buildings, contents, personal possessions,
art and jewellery collections, as well as
marine insurance for personally owned
boats of any size.
Personal Auto: In all the countries
personal auto operates, auto is the subject of
compulsory insurance in respect of third party
liability. In addition to third party liability we
offer cover for damages to the vehicles and
additional services such as roadside
assistance. The portfolio consists of a mixture
of personal insurance offerings for private
passenger autos, small commercial vehicles,
motorcycles and a limited amount of fleet
business. Our risk appetite varies between
specific niche programmes and broad-market
activity via broker, agency, sponsor and direct
distribution channels.
Service Programmes: Includes a diverse
range of personal ‘value added’ insurances.
Auto and Personal Property pillars include
extended warranty (for both electronics and
furniture), mobile phone insurance, spectacle
and hearing aid insurance, crash damage
waiver excess, tyre damage cover, lost keys,
wallet guard, handbag cover, identity theft
and others.
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Financial Performance
Overview
Despite strong competition and portfolio optimisation
influencing the overall results, premium growth was achieved
in several key business lines indicating an improvement in
the underlying business and the strong resilience in our
book, aided by favourable currency movements. Despite
continued uncertainty across the European landscape, the
broad range of products and growing sales networks offer
protection and promise of continued success.
During 2016, we experienced adverse prior year development
and also higher levels of severe claims within both Property
and Special Risks and Liability and Financial Lines, through
terrorist attacks, storm impacts and D&O claims. Additionally,
we strengthened Liability reserves as a result of the Lord
Chancellor’s announcement to lower the Ogden discount
rate from 2.5% to minus 0.75%. These impacted the loss ratio
and together with lower levels of investment performance this
resulted in a loss before tax of £171.1 million (2015: profit of
£408.5 million). The full results of the Company are on page
38. Total comprehensive income for the year of £142.7 million
(2015: £54.8 million) has been transferred to equity. At 30
November 2016, total equity of the Company, on page 39,
totalled £3.4 billion (2015: £3.2 billion).

Company Profitability
Net Premiums Written improved to £3,661.3 million
(2015: £3,553.1 million) supported by favourable
currency movements and underlying business growth.
A strong performance within Personal Insurance and
Liability and Financial Lines was partly offset by
competition and rate pressure within Property and
Special Risks. Expenses increased to £1,445.3 million
(2015: £1,321.4 million) through higher acquisition
costs in central Europe and a marginal increase in the
underlying cost base. Adverse claims experience, largely
in the financial sector, and severe property losses saw higher
net claims of £2,920.0 million (2015: £2,227.0 million)
leading to a higher combined ratio and adverse
underwriting result, which was a loss of £439.5 million
(2015: profit of £61.9 million).
Financial Strength
Favourable currency movements against European branch
investments and a more efficient investment performance
during the year has strengthened the capital position of
the Company with total equity improving to £3,372.0 million
(2015: £3,211.1 million).

Key Performance Indicators
The Board has identified the following as being the Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) for the business.
These KPIs are reviewed through the quarterly Board meetings.

Net Premiums Written
Profit Before Tax
Net Loss Ratio
Combined Ratio (COR)
Underwriting Result

2016

2015

£3,661.3m

£3,553.1m

(£171.1m)

£408.5m

78.5%

64.9%

111.8%

98.2%

(£439.5m)

£61.9m

Risks to our Business
The Company is exposed to a range of financial and other
risks in carrying out its core business of the provision of
insurance and related activities. The policies and framework
that the Company has put in place to identify, monitor and
manage these risks are set out in the Risk Management
Report on page 20.
In addition, quantitative and qualitative information
regarding the components of insurance, financial,
credit, liquidity and operational risk are set out in Note 6
to the financial statements on page 54. In particular, the
Company’s exposures to currency risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk are separately disclosed in that note.
The Company’s exposure to cash flow risk is addressed
under the headings of ‘Credit Risk’ and ‘Liquidity Risk’.

An analysis of the critical accounting estimates and
judgements made by the directors in determining the results
and Statement of Financial Position of the Company is
presented in Note 4 to the financial statements on page 51.
On behalf of the Board.

Anthony Baldwin
Chief Executive Officer
13 April 2017
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Driving

forward
EUROPCAR
AIG partnered with Europcar Ireland to assist them
in using smart technology, specifically telematics,
to improve driver behaviour and incentivise
positive behaviours. Together, we ran a smooth
driving contest from January to May 2016.
During this period more than 36,000 participants
took part and 17 Apple Watches were awarded
to the smoothest drivers for each week of the contest.
The renters covered a distance of 13 million miles
equivalent to 522 trips around the earth.
Europcar saw their cost of claims reduce by 23%.
Helping our clients to reduce one of their most
significant costs through the use of innovative
technology is core to what we want to deliver
to our customers at AIG.

2

through

RISK MANAGEMENT REPORT

19

ANNUAL REPORT 2016

telematics
It is clear from projects like this that
insurers have a very big role in helping
companies they insure to reduce their
insurance risk. AIG is at the forefront
of this type of investment.

Colm Brady
Europcar
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How we manage Risk

A strong, effective and embedded risk management
framework is crucial. At AIG we have a strong risk
culture which ensures that we continue to manage our
business to deliver sustainable long-term profitability.

RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK
The Company believes that a strong, effective
and embedded risk management framework
is crucial to maintaining successful business
operations and delivering sustainable,
long-term profitability. We achieve this through
a strong risk culture articulated by effective
Enterprise Risk Management (“ERM”) senior
leadership and embodied by management
at all levels through our governance structure
and risk management processes.
The Company’s approach to risk-taking is
quantified through its risk appetite statement
which aligns the Company’s strategic business
goals against the risks it faces, ensuring that
these risks are maintained at levels consistent
with our financial resources. This, in tandem
with continuous management and monitoring
of the company’s capital position, ensures
that the Company continues to manage
its business in an environment of controlled,
proportionate risk-taking to generate
sustainable earnings and deliver long-term
value for the Company’s shareholders.
The Company’s adherence to its quantified
risk parameters is supported by ongoing risk
identification exercises conducted across AIG,
the outputs of which are documented within
AEL’s standing risk register framework, which
captures the material risks that the Company
faces. The Company’s identified risks are
managed through the application of a set
of regional Level 2 ‘Statements of Operating
Standards’, which align to AIG’s global
corporate policies and define risk
management processes and controls
adopted across our business.

The impact of these risk management and
risk mitigation activities is given appropriate
context through the utilisation of risk
management information, which includes the
results of our stress testing programmes as
well as periodical risk reporting assessments
provided to the Company’s executive risk
committees, thereby allowing senior
management to take the appropriate
decisions required to manage the Company
as a risk-aware business.
The Company’s Board, through its subcommittee, the Board Risk Committee, has
ultimate responsibility for development and
oversight of the risk management framework.
The Board delegates the management of risks
within the Company’s risk appetite and the
risk governance framework to the Risk and
Capital Committee (“RCC”). The RCC
escalates matters of importance to the
Board as needed. A diagram covering
the key aspects of AIG Europe Limited’s Risk
Management Framework and how they feed
into the ‘Own Risk & Solvency Assessment’
(“ORSA”), is provided on the following page:
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RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

Risk Culture

The Risk Management Framework supports
the identification, measurement, management,
monitoring and reporting of our major risk
groupings, which include but are not
limited to:

O

IT
SK

TR

A

N

PP

CO

ET

SK

E

RISK REGISTER

RI

RI

LS

Insurance Risk
Market Risk
Liquidity Risk
Operational Risk
Credit Risk
Business & Strategy Risk

Risk Governance

ORSA

STRESS TESTING

RISK REPORTING

Further detail can be found in Note 6,
Management of Insurance and Financial Risk.

O
N

LL
DE
O

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

I
AT

LM

C
FI

TA

TI

PI

EN
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The Company’s adherence
to its quantified risk parameters
is supported by ongoing
risk identification exercises
conducted across AIG.
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How we manage Risk
(continued)

RISK GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE
Underpinning the Company’s risk culture is a
Risk Governance structure that encompasses
its principal business operations and risk
areas and defines a framework of risk
committees, risk reporting and risk controls
embedded throughout the business.
The current risk governance structure provides
an oversight and decision-making framework
within which material risks are continually
identified, assessed, monitored and managed
at a regional level, utilising outputs from the
Economic Capital Model (“ECM”), where
appropriate. The organisation chart below
Risk Governance Structure –
Risk Committees

The governance structure has three distinct
levels of committees: Board committees,
Executive Risk committees and Working
Group committees. It is designed to support
AIG Europe Limited’s efforts in embedding
a strong risk culture through the integration
of risk management with regulatory
requirements and business activities such
as strategy and planning. Each of these
committees has a distinct role to play within
the Company’s risk governance framework.

Reserves
Committee

AEL Data
Governance
Council

Board Risk
Committee

Audit
Committee

Zone Operating
Committees

Insurance
& Credit
Risk Committee

Market & Credit
Risk Committee

Pricing Risk
Working Group

Internal Model
Decision Authority

Reinsurance Risk
Working Group

Solvency II Data
Governance
Council

Risk Aggregation
Working Group
2nd line
of defence

3rd line
of defence

* Matrix reporting line to AEL Data Governance Council

Executive Risk
Committees

Risk & Capital
Committee

Operational
Risk Committee

1st line
of defence

Remuneration
Committee

Large & Unusual
Transactions

Board
Committees

AEL
Board of Directors

Working Group
Committees

Executive
Committee*

provides a high-level overview of AIG Europe
Limited’s risk governance structure.
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Each of these
committees has
a distinct role
to play within
the Company’s
risk governance
framework.

The Executive Committee
The Executive Committee (“ExCo”) is
responsible to the Board for the day-to-day
management of the Company. It develops
strategy (for example, through annual
business and capital plans), proposes the
strategy to the Board, and once approved,
implements it. As an executive body, ExCo
forms part of the first line of defence.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE
EXECUTIVE RISK COMMITTEE
The Executive Risk Committees currently
comprise the AEL Risk and Capital Committee
(“RCC”), which reports to the Board, via
the Board Risk Committee, and to the ExCo.
The RCC is authorised by the Board to
implement, manage and control the risk
management framework of the Company.

Internal Model Oversight
and Validation: Responsibility for
providing oversight over the ECM, with
a view to ensuring that the model’s design,
implementation and resultant outputs are
and continue to be appropriate for direct
business decision making and is in alignment
with business knowledge and recent
experience. In addition, the Executive Risk
Committee also shares a responsibility for
providing oversight over the Standard
Formula, with a view to ensuring that the
standard formula expert judgements and
resultant outputs are in line with expectations
based on business performance as well as
making recommendations on the maintenance
of and changes to the Standard Formula.
Monitoring of the Risk Profile:
Responsibility for monitoring and taking
business decisions on the current and future
risk profile that relates to their respective risk
area, in order to maintain compliance with
the Company’s risk appetite.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF WORKING
GROUP COMMITTEES
There are a number of working group
committees that focus on particular aspects
of Insurance Risk and report up to the Insurance
Risk Committee on any recommendations and
findings undertaken as a result of the execution
of their responsibilities. The responsibilities of
each committee are as follows:

In order to fulfil this wide-ranging responsibility,
the RCC has delegated responsibility to three
risk-specific committees (Insurance, Market
——Pricing Sub Group: To ensure
and Operational Risk) to monitor and manage
underwriting adherence to technical
the Company’s risk profile in each of these
pricing, to drive improvements in rating
areas at a more granular level. Each
strength and pricing integrity and to
committee is chaired by a senior executive.
monitor and analyse the pricing risk
Other members include relevant European
profile of the Company.
business heads, risk experts from ERM
——Reinsurance Sub Group: To set the
and actuarial expertise from the ECM team.
reinsurance strategy and to determine
The Executive Risk Committees share three
reinsurance treaty structures.
core responsibilities:
——Risk Aggregation Sub Group:
General Risk Oversight: Responsibility
The aggregation and analysis of risk
for the identification of new and emerging
accumulation of key perils.
risks, reviewing Risk management information
In addition, the Company has a Large and
(MI) to determine the likelihood of risks
Unusual Transaction (“LUT”) referral group
crystallising, continually reviewing and
in place, which convenes to consider
updating risks and associated mitigating
transactions that meet or exceed set trigger
controls within the AIG Europe Limited Risk
levels in relation to the risk profile before
Register and discussing loss events, with a
the Company becomes committed. The LUT
view to determining remediation plans in
is an ad hoc meeting of the Risk and
order to minimise the severity and frequency
Capital Committee.
of such events.
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How we manage Risk
(continued)

LOCAL RISK FORUMS
Local offices play a key part in the risk
framework, being a source of emerging
issues, which have the potential to impact
upon the risk landscape of the Company.
Each of these local country branch offices
are aligned to a networked zone led by
a Zone Operating Committee, which has
a responsibility to manage the business
of the Zone within the limits of the mandate
delegated to it by the ExCo.
In order to achieve this objective, each Zone
Operating Committee is supported by a
local country Senior Management Team
(“SMT”), which acts as a ‘Country Risk Forum’,
with responsibility for the monitoring and
management of controls of all risk types arising
at country level, most notably operational risk
and insurance risk. Country SMTs are also
responsible for identifying emerging risks
that could affect the business in that country,
and analysis of large losses/risk events.
ERM’s Zone Risk officers are responsible for
co-ordinating the escalation of risk reporting,
including the production of Zone Risk Hydras
from the local country SMT to the Zone
Operating Committee who will then consider
application of executive action to address risks
or to escalate issues to the ExCo as appropriate.
To ensure that risk lessons are learned regionally
from the outputs of country SMTs, key risk items,
such as risk events and new emerging risks, are
reported by the Zone Risk Officer to the relevant
Executive Risk Committee.

RISK CULTURE
The Company has an ongoing commitment
towards maintaining an effective risk culture,
as it is critical to our success in maintaining
and developing an effective risk management
system. The five key elements which underpin
the risk culture are:
——Visible Leadership: Senior management
takes an active role in promoting the risk
management framework. The Company
defines a framework of risk committees, risk
reporting and controls embedded throughout
the business. The principal risk committees
of the Board and management are designed
to support the Company’s efforts in

embedding a strong risk culture through the
integration of risk management with
business activities.
——Communication: Internal communication
to all levels of management and staff to
describe and inform (to an appropriate
level of detail) the risk framework
(strategy, governance), risk policies/
procedures and the Company risk
profile. The Company’s risk governance
framework strives to provide information
on the impact of risk management
operations and the current risk profile.
Without effective communication of
the risk profile, key stakeholders within
the business will not be able to make
appropriate decisions required to manage
the Company as a risk-aware business.
——Involvement: Appropriate contribution
at all levels of management and staff
to the processes of identifying, assessing,
managing, monitoring and reporting
risks. All employees have a responsibility
to manage risk. The Company utilises
the ‘Three Lines of Defence’ model
for Risk Management:
1. First Line of Defence: Comprised
of those profit centres and corporate
functions that originate risks and have
primary responsibility for managing
risks, including identifying, assessing,
controlling, monitoring, and reporting
risk quantities.
2.	Second Line of Defence: Composed
of ERM and other assurance functions,
such as AIG Compliance, which
perform independent risk assessments;
ERM, as an independent function,
undertakes a review and challenge
covering the First Line of Defence.
3.	Third Line of Defence: The
Company’s Internal Audit Department
(“IAD”) comprises the independent
assurance provided to the Audit
Committee of the Board. IAD
undertakes a programme of risk-based
audits covering aspects of the First Line
of Defence.

The Company
has an ongoing
commitment
towards
maintaining an
effective risk
culture, as it is
critical to our
success in
maintaining and
developing an
effective risk
management
system.
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——Compensation: Alignment of incentives
to risk management objectives and use
of risk adjusted performance measures
to evaluate performance.

AIG Europe Risk Register Structure
Eight Operational risk
categories act as aggregations
of Operational Risk between
the Tier 1 ‘Top Ten’ Risks
and the underlying Tier 2
‘ExCo’ Risks

The Company believes that an effective risk
culture must achieve an effective blend of
both constraints and incentives.

RISK APPETITE
The Company’s risk appetite statement defines
the level of risk that it is prepared to accept in
pursuit of its business objectives. In particular,
it describes the relationship between risk
and reward.
In approving the risk appetite statement,
the Board defines parameters within which
the Company should operate. It provides
a framework against which the business
must report to the Board and lower level
risk committees on the current risk profile
of the company. This in turn provides
assurance that the current risk profile sits
within the appetite and where this is not
the case to identify the breach, explain
the causes and to propose remediation.
The Risk Appetite Framework integrates
stakeholder interests, strategic business
goals and available financial resources.
The Company intends to balance these
interests, goals and resources by taking
measured risks that generate repeatable,
sustainable earnings and produce
long-term value.
The Risk Appetite Framework includes a
Statement of Risk Appetite and a set of
supporting tools employed to manage its risk
profile and financial resources. Specifically:
——A Statement of Risk Appetite that
articulates the Company’s philosophy
and principles of risk taking in relation
to its strategic and business objectives;
——A set of Risk Tolerances on capital and
liquidity measures as quantitative measures
of its aggregate risk taking;
——A Risk Limits Framework to quantitatively
monitor, measure and control risks that
are core to our operations; and
——Control measures including policies and
procedures that set standards on practices
for the taking and management of risks,
including risks that are inherent to its
operations but are not compensated for.
The Company has adopted AIG Parent’s
policies and procedures.

10
Key Risks

Risk Register

——Professional Development – provision
of information and appropriate levels of
training to elevate individual competencies,
and thereby organisational capabilities,
in risk management across AIG.

– Business Topics
– ExCo Owners
– RCC Review
–M
 ix of Insurance, Credit,
Market, Operational and
Business & Strategy

– Policy and Strategy Risks
– Causes to Top 10
–M
 onitored by Executive
Committees
–M
 ix of Insurance, Credit,
Market & Liquidity

ExCo Risks

– Apply Policy Controls
– Branch Level RCSA

Branch Risks

AIG EUROPE RISK REGISTER

NOTES

The Company currently has in place a
three-tier structure for the capture, discussion
and assessment of risks. The current three-tier
structure is described below:

Tier 1: The ‘Top Ten’ Key Risks
The ‘Top Ten’ risks are designed to
align to the five main risk categories of
Insurance, Market, Operational, Credit
and Business/Strategy Risk. This allows
AEL to produce risk dashboards for the
RCC, ExCo and BRC covering all of the
‘Top Ten’ risks, as well as a more detailed
report for each relevant Risk Committee.

——Tier 1: Comprised of the entity level or
‘Top Ten’ key risks, spanning the whole
of the Company’s operations. These risks
are owned at RCC level.
——Tier 2: Comprised of Granular ExCo risks
owned and managed through the Executive
Risk Committees that report up to the RCC
(being the Insurance, Market and Credit
Risk and Operational Risk Committees).
——Tier 3: Comprised of country level risks;
these are managed at local country branch
level through country Senior Management
Teams (“SMT”).
The risks identified at Tier 2 and Tier 3 levels
are designed to align to the ‘Top Ten’ key risks
identified for Tier 1. This enables the Company
to maintain a dynamic, interactive, risk register
structure, where issues or developments within
specific risks at a certain level are discussed
and taken into account for relevant risks within
the other tiers, regardless of whether they are
at a Europe-wide, or local level. This also
allows the Company to better reflect the
dynamic, ever-changing, risk landscape
that it currently operates within. A diagram
of the three levels of risk is provided above
for illustration purposes.

Tier 2: The ‘ExCo’ Risks
The ‘Top Ten’ key risks within Tier 1 are
then broken down into more granular
ExCo risks. These ExCo risks are
managed by the respective Insurance,
Market and Operational risk committees,
with cross-cutting Business/Strategy Risks
managed at the RCC. Each of these risks
have a number of potential causes and
controls which require review and
management, interacting with global
and regional support functions as well
as branch operations. These ExCo risks
are supported by specific tailored Key
Risk Indicators for use in committee
decision making.
Tier 3: Branch Level Risks
Material Branch level risks are escalated
to the Head of Insurance or Operational
Risk, who will then assess, monitor and
help manage them through one of the
Tier 2 (ExCo) level risks. Through this
method, key risk issues at a zone level
are managed into the risk register.

26

GOVERNANCE

Giving

confidence
CORPORATEGUARD
Demonstrating innovation and agility, in July 2016,
AIG UK announced an addition to its Directors’
& Officers’ policy CorporateGuard.
Developed in the days following the UK referendum
decision to leave the European Union, the addition
covers a legal challenge in the event of permanent
residency applications being rejected before the
UK finally leaves the EU.
At that time, only one month after the UK referendum,
the outcome of discussions between the UK and EU
were unclear. Some expats in the UK were seeking
permanent residency to secure their right to live in
the UK. The new addition also covers legal costs to
fight a repatriation order as a result of the termination
the UK’s membership of the EU for executives and
their direct family members living in the UK and EU.
This cover was added at no additional cost to
all primary AIG policies written out of the UK.
Since its introduction in the UK in July, the additional
cover has also been rolled out in Sweden, Norway,
Denmark, Finland and France.

AIG EUROPE LIMITED

3
through

innovation

GOVERNANCE
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Meet the Board of Directors
and Advisers

Mr A. Hope
Chairman and Independent
Non-Executive Director
Anthony Hope joined the AIG Europe
Limited Board on 1 December 2007
and has also served as Chairman of the
Audit Committee. He became Chairman
of the Company on 1 October 2014.
Mr Hope served 35 years in different
positions at HSBC in its insurance division,
including his most recent position as
Chairman of HSBC Insurance Holdings,
which he held from 1987 until 2007.
He also served on the Board of Ping An
Insurance Group of China until 2008.
Prior to HSBC, Mr Hope served at
Anthony Gibbs Sage Limited and Glanvill
Enthoven & Co Ltd. Mr Hope has over
40 years’ experience working in the
insurance industry and drives a culture
of openness in the boardroom.

Mr A. Baldwin
Chief Executive Officer

Mr J. Lenton
Chief Financial Officer

Anthony Baldwin has been at AIG for
over 20 years, and joined the Board
on 30 October 2015 as the new
Chief Executive Officer.

James Lenton joined the Board on
12 November 2014. He is the Chief
Financial Officer for Europe and leads
the finance relationship with regulators
and rating agencies and oversees the
leadership of business partnering and
planning, capital management, controlling,
reinsurance, taxation, corporate actuarial
and treasury together with the enterprise
wide transformation of finance capabilities.

Mr Baldwin brings extensive experience
from beginning his AIG career as an
underwriter for Financial Institutions to
leading the international financial lines
business. In 2008 he was appointed
as the Senior Vice President of Global
Financial Lines with responsibility for
the international portfolio of businesses.
More recently, he worked with the EMEA
country management teams and the
distribution teams as the Managing
Director of Distribution, with direct
responsibility for sales, client engagement
and marketing across the EMEA region.
Prior to joining AIG, Mr Baldwin worked
for Deloitte & Touche in the UK.

Prior to joining AIG in 2013, Mr Lenton
was with Ernst & Young LLP where he
was coordinating partner for the global
insurance assurance practice. Whilst there
he advised and audited a number of the
largest publicly listed and private equity
backed insurers. Prior to this, Mr Lenton
started his career at Price Waterhouse
(latterly PwC) in 1996 where he worked
in the UK and the USA.
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Mr M. Bowers
Senior Independent
Non-Executive Director
Martin Bowers joined the Board on
19 September 2005. He has held
a number of executive positions in
leading insurers. He was previously
a senior insurance manager at Gulf Oil,
a Director of CT Bowring (Insurance Ltd),
a managing director at Marsh, and was
responsible for setting up an energy
business development operation for
Europe, and the Middle and Far East
regions, an operation that subsequently
opened offices in Dubai and Singapore.
While at Johnson & Higgins, Mr Bowers
was responsible for creating a major new
energy group and subsequently became
Chairman of the J&H Global Energy
practice. Additionally, he has previously
offered consultancy services to various
US loss adjusters, major insurance buyers
and London brokers.

Ms C. Kampmann
Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr J.M. Nessi
Independent Non-Executive Director

Camilla Kampmann joined the Board
on 23 July 2013 bringing extensive
marketing and IT infrastructure knowledge
from her global business experience.

Jean-Marie Nessi joined the Board
on 25 June 2012.

Ms Kampmann has acquired over
20 years’ experience gained in roles
within the international technology sector.
She was the architect of change at Oracle,
transforming the marketing function from
in-country to an EMEA structure, creating
a shared resource model. More recently,
she developed a pan-EMEA marketing
function at Oracle, with a particular focus
on professionalising the Eastern European
and CIS region in line with US standards.
Ms Kampmann has a strong customer
focus and has achieved considerable
customer communication improvements
in other roles.
Ms Kampmann is a Board member
to the Danish Government for Forsk.

He previously worked at AXA where
he developed the reinsurance business
streamlining the high volatility risk
businesses of AXA into one entity
alongside the cultural, administrative
and capital exposure elements
associated with such a project, turning
the new business into a triple A rated
division of AXA Re.
Following previous roles at PartnerRe
and AON, Mr Nessi currently also
sits on the Board and Audit and Risk
Committee of Validus Re. He has
considerable Board and non-executive
director experience and provides
significant insight into actuarial
and compliance issues.
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Meet the Board of Directors
and Advisers
(continued)

Mr P. Tromp
Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr N. Minnich
Executive Director

Mr R. Schimek
Non-Executive Director

Philippe Tromp joined the Board on
25 June 2012 and offers over 30 years’
experience across the financial services
industry. Mr Tromp has a broad range of
experience gained in debt capital markets,
asset-backed securitisation, infrastructure
finance, market infrastructure, financial
technology, and general insurance.

Neil Minnich joined AIG in 2007 and was
appointed to the Board on 21 April 2016
serving as Senior Vice President and
Head of Personal Insurance. In this role,
Mr Minnich is responsible for the strategy
and growth of the accident and health,
auto, home high-net-worth clients, affinity
and travel business for Europe, Middle
East and Africa.

Robert Schimek joined AIG in 2005
and was appointed the Board on
6 October 2016. Mr Schimek is currently
the Executive Vice President and CEO
of Commercial, overseeing AIG’s
commercial insurance businesses
worldwide. He is responsible for the
Company’s global property, casualty
and financial lines products and services,
including Commercial distribution,
underwriting, claims and operations.

Recently, he led a start-up behind the
development of a multi-dealer institutional
electronic trading platform for credit
products. Previously, he ran the international
business of Financial Security Assurance
and has led international operations
through downsizing following the financial
crisis. Mr Tromp also serves the Board
of Euroclear UK and is a member of
the Senior Advisory Board of Solum
Financial Limited, with both roles
utilising his understanding of commercial,
risk management, regulatory and
governance issues.

Prior to this role, he began his AIG career
in New York, as Vice President of Field
Operations specialising in personal lines.
With considerable experience in various
environments, connecting strategic goals
to successful performance, Mr Minnich
started his career at Allstate Insurance.
At this company, he gained exposure to
all 50 US states through six major roles
over a successful 22 year period.

Previously, Mr Schimek was Chief
Executive Officer of the Americas for
AIG, responsible for the division’s
insurance business in the United States,
Canada, Latin America, and the
Caribbean. Prior to that, he served as
President and Chief Executive Officer
of EMEA, and Chief Financial Officer
of AIG’s global property casualty business.
Before joining AIG, Mr Schimek was
a partner at Deloitte & Touche completing
a 18-year period.
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Committee membership

The directors listed below serve on a broad range of Committees and Councils forming
the AEL governance structure as illustrated and discussed on page 22.
Mr A. Hope
Mr A. Baldwin
Mr J. Lenton
Mr M. Bowers
Ms C. Kampmann
Mr J-M. Nessi
Mr P. Tromp
Mr N. Minnich
Mr R. Schimek

Chairman and Independent Non-Executive Director
Chief Executive Officer
Chief Financial Officer
Senior Independent Non-Executive Director
Independent Non-Executive Director
Independent Non-Executive Director
Independent Non-Executive Director
Executive Director
Non-Executive Director

●

Reserves Committee

●

Remuneration Committee

C

Data Governance Council

●

●

●

●

●

●

●

●

●

●

C

C

●

●

●

●

C

ExCo

Robert Schimek

Board Risk Committee

Neil Minnich

●

Philippe Tromp

Audit Committee

Jean-Marie Nessi

●

Camilla Kampmann

C

Martin Bowers

Anthony Baldwin

AEL Board

●

●

●

●

●

●

Company Secretary
Mr C. Newby

James Lenton

Anthony Hope

Key
• = Membership of Committee
C = Chairmanship

●

Risk and Capital Committee

●

Market and Credit Risk Committee

C

●

C

●

●

●

●

Company Registration Number
The company number for
AIG Europe Limited is 01486260
Registered Office
The AIG Building
58 Fenchurch Street
London EC3M 4AB
Investment Advisers
AIG Asset Management (Europe) Limited
The AIG Building
58 Fenchurch Street
London EC3M 4AB
Independent Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
7 More London Riverside
London SE1 2RT
Principal Bankers
Citibank NA
Citigroup Centre
Canada Square
Canary Wharf
London E14 5LB
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Directors’ Report

The directors present their report and the audited financial
statements for the year ended 30 November 2016.

DIRECTORS
The names of the current directors are listed
on page 31. During the year, the following
resignations and appointments took place:
M. Garceau Resigned 31 March 2016
S. Maag

Resigned 31 March 2016

N. Minnich Appointed 21 April 2016
R. Schimek

Appointed 6 October 2016

J. Shephard Resigned 31 December 2015
F. Spagnoli Resigned 31 March 2016
Dividends
There were no dividends declared or
paid in the year (2015: £314.0 million).
Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities
The directors are responsible for preparing
the Strategic Report, Directors’ Report and
the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulations.
Company law requires the directors to prepare
financial statements for each financial year.
Under that law the directors have prepared
the financial statements in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union.
Under company law the directors must not
approve the financial statements unless they
are satisfied that they give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the company
and of the profit or loss of the company for
that period. In preparing these financial
statements, the directors are required to:
——select suitable accounting policies and
then apply them consistently;
——make judgements and accounting
estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

——state whether applicable IFRSs as adopted
by the European Union have been followed,
subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained in the financial
statements; and
——prepare the financial statements on
the going concern basis unless it is
inappropriate to presume that the
company will continue in business.
The directors are responsible for keeping
adequate accounting records that are
sufficient to show and explain the Company’s
transactions and disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial position
of the Company and enable them to ensure
that the financial statements comply with
the Companies Act 2006. They are also
responsible for safeguarding the assets of
the Company and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other irregularities.
The directors are responsible for the
maintenance and integrity of the Company’s
website. Legislation in the United Kingdom
governing the preparation and dissemination
of financial statements may differ from
legislation in other jurisdictions.
Statement of disclosure of
information to auditors
In accordance with Section 418 of the
Companies Act 2006, each of the persons
who is a director in office at the date this
report is approved, confirms that:
(a)	so far as each of them is aware, there is
no relevant audit information of which the
Company’s auditors are unaware; and
(b)	each of them have taken all the steps that
they ought to have taken as a director in
order to make themselves aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish
that the Company’s auditors are aware of
that information.
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by preparing our leaders to lead a diverse
workforce, enhancing the diversity and
cultural competence of our employees
and building an inclusive, respectful and
productive workplace.
Respecting Others
As part of our inclusive culture we commit
to treat others with respect which means that
we do not discriminate on the basis of race,
colour, religion, sex, national origin, age,
disability, military service, marital status
or sexual orientation. We make reasonable
adjustments to our standard working practices
to overcome barriers caused by an
employee’s disability, and provide training
and career development opportunities for all.

The directors
are responsible
for preparing
the Strategic
Report, Directors’
Report and
the financial
statements in
accordance with
applicable law
and regulations.

Financial Investments
The Company’s financial risk management
objectives and policies are set out in Note 6
to the financial statements on page 54.
European Branches
The Company operates a branch
structure with operations in 27 (2015: 27)
territories across Europe. A zonal structure
is in place for internal management with
countries organised across three zones
by geographic location.
Future Developments
The Company believes that the depth and
breadth of our business will allow us to find
targeted growth opportunities in selected
business lines or particular geographies,
helping us to earn high value business, devote
capital to the right opportunities and advance
trust in AIG with all of our stakeholders.
Events After the Reporting Year
For known events occurring after
30 November 2016, details can
be found in Note 40.
Employees
AIG Europe Limited is committed to attracting,
developing and retaining a diverse and
inclusive workforce in order to enhance
our competitive position in the global
marketplace. We will accomplish this

Corporate Social Responsibility
Our employees are passionate about giving
back to the communities in which we operate,
and we’re proud to support their efforts.
During 2016, we continued our Volunteer
Time Off Programme and coordinated global
initiatives throughout the year, such as the
‘AIG Global Volunteer Month’ in April.
This gave the opportunity for thousands
of employees around the world to
demonstrate their willingness to help others.
Many of the volunteer projects focused on
children – with several projects partnering
with community organisations to give children
who are facing difficult circumstances unique
and fun experiences.
Independent Auditors
The Company has, by elective resolution,
dispensed with the appointment of auditors
annually and subject to the terms of their
appointment, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
are deemed to continue in office until the
said resolution is revoked.
On behalf of the Board.

James Lenton
Chief Financial Officer
AIG Europe Limited
Company Registration No: 01486260
13 April 2017
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Independent Auditors’ Report
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF AIG EUROPE LIMITED
REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Opinion on Other Matter Prescribed by the
Companies Act 2006
Our opinion
In our opinion, AIG Europe Limited’s financial statements In our opinion, the information given in the Strategic
Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial year
(the ‘financial statements’):
for which the financial statements are prepared is
——give a true and fair view of the state of the
consistent with the financial statements.
company’s affairs as at 30 November 2016
Other Matters on which we are Required
and of its profit and loss and cash flows for
to Report by Exception
the year then ended;
Adequacy of accounting records and information
and explanations received
——have been properly prepared in accordance
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required
with International Financial Reporting Standards
to report to you if, in our opinion:
(“IFRSs”) as adopted by the European Union; and
——have been prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

——we have not received all the information and
explanations we require for our audit; or

What we have audited
The financial statements, included within the
Annual Report & Financial Statements (the ‘Annual
Report’), comprise:

——adequate accounting records have not been kept,
or returns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us; or

——the Statement of Financial Position as at
30 November 2016;
——the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income for the year then ended;
——the Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended;
——the Statement of Changes in Equity for the year
then ended;
——the notes to the financial statements, which include a
summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.
The financial reporting framework that has been applied
in the preparation of the financial statements is IFRSs as
adopted by the European Union, and applicable law.
In applying the financial reporting framework, the
directors have made a number of subjective judgements,
for example in respect of significant accounting
estimates. In making such estimates, they have made
assumptions and considered future events.

——the financial statements are not in agreement
with the accounting records and returns.
We have no exceptions to report arising from
this responsibility.
Directors’ remuneration
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required
to report to you if, in our opinion, certain disclosures
of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not
made. We have no exceptions to report arising from
this responsibility.
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Responsibilities for the Financial
Statements and the Audit
Our responsibilities and those of the directors
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities
Statement set out on page 32, the directors are
responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements and for being satisfied that they give
a true and fair view.

We test and examine information, using sampling
and other auditing techniques, to the extent we consider
necessary to provide a reasonable basis for us to draw
conclusions. We obtain audit evidence through testing
the effectiveness of controls, substantive procedures or
a combination of both.

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial
information in the Annual Report to identify material
Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on inconsistencies with the audited financial statements
the financial statements in accordance with applicable
and to identify any information that is apparently
law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and
materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent
Ireland) (“ISAs (UK & Ireland)”). Those standards require with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course
us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical of performing the audit. If we become aware of
Standards for Auditors.
any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies
we consider the implications for our report.
This report, including the opinions, has been prepared
for and only for the company’s members as a body in
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Matthew Nichols
Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in
Senior Statutory Auditor
giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
report is shown or into whose hands it may come save
London
where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.
13 April 2017
What an audit of financial statements involves
We conducted our audit in accordance with ISAs
(UK & Ireland). An audit involves obtaining evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance
that the financial statements are free from material
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error.
This includes an assessment of:
——whether the accounting policies are appropriate
to the Company’s circumstances and have been
consistently applied and adequately disclosed;
——the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by the directors; and
——the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We primarily focus our work in these areas by
assessing the directors’ judgements against available
evidence, forming our own judgements, and evaluating
the disclosures in the financial statements.
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Supporting

SUPPORTING SERVICE
PERSONNEL AND VETERANS
On 1 October 2015, AIG began a three year
partnership with the Endeavour Fund and became the
first Corporate Partner and exclusive insurance partner.
The Endeavour Fund supports wounded, injured and sick
service personnel and veterans by offering seed funding
for sporting and adventurous challenges as part of their
recovery and transition. As part of our commitment we
provide financial assistance and support to execute new
endeavours. Through our partnership we provide our
employees, clients and partners with unique opportunities
to share experiences with veterans.
In 2016 our people supported 455 veterans in 14
Endeavours. One such Endeavour was Op SURF UK,
which introduced the sport of surfing to twenty wounded,
injured or sick service personnel and veterans as part of
their recovery and rehab. AIG volunteers were an
integral part of the shore safety team and week long
programme to learn surfing basics.

communities

4
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through

partnerships

AIG Employee supporting Op SURF
UK in Watergate Bay, Cornwall.
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Statement of Profit or Loss
and Other Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 November 2016

Notes

2016
£’m

2015
£’m

Income
Insurance premium revenue

10

4,946.5

4,684.4

Insurance premium ceded to reinsurers

10

(1,225.7)

(1,251.5)

Net earned insurance premium revenue

10

3,720.8

3,432.9

Net investment income

11

216.8

239.9

Net realised gains on financial assets

12

84.8

48.9

Other income

14

171.8

235.2

4,194.2

3,956.9

Total income
Expenses
Insurance claims
Insurance claims recoverable from reinsurers

15
15

(3,875.3)
955.3

(2,591.7)
364.7

Net insurance claims

15

(2,920.0)

(2,227.0)

Net operating expenses

16

(1,445.3)

(1,321.4)

(4,365.3)

(3,548.4)

Total expenses
Profit before tax
Income tax expense

17

(Loss)/Profit for the year

(171.1)

408.5

(21.1)

(106.1)

(192.2)

302.4

(3.8)

1.2

–

15.3

Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit pension plans

32

Gain on revaluation of property

(3.8)
Tax on actuarial losses/(gains) on defined benefit pension schemes

17

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss after tax

16.5

5.7

(0.2)

1.9

16.3

394.2

(150.4)

(38.8)

(145.5)

355.4

(295.9)

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations
Net fair value (losses)/gains on available-for-sale investments
Tax on fair value (gains)/losses on available-for-sale investments

17

(22.4)

32.0

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss after tax

333.0

(263.9)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year

334.9

(247.6)

Total comprehensive income for the year

142.7

54.8

Total comprehensive income for the year is entirely attributable to equity shareholders of the Company and is derived from continuing
operations. All amounts included within other comprehensive income, with the exception of actuarial gains and losses on defined
benefit schemes and gains on revaluation of property, and associated tax, are potentially items that may be reclassified subsequently
to the Statement of Profit or Loss.
The notes on pages 42 to 104 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 November 2016

Note

30 November
2016
£’m

30 November
2015
£’m

Intangible assets

19

25.7

29.8

Investments in group undertakings

20

45.6

70.5

Property and equipment

21

141.6

136.3

Financial investments

22

9,651.9

8,255.8

23

2,662.9

2,289.7

Assets

Insurance contracts:
Reinsurance assets

24

288.6

247.8

Deferred tax assets

Deferred acquisition costs

33

81.4

94.5

Current tax assets

33

92.2

38.0

Other receivables, including insurance receivables

25

2,032.9

1,746.0

Cash and cash equivalents

26

Total assets

290.2

184.5

15,313.0

13,092.9

Equity
Share capital

27

197.1

197.1

Share premium

27

1,260.3

1,260.3

Other reserves

28

291.5

(41.5)

Retained earnings

29

1,623.1

1,795.2

3,372.0

3,211.1

Total equity
Liabilities
Insurance liabilities

30

10,550.4

8,689.0

Borrowings

31

50.0

50.0

Pension obligations

32

70.5

52.6

Deferred tax liabilities

33

77.5

48.2

Current tax liabilities

33

49.0

31.9

Other payables, including insurance payables

34

1,143.6

1,010.1

Total liabilities

11,941.0

9,881.8

Total equity and liabilities

15,313.0

13,092.9

The notes on pages 42 to 104 form an integral part of these financial statements.
The financial statements on pages 38 to 104 were approved by the Board of Directors on 13 April 2017 and signed on its behalf by:

James Lenton
Chief Financial Officer
AIG Europe Limited
Company number 01486260
13 April 2017
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Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 November 2016

Share
capital
£’m
197.1

Share
premium
£’m
1,260.3

Other
reserves
£’m
207.1

Retained
earnings
£’m
1,794.0

Total
equity
£’m
3,458.5

Profit for the year

–

–

–

302.4

302.4

Other comprehensive income for the year

–

–

(248.6)

1.0

(248.6)

303.4

54.8

(314.0)

(314.0)

At 1 December 2014

Total comprehensive income for the year

–

–

Dividend paid during the year

−

−

Share-based payments (note 37)
At 30 November 2015

–

–

197.1

1,260.3

−
–
(41.5)

(247.6)

11.8

11.8

1,795.2

3,211.1
(192.2)

Loss for the year

–

–

–

(192.2)

Other comprehensive income for the year

–

–

333.0

1.9

Total comprehensive income for the year

–

–

333.0

Capital contribution from Group undertaking (note 29)

−

−

−

5.2

5.2

Share-based payments (note 37)

–

–

–

13.0

13.0

197.1

1,260.3

291.5

1,623.1

3,372.0

At 30 November 2016

The notes on pages 42 to 104 form an integral part of these financial statements.

(190.3)

334.9
142.7
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 November 2016

Notes

2016
£’m

2015
£’m

(171.1)

408.5

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property and equipment

21

14.4

11.5

Amortisation of intangible assets

19

10.7

8.3

(282.5)

(247.4)

Interest income
Finance costs

1.9

1.9

(0.3)

(59.1)

Dividend income

11

Impairment charge on available-for-sale financial assets

11

6.1

10.6

Net realised gains on financial investments

12

(84.8)

(48.9)

33.8

(56.9)

37

13.0

11.9

(Increase)/decrease in reinsurance assets

(68.0)

478.7

Increase in deferred acquisition costs

(14.5)

(16.1)

(Decrease)/increase in other receivables, including insurance receivables

12.5

(218.5)

607.7

(98.1)

(Decrease)/increase in other payables, including insurance payables

(21.5)

134.8

(Decrease)/increase in net amounts receivable/payable to related parties

30.4

(11.2)

87.8

310.0

289.6

264.4

Foreign currency exchange losses/(gains)
Other non-cash movements
Changes in working capital:

(Increase)/decrease in insurance liabilities

Cash generated from operations
Interest received
Interest paid
Dividends received
Income tax paid
Net cash generated from operating activities

(1.9)

(1.9)

–

47.5

(24.6)

(132.0)

350.9

488.0

2.2

(116.4)

(16.1)

(20.0)

Cash flows from investing activities
Net sales/(purchases) of financial investments
Purchases of property and equipment
Disposal/(purchases) of intangible assets

27.5

(27.5)

Net cash generated from/(used by) investing activities

13.6

(163.9)

–

(314.0)

Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid
Proceeds from other financing activities

(27.2)

Net cash used in financing activities

(27.2)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 December of previous year
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 30 November
The notes on pages 42 to 104 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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33.3
(280.7)

337.3

43.4

184.5

150.8

(231.6)

(9.7)

290.2

184.5
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 November 2016

1. GENERAL INFORMATION
AIG Europe Limited (the ‘Company’) is incorporated in the United Kingdom and registered in England and Wales. The financial
statements are presented in millions of pounds sterling, which is the Company’s presentational currency. The functional currency of the
UK operation is pounds sterling. As detailed in note 3.3 the Company’s branches and separate and distinct divisions determine their
own functional currencies.
The Company’s immediate and ultimate parents are AIG Holdings Europe Limited (2015: AIG Europe Holdings Limited) and American
International Group, Inc (“AIG”) respectively. The Company is a multiple line insurance company writing substantially all lines of
property and casualty insurance. Major lines of insurance written include commercial, personal and consumer, accident and health
and specialty coverage.
The registered office and principal place of business is: The AIG Building, 58 Fenchurch Street, London EC3M 4AB. These financial
statements have been authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 13 April 2017.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRSs”)
2.1 New and revised IFRSs affecting amounts reported and/or disclosed in the financial statements
There were no new and revised IFRSs issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) that were relevant for the
Company for the year ended 30 November 2016.
2.2 New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective
New standards, amendments and interpretations issued by the IASB but which are not effective for the financial year beginning on
1 December 2015 and have not been adopted early by the Company are listed below.
Financial Instruments
On 24 July 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’, marking the conclusion of the IASB’s project to replace IAS 39
‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’, which sets out new requirements for the classification, measurement and
recognition of financial instruments in the following areas:
——Classification and measurement – financial assets are classified into one of three measurement categories: fair value through profit
or loss; fair value through other comprehensive income; or amortised cost. The classification is determined with reference to the
business model for managing and holding financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial instruments
held. The classification requirements for financial liabilities remain largely unchanged from the existing requirements of IAS 39 with
the exception of financial liabilities measured under the fair value option where changes in fair value arising from changes in the
entity’s own credit risk are excluded from recognition within income for the year.
——Impairment – a new ‘expected credit loss’ impairment model is introduced for the measurement of impairment of financial assets
classified as fair value through other comprehensive income or at amortised cost. This replaces the ‘incurred credit loss’ model
under IAS 39.
——Hedge accounting – a new hedge accounting model designed to more closely align with an entity’s risk management policies for
the hedging of financial and non-financial risk exposures.
On its adoption, the Company will be required to consider the business model objective for holding financial instruments and the
nature of the cash flow characteristics of the financial instruments held. These may be impacted by the basis of measurement of the
Company’s insurance liabilities at the time when IFRS 9 is adopted, the exact nature of which is currently uncertain.
IFRS 9 and its Interaction with IFRS 4
On 12 September 2016, the IASB issued ‘Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts (Amendments to
IFRS 4)’ which provides optional relief to insurers meeting certain criteria from any adverse impact that may arise from the different
effective dates of IFRS 9 and any resulting standard from the IASB’s ongoing insurance contracts project. The two options for entities
that issue contracts within the scope of IFRS 4 permit an entity to either:
——Reclassify from profit or loss to other comprehensive income some of the income or expenses arising from designated financial
assets; referred to as the ‘overlay approach’; or
——For entities whose predominant activity is issuing contracts within the scope of IFRS 4, defer the application of IFRS 9 entirely;
referred to as the ‘deferral approach’.
The application of both approaches would be optional and an entity is permitted to stop applying them before the new insurance
contracts standard is applied, and would not be permitted to adopt the ‘deferral approach’ beyond the accounting period
commencing on or after 1 January 2021.
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The Company has initially determined that it meets the criteria set out in Amendments to IFRS 4 for temporary exemption from
applying IFRS 9 on its effective date. The Company will defer the application of IFRS 9 and will continue to apply the requirements
of IAS 39, ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’, when accounting for its financial instruments until the earlier of the
effective date of the new insurance contracts standard or 1 January 2021. The Company will re-assess its eligibility for the temporary
exemption, when deemed necessary. Therefore, the Company has not yet determined whether the impact of IFRS 9 will be material
on the Company.
Revenue from Contracts with Customers
On 28 May 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’, which introduces a five-step model applied to
all contracts with customers within its scope. The Company’s insurance contracts will continue to be measured in accordance with the
provisions of IFRS 4 ‘Insurance Contracts’.
The five-steps in the revenue model are:
——Identify the contract with the customer;
——Identify the performance obligations in the contract;
——Determine the transaction price;
——Allocate the transaction price to performance obligations in the contract; and
——Recognise revenue as and when the entity satisfies a performance obligation.
As originally issued, IFRS 15 had an effective date for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 with early adoption
permitted. However, on 11 September 2015, the IASB issued ‘Amendment to IFRS 15: (Effective Date of IFRS 15)’, confirming the
decision to defer the effective date to accounting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2018, with early adoption still permitted.
In April 2016, the IASB issued ‘Clarifications to IFRS 15’ which amends IFRS 15 providing clarification to some requirements and
additional practical expedients to aid transition. These clarifications have the same effective date as the main IFRS 15 and are to be
applied retrospectively as if they had always been included in the main Standard. The Company is currently assessing the impact
of the standard, including the subsequent amendments, to its results and financial position.
Leases
On 13 January 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16, ‘Leases’, which introduces a single reporting model for all lease contracts held as a lessee
replacing the distinction between finance leases and operating leases in IAS 17, ‘Leases’. Under this new model, subject to optional
exemptions for leases of short duration and for assets of low value when new, all assets held under a lease by the Company will be
recognised in the Statement of Financial Position with a corresponding lease liability representing its future obligation to make lease
payments under the contract.
IFRS 16 has an effective date for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019 with early adoption permitted provided
the Company has also adopted IFRS 15. The Company has not yet determined whether the impact of the standard will have a
material impact on the Company.
IFRS 16 is currently undergoing the EU endorsement process and has yet to be endorsed for application in the EU.
Other New and Revised IFRSs
In addition to the above, the IASB has issued the following revisions and amendments to existing standards that are not expected to
have any material impact on the Company’s results or financial position:
——IFRS 14 ‘Regulatory Deferral Accounts’ (issued January 2014);
——‘Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations’ Amendments to IFRS 11 (issued May 2014);
——‘Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation’ Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 (issued May 2014);
——‘Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements’ Amendments to IAS 27 (issued August 2014);
——‘Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture (Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28)’ (issued
September 2014) The effective date for this amendment has been deferred indefinitely;
——‘Annual Improvements 2012-2014 Cycle’ (issued September 2014);
——‘Disclosure Initiative’ Amendments to IAS 1 (issued December 2014); and
——‘Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception’ Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 (issued December 2014);
——‘Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses (Amendments to IAS 12)’ (issued January 2016);
——‘Disclosure Initiative (Amendments to IAS 7)’ (issued January 2016); and
——‘Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions (Amendments to IFRS 2)’ (issued June 2016).
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.
3.1 Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards as adopted in the European Union (EU) (IFRS). The financial statements also comply with those parts of the Companies
Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS. The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis
except that certain assets and liabilities are measured at revalued amounts or fair values, as described in the accounting policies
below. These policies have been applied on a consistent basis for all years presented.
The financial statements are separate financial statements and contain financial information related to the Company as an individual
Company and do not contain consolidated financial information related to the Company being the parent of a group.
The Company has taken advantage of section 401 of the Companies Act 2006, which exempts an intermediate parent company that
is a subsidiary of a parent established outside the European Economic Area (EEA), from the requirement to prepare consolidated
financial statements if it is included in the consolidated financial statements of a larger group drawn up in a manner equivalent to
consolidated financial statements produced in accordance with the provisions of the EU Seventh Directive as modified, where
relevant, by the provisions of the Bank Accounts Directive or Insurance Accounts Directive (the EU Seventh Directive). The Company
and all of its subsidiary undertakings are included in the consolidated financial statements of AIG, a company incorporated in the
State of Delaware, United States of America. It has been determined that, for the years presented, these consolidated financial
statements, prepared in accordance with US GAAP, are drawn up in a manner equivalent to the EU Seventh Directive. The Company
has therefore not prepared consolidated financial statements.
3.2 Combinations of entities or businesses under common control
A combination of entities or businesses under common control is a combination in which all of the combining entities or businesses
are ultimately controlled by the same party or parties both before and after the business combination, and that control is not
transitory. Combinations of entities or businesses under common control are not included in the scope of IFRS 3, ‘Business
Combinations’, and, as such and in accordance with the requirements of IAS 8, ‘Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates
and Errors’, the Company has opted to use the ‘carry-over’ (‘predecessor accounting’) method to account for combinations of entities
or businesses under common control. The values that the transferee ascribes to the assets and liabilities transferred are determined
based on the carrying values of those assets and liabilities in the financial statements of the transferor immediately prior to the
combination, amended where applicable to comply with the transferee’s accounting policies.
3.3 Foreign currencies
3.3.1 Functional Currencies
The Company has a number of overseas branches. Each overseas branch determines its own functional currency based on factors
specific to its operations and is the currency of the primary economic environment in which it operates. Transactions and balances in
currencies other than the functional currency are treated as foreign currency items.
3.3.2 Foreign Currency Transactions and Balances
Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated into the functional currency using the rates of exchange prevailing at the
date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency
at the rates of exchange ruling at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated into functional currency at
the rates of exchange prevailing at the date of the transaction or most recent date of valuation where they are held at fair value.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of foreign currency transactions and the translation of foreign
currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities at year-end exchange rates are recognised in the statement of profit or loss,
except as noted below.
For foreign currency denominated monetary assets designated as available-for-sale, such as debt securities, translation differences
calculated with reference to the asset’s amortised cost are recognised in the statement of profit or loss, whereas foreign exchange
differences arising on the cumulative fair value gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income and included within
the fair value reserve within equity. Translation differences on non-monetary available-for-sale financial assets, such as equity
securities, are recognised within other comprehensive income as part of the fair value gains and losses in the year.
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3.3.3 Translation to Presentational Currency
The operating results and financial position of each non-sterling functional currency branch are translated into sterling as follows:
——assets and liabilities for each Statement of Financial Position presented are translated at the exchange rate at the date of each
Statement of Financial Position;
——income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income presented are translated at the
average exchange rates for each year; and
——all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated as a separate component
of equity.
For large, one-off transactions, such as branch acquisitions, the transactions are recorded at the exchange rates prevailing at the
date of the transaction.
3.4 Insurance contracts
In accordance with IFRS 4 ‘Insurance Contracts’, insurance contracts continue to be recognised and measured in accordance with
existing accounting policies as extant at the date of transition to IFRS. For UK companies and their overseas branches, the accounting
policy for insurance contracts was grandfathered at the date of transition to IFRS from the provisions of the Association of British
Insurers’ Statement of Recommended Practice on Accounting for Insurance Business issued in December 2005 and amended in
December 2006 (ABI SORP). The ABI SORP was subsequently withdrawn by the ABI in 2015.
3.4.1 Product Classification
A contract is recognised as an insurance contract if it involves the assumption by the Company of significant insurance risk. Insurance
risk is transferred to the Company where it agrees to compensate a policyholder if a specified uncertain event, other than those
caused by changes in a financial variable, such as interest and foreign exchange rates, adversely affects the policyholder. Once a
contract has been classified as an insurance contract, it remains an insurance contract until derecognised, even if the insurance risk
becomes insignificant during this period.
Any contract that does not involve the transfer of significant insurance risk is accounted for as an investment contract. Transactions
under investment contracts are not recognised through the statement of profit or loss, with the exception of any fee income and related
claims handling costs associated with these contracts, but are included within other receivables or payables as appropriate.
3.4.2 Premiums Written
Premiums written relate to business incepted during the year, together with any difference between premiums booked for prior years
and those previously accrued. Premiums are stated net of insurance premium taxes and duties levied. As premium refunds become
payable, they are accounted for as adjustments to gross premiums written in the year in which the refund is payable. Premiums
collected by intermediaries but not remitted to the Company are determined based on estimates from underwriting or prior
experience and are included in premiums written during the year.
3.4.3 Unearned Premiums
Unearned premiums represent the proportion of premiums written that relate to periods of insurance coverage to be provided in
periods subsequent to the reporting date. Unearned premiums are earned as revenue over the period of the contract and are
principally calculated on a daily pro rata basis, unless there is a marked unevenness in the incidence of risk over the coverage
period. In these cases, premiums are recognised based on the assessed incidence of risk.
3.4.4 Insurance Claims
Insurance claims recognised in the year comprise claims paid in the year, changes in the provisions for outstanding claims, whether
reported or not, any related loss adjustment expenses less, where applicable, an allowance for salvage and other recoveries,
together with any adjustments to claims outstanding from previous years.
3.4.5 Acquisition Costs
Acquisition costs, which represent commissions and other related costs, are deferred and amortised over the period in which the
related premiums are earned. Related reinsurance commissions receivable are not netted against deferred acquisition costs and,
instead, included within accruals and deferred income.
3.4.6 Claims Provisions and Related Reinsurance Recoveries
Provision is made at the year end for the estimated cost of claims incurred but not settled at the reporting date, including the cost
of claims incurred but not yet reported to the Company. Although the Company takes all reasonable steps to ensure that it has
appropriate information regarding its claim exposures, given the uncertainty in establishing claims provisions, it is likely that the
final outcome will be different from the original liability established.
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Claims provision is made for the full cost of settling outstanding claims at the Statement of Financial Position date, including claims
incurred but not yet reported at that date, net of salvage and subrogation recoveries. Outstanding claims provisions are not
discounted for the time value of money except for claims to be settled by Periodical Payment Orders (PPOs) established under
the UK Courts Act 2003 and Future Policy Benefits relating to long-duration contracts.
The Incurred But Not Reported (IBNR) reserve is generally subject to a greater degree of uncertainty than the estimation of the cost of
settling claims already notified to the Company, where more information about the claim event is generally available. It includes an
allowance for any consistent under or over-estimation in the case reserves. The IBNR review is conducted on a class of business basis.
The in-house actuarial team conducts the assessment which is subject to an internal peer review process. Standard actuarial
methodologies are used to evaluate and determine the IBNR reserves for all areas of the business including loss development methods
and the analysis of individual cases in more volatile lines as appropriate. The Company’s actuaries determine and select the most
appropriate actuarial method to adopt for each business class. They also determine the appropriate segmentation of data from which
the adequacy of the reserve can be established. A point estimate is determined from these detailed reviews and the sum of these
point estimates for each class of business provides the overall actuarial point estimate for the IBNR reserve for the Company.
The ultimate process by which the actual carried reserves are determined takes into account both the actuarial point estimate
and numerous other internal and external factors such as claims initiatives and economic conditions in the respective country.
The majority of the IBNR reserve relates to the longer-tail classes of business and the actuaries conduct sensitivity analysis so that
senior management understand the key areas of uncertainties which could potentially lead to the final actual outcome being
materially different. The Company’s actuaries determine their best estimate of the undiscounted IBNR reserve and report to the
Reserves Committee.
The general insurance loss reserves can generally be categorised into two distinct groups. One group is short-tail classes of business
consisting mainly of property, consumer lines, marine and energy. The other group is long-tail commercial lines of business which
includes excess and primary liability, Directors and Officers (D&O), professional liability, employers’ liability, general liability and
related classes.
Short-tail classes do not have a significant delay from the date of accident to date of report to the Company and then settled by the
Company. The estimates for these classes are more reliant on the case estimate on individual claims and utilises loss development
methodologies in the projection of the future development of these case estimates.
Long-tail classes generally relate to claims where liability has to be established or where there is an element of bodily injury. For these
classes it may take some time from the date of accident for the claim to emerge and for claims to be settled from notification date due
to the time taken to establish liability. Estimation of ultimate net indemnity losses and loss expenses for long-tail lines of business is a
complex process and depends on a number of factors, including the class and volume of business involved as well as premium rate
changes, changes in exposure and claim inflation. The actuarial methods used by the Company for most long-tail commercial lines
include loss development methods and expected loss ratio methods, including the Bornhuetter-Ferguson method. Exceptional large
claims or events, to the extent that these distort the historical development, are removed from the analysis and considered separately.
3.4.7 Liability Adequacy
At each reporting date, the Company reviews its unexpired risks and performs a liability adequacy test. Provision is made for any
unexpired risks arising where the expected value of claims and expenses attributable to the unexpired periods of policies in force
at the reporting date exceeds the unearned premium provision in relation to such policies after the deduction of any deferred
acquisition costs. The expected value is determined by reference to recent experience and allowing for changes to the premium rates.
The provision for unexpired risks is calculated separately by reference to classes of business that are managed together and after
taking account of relevant investment returns.
3.4.8 Reinsurance
The Company cedes reinsurance in the normal course of business, with retention limits set for each line of business. The contracts entered
into by the Company with reinsurers, under which the Company is compensated for losses on one or more contracts issued by the
Company and that meet the classification requirements for insurance contracts, are classified as reinsurance contracts. Onwards
reinsurance premiums are recognised in the same accounting year as the related premium income. Reinsurance claims recoveries are
recognised in the same accounting year as the related insurance claims are accounted for.
The amounts recoverable from reinsurers are estimated based upon the gross provisions, having due regard to their collectability. The
reinsurance recoveries in respect of estimated claims incurred but not reported are assumed to be consistent with the historical pattern
of such recoveries, adjusted to reflect changes in the nature and extent of the reinsurance programme over time. The recoverability of
reinsurance recoveries is assessed having regard to market data on the financial strength of each of the reinsurers. The reinsurers’ share
of claims incurred in the statement of profit or loss reflects the amounts received or receivable from reinsurers in respect of those claims
incurred during the year.
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The reinsurance liabilities are primarily premiums payable for reinsurance contracts and are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss as outward reinsurance premiums when due.
Reinsurance contracts that principally transfer financial risk are accounted for directly through the Statement of Financial Position and
are not included in reinsurance assets or liabilities. A deposit asset or liability is recognised, based on the consideration paid or
received less any explicitly identified premiums or fees to be retained by the reinsured.
3.5 Property and equipment
Owner occupied properties are held at revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation less any subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses. Other items of property and equipment are stated at
historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Owner occupied properties are revalued
on a regular basis at open market valuation by independent, professionally qualified valuers. These valuations are in accordance
with the requirements of the International Valuation Standards Committee, the revaluation model within IAS 16, ‘Property, Plant and
Equipment’ and IFRS 13, ‘Fair Value Measurement’.
Any revaluation increase arising on revaluation is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, except to
the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease for the same asset previously recognised in the statement of profit or loss, in which
case the increase is credited to profit or loss to the extent of the decrease previously expensed. A decrease in the carrying amount
arising on a revaluation is recognised in profit or loss to the extent that it exceeds the balance, if any, held in the properties
revaluation reserve relating to a previous revaluation of that asset.
Property and equipment are depreciated to their residual values over their useful lives. Depreciation is calculated on a straight line
basis to reduce the carrying value to the residual amount over the following years:
Land
Property
Leasehold improvements
Fixtures and fittings

Not depreciated
40 years
5 years
4 years

The residual values, length of the economic lives and depreciation method applied are reviewed on a regular basis, and at least at
every reporting date, and adjusted as appropriate. Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable
amount, it is written down immediately to its recoverable amount. Gains and losses on disposal of property and equipment are
determined by reference to their carrying amount.
3.6 Intangible assets
Intangible assets include capitalised software costs and acquired brands.
Capitalised software costs represent costs directly related to obtaining, developing or upgrading internal use software. Such costs are
capitalised and amortised on a straight line basis over the software’s useful life which is a period not exceeding five years. Acquired
brands are classified with an indefinite useful life and are shown at historical cost. Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life
or intangible assets not ready to use are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject
to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable.
3.7 Investments in group undertakings
Investments in group undertakings are stated at cost less impairment. An impairment review is carried out whenever there is an
indication of impairment. Where the carrying amount is more than the recoverable amount, an impairment charge is recognised
in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income.
3.8 Investments in joint ventures
Joint arrangements are arrangements of which the Company has joint control, established by contracts requiring unanimous
consent for decisions about the activities that significantly affect the arrangements’ returns. They are classified as joint operations
when the Company has rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to an arrangement or as joint ventures when
the Company has rights only to the net assets of the arrangements. For joint ventures, the Company accounts for its interest at cost
less impairment.
3.9 Financial assets and liabilities
A financial asset is initially recognised on the date the Company becomes committed to purchase the asset at its fair value plus
directly related acquisition costs, except for those assets classified as fair value through income where acquisition costs are recognised
immediately in the statement of profit or loss. A financial asset is derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows have been
transferred and the risks and rewards of ownership have been substantially transferred by the Company.
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On initial recognition, the Company classifies its financial assets into one of the following categories: financial assets at fair value
through income; loans and receivables; or available-for-sale financial assets. For financial instruments classified in categories that
require them to be measured at their fair value at the reporting date, fair value is determined with reference to the quoted market
bid prices, or by using an appropriate valuation model as described in note 8.
Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Income
Financial assets may be classified on initial recognition as being at fair value through profit or loss if such designation: (a) eliminates
or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency; (b) applies to a group of financial assets, financial liabilities or
both that the Company manages and evaluates on a fair value basis; or (c) relates to an instrument that contains an embedded
derivative which is not closely related to the host contract.
Gains and losses on financial assets designated at fair value through income are recognised directly in the Statement of Profit or Loss
and Other Comprehensive Income.
Loans and Receivables
Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable repayments that are not quoted in an active market are classified as loans
and receivables, except for those that are classified as available-for-sale or designated as at fair value through income. They are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment losses.
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability (or group of
financial assets or financial liabilities) and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial
instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability.
Available-For-Sale
Non-derivative financial assets that are not classified as designated at fair value through income or loans and receivables are
classified as available-for-sale. Financial assets can be designated as available-for-sale on initial recognition. They are subsequently
measured at fair value with changes in fair value reported in a separate component of shareholders’ equity until disposal, when the
cumulative gain or loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Impairment losses and exchange differences resulting from the
retranslation of the amortised cost of foreign currency monetary available-for-sale financial assets are recognised in income together
with interest calculated using the effective interest method.
Financial Liabilities
A financial liability is initially recognised on the date the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value including, other than for financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs directly attributable to the issue of the instrument. Other than derivatives which are subsequently measured at fair
value, all other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
A financial liability is derecognised from the Statement of Financial Position when the obligation is discharged, cancelled, or expires.
3.10 Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments include forward currency swaps that derive their value from movements in underlying foreign
exchange rates. Derivatives are initially recognised and subsequently measured at fair value with movements in fair value recognised
in income. Fair values are obtained from quoted market prices in active markets, including recent market transactions, and valuation
techniques, including discounted cash flow models and options pricing models, as appropriate. Derivatives are carried as assets
where their fair value is positive and as liabilities where the fair value is negative.
The Company has collateral agreements in place with the counterparties of derivative financial instruments held. The accounting
policy for collateral received and paid is as set out in accounting policy 3.16 below.
3.11 Hedge accounting
Transactions are classified as hedging transactions when the following conditions for hedge accounting are met:
——There is a formal designation and documentation of the hedging relationship and the Company’s risk management objective and
strategy for undertaking the hedge;
——The hedge is expected to be highly effective in achieving offsetting changes in fair value or cash flows attributable to the hedged
risk, consistent with the originally documented risk management strategy for that particular hedging relationship;
——The effectiveness of the hedge can be reliably measured; and
——The hedge is assessed on an ongoing basis and determined to be highly effective.
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Where a foreign exchange derivative is designated as a hedging instrument against a net investment in foreign branches, the
effective portion of the hedge is recognised in equity; the gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately
in the Statement of Profit or Loss. Gains and losses accumulated in equity are included in the Statement of Profit or Loss when the
underlying hedged item is derecognised.
There were no such derivatives in place as at 30 November 2016 (2015: £nil).
3.12 Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the Statement of Financial Position when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously.
3.13 Net investment return
Net investment income recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income includes investment income
(comprising of interest, dividends and the amortisation of any discount or premium on available-for-sale debt securities). The Net
Investment Return also includes realised gains and losses and movements in unrealised gains and losses on financial assets held at
fair value through profit or loss, net of interest payable, investment expenses and impairment losses on financial assets.
Interest income is recognised as accrued based on the effective interest method. Dividend income is recognised as the Company’s
right to those dividends becomes unconditional. Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis.
3.14 Impairment of financial assets
The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial
assets classified as either loans and receivables or available-for-sale is impaired. A financial asset or group of financial assets is
impaired, and an impairment loss recognised, if there is objective evidence that an event, or events has occurred subsequent to the
initial recognition of the financial asset or group of financial assets that has adversely affected the amount or timing of future cash
flows from the asset.
Loans and Receivables
Where there is evidence that the contractual cash flows of a financial asset classified as loans and receivables will not be received
in full, an impairment charge is recognised in income to reduce the carrying value of the financial asset to its recoverable amount.
Available-For-Sale Financial Assets
Where a decline in the fair value of a financial asset classified as available-for-sale has been recognised in the fair value reserve
and there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, the cumulative loss is transferred out of the fair value reserve in equity
and recognised in the income statement. The cumulative impairment loss recognised is the difference between the acquisition cost
(net of principal repayments and amortisation for debt securities) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss previously
recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses previously recognised for debt securities are reversed if there is a subsequent increase
in their fair value and that this increase can be objectively linked to an event subsequent to the recognition of the impairment.
Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity instruments are not reversed.
3.15 Borrowings
Borrowings are initially recognised at their issue proceeds and are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Borrowing costs
are recognised using the effective rate method in the Statement of Profit or Loss as incurred.
3.16 Collateral
The Company receives and pays collateral in the form of both cash and non-cash assets in respect of certain derivative contracts and
reinsurance assets in order to reduce the credit risk attaching to these transactions.
Cash collateral received is recognised as an asset in the Statement of Financial Position with a corresponding liability for the ultimate
repayment of the financial liability, unless the Company has a legally enforceable right of set off in which case the collateral liability
and the related asset are shown net. Non-cash collateral received is not recognised in the Statement of Financial Position unless the
Company obtains substantially all the risks and rewards from ownership of the collateral pledged, such as in cases where the
counterparty defaults on their obligations under the contract.
Non-cash collateral pledged is not derecognised in the Statement of Financial Position where the Company retains substantially all
of the risks and rewards of ownership of the pledged non-cash assets. These assets continue to be recognised in the relevant asset
classification. The Company receives and pays collateral in the form of both cash and non-cash assets in respect of certain derivative
contracts and reinsurance assets in order to reduce the credit risk attaching to these transactions. Further details can be found in note 22.
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3.17 Employee benefits and share-based payments
Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits, including compensated absences, are benefits to be paid within one year after the end of the reporting
year in which the related services are rendered. A liability and expense are recognised for the undiscounted amount expected to be
paid for short-term employee benefits in the year in which the employee renders services in exchange for the benefits.
Other long-term employee benefits
Other long-term employee benefits are accounted for similarly to short-term employee benefits. However, unlike short-term employee
benefits, the amounts are discounted in the measurement of the liability.
Termination benefits
A liability for termination benefit is recognised at the earlier of when the Company can no longer withdraw from the offer of the
termination benefit and when the entity recognises any related restructuring costs.
Employee share-based payments
Equity-settled plans are measured at fair value of the equity instruments on the grant date and recognised as an expense, with
a corresponding increase to shareholders’ equity, on a straight line basis over the vesting period. In determining the expense,
the Company estimates the number of equity instruments that are expected to eventually vest. Such estimates are revised at the
end of each reporting year, with the impact of any revisions recognised in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to the
equity-settled employee benefits reserve.
3.18 Leases
The determination of whether an arrangement is or contains a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement and requires an
assessment of whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement
conveys a right to use the asset.
Operating lease payments, where the lessors effectively retain substantially all of the risk and benefits of ownership of the leased
items, are recognised as an expense in the Statement of Profit or Loss in accordance with the patterns and benefits derived from the
leased items. Payments made relating to operating leases are charged to the Statement of Profit or Loss on a straight line basis over
the lease term. Any lease incentives, such as rent free periods, are amortised on a straight line basis over the lease term.
The cost of improvements to or on leasehold property is capitalised, disclosed as leasehold improvements, and amortised over the
unexpired period of the lease, not exceeding seven years.
3.19 Taxation
The charge for tax is based on the results for the year determined in accordance with the relevant tax laws and regulations in each
jurisdiction, together with adjustments to provisions for prior years.
Deferred tax is provided in full on all temporary differences arising between the carrying amounts in the financial statements and the
tax bases of the assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is regarded as probable that they will be
recovered. Deferred tax is calculated based on the tax rates that have been enacted or substantially enacted at the end of the
reporting period and which are expected to be in force when the relevant deferred tax asset is realised or the relevant deferred tax
liability is settled. Deferred tax balances are not discounted.
Current and deferred tax assets and liabilities are shown gross to reflect the fact that they can only be offset where there is a legally
enforceable right to do so, particularly in respect of taxes relating to the same fiscal authority.
3.20 Pension costs
The Company operates a number of pension benefit plans. These plans include both defined benefit and defined contribution plans.
Payments to defined contribution plans and state-managed retirement benefit plans, where the Company’s obligations under the plans
are equivalent to a defined contribution plan, are charged as an expense as the employees render service. The defined benefit
pension costs and the present value of defined benefit obligations are calculated at the reporting date by the plans’ actuaries using
the Projected Unit Credit Method.
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Amounts charged (or credited) in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income for post retirement benefits in
respect of defined benefit plans include:
——The current service cost – representing the present value of additional benefits accruing in relation to employee services
provided during the year;
——Past service costs – arising from plan amendments and curtailments. Such costs are recognised in the statement of profit or loss
at the earlier of the effective date of the plan amendment or curtailment, or when the Group recognises the related restructuring
costs or termination benefits;
——Administration costs of operating the pension plans; and
——Net interest on the net deferred pension obligation liability (asset) – determined by applying the discount rate to the net defined
benefit liability (asset) at the start of the reporting year and any movements in the net defined benefit liability (asset) during the
year from contributions made and benefits paid.
Actuarial gains and losses comprise experience adjustments (the effects of differences between the previous actuarial assumptions
and what has actually occurred), as well as the effects of changes in actuarial assumptions. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised
in other comprehensive income in the year in which they arise.
The defined benefit liability recognised in the Statement of Financial Position represents the present value of defined benefit
obligations adjusted for unrecognised past service costs and reduced by the fair value of plan assets. Any net defined benefit
surplus is limited to unrecognised past service costs plus the present value of available refunds and reductions in future contributions
to the plan.
3.21 Provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable
that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation. A provision is measured at the best estimate that the Company would pay to settle the
obligation or transfer it to a third party.
A contingent liability is an obligation where it is not more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required or the amount
of the obligation cannot be reasonably estimated. Contingent liabilities are disclosed if there is more than a remote possibility that
an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation.
In many cases, it is not possible to determine whether a liability has been incurred or to estimate the ultimate or minimum amount
of that liability until years after the contingency arises, in which case no accrual is made until that time.
3.22 Statement of cash flows
Basis of Preparation
The Company has applied the indirect method for preparing the Statement of Cash Flows. This statement shows the movement in cash
and cash equivalents for the year.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprises cash on hand and demand deposits with banks together with short-term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and that are not subject to a significant risk of a change in value. Such
investments are classified as cash equivalents where they have maturity dates of three months or less from the date of acquisition.
For the purposes of preparing the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents include bank overdrafts.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
The Company exercises judgement in selecting each of the Company’s accounting policies. IFRS requires management to select
suitable accounting policies, apply them consistently and make judgements and estimates which are reasonable and prudent when
preparing the financial statements. These judgements and estimates are based on management’s knowledge of current factors and
circumstances and prediction of future events and actions. Actual results may differ from those estimates, possibly significantly.
Management considers the accounting estimates and assumptions discussed below to be its critical accounting estimates and,
accordingly, provide an explanation of each below.
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4.1 Liability for unpaid claims and loss adjustment expenses
Provision is made at year end for the estimated cost of claims incurred but not settled at the reporting date. The liability for
outstanding claims includes the cost of claims reported but yet to be paid, claims incurred but not reported (“IBNR”), and the
estimated expenses to be incurred in settling claims.
The process of establishing liability estimates is subject to considerable variability as it requires the use of informed estimates and
judgements. These estimates and judgements are based on numerous factors, and may be revised as additional experience becomes
available or as regulations change. The Company takes all reasonable steps to ensure that it has appropriate information regarding
its claims exposures. However, given the uncertainty in establishing claims provisions, it is likely that the final outcome will prove to
be different from the original liability established.
The estimation of IBNR is generally subject to a greater degree of uncertainty than the estimation of the cost of settling claims
already notified to the Company. Classes of business which have a longer reporting tail and where the IBNR proportion of the
total reserve is therefore higher than classes of business with a shorter reporting tail will typically display greater variations between
initial estimates and final outcomes. For the short-tailed classes, claims are typically reported soon after the claim event, and tend
to have less uncertainty within the unpaid liability estimate. In calculating the required levels of provisions, the Company uses a
variety of estimation techniques used widely across the market, generally based upon statistical analyses of historical experience,
which assumes that the development pattern of the current claims will be consistent with past experience. In arriving at booked
claims provisions, management also make allowance for changes or uncertainties which may create distortions in the underlying
statistics or which might cause the cost of unsettled claims to increase or reduce when compared with the cost of previously settled
claims including:
——changes in patterns of claim incidence, reporting, processing, finalisation and payment;
——changes in the legal environment;
——the impact of inflation (both economic/wage and superimposed);
——changes in the mix of business;
——the impact of large losses;
——movements in industry benchmarks;
——number of claims that have a high likelihood of becoming periodic payment orders;
——current accident year experience;
——medical and technological developments; and
——changes in policyholder behaviour.
The methods used to analyse past claim experience and to project future claim experience are largely determined by the available
data and the nature of the portfolio. The projections given by the different methodologies assist in setting the range of possible
outcomes. The most appropriate estimation technique, or combination of techniques, is selected taking into account the characteristics
of the business class and the extent of the development of each accident year.
Large claims impacting each relevant business class are considered on a case by case basis and projected separately, where
appropriate, in order to allow for the possible distortive effect of the development and incidence of these large claims.
The key areas of reserve uncertainty for the Company are as follows:
——Financial Lines: This is a key area of uncertainty given the current macro environment, and increased market and regulatory
scrutiny of the banks which the Company insures;
——Casualty: Legal changes such as the Jackson Reforms, Ministry of Justice reforms and LAPSO (Legal Aid, Sentencing and
Punishment of Offenders Act) as well as emerging latent claims such as abuse and disease claims are areas of uncertainty;
——Claims experience is subject to natural catastrophes across the world given the global exposure of risks underwritten by the
Company. The frequency and severity of such events have a high degree of uncertainty associated with them; and
——There is a higher level of uncertainty for the current year given its early stage in development.
4.2 Pipeline premiums and associated loss reserve
The Company makes an estimate of premiums written during the year that have not yet been notified by the financial year end based
on prior year experience and current year business volumes. The pipeline premium is booked together with an assessment of the
related unearned premium reserve and an estimate of claims incurred but not reported as well as any associated acquisition costs.
A test is performed of actual premium received against prior year pipeline premium accruals and the estimation process adjusted if
necessary to increase the accuracy of the current year estimate.
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4.3 Deferred acquisition costs
The amount of acquisition costs to be deferred is dependent on judgements as to which issuance costs are directly related to and vary
with the acquisition of policies.
4.4 Estimate of reinsurance recoveries
The Company’s estimate of reinsurance recoveries is based on the relevant reinsurance programme in place for the calendar year in
which the related losses have been incurred. Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are estimated in a manner consistent with the claim
reserves associated with the reinsured policy. An estimate for potential reinsurance failure and possible disputes is provided to reduce
the carrying value of reinsurance assets to their net recoverable amount.
4.5 Impairment of available-for-sale financial instruments
The Company determines that available-for-sale financial assets are impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged decline
in the fair value below its cost. This determination of what is significant or prolonged requires judgement. In making this judgement,
the Company evaluates among other factors, the normal volatility in share price, the financial health of the investee, industry and
sector performance, changes in technology, and operational and financing industry and sector performance, changes in technology,
and financing and operational cash flows.
4.6 Impairment of investments in group undertakings
The Company reports the value of its investments in group undertakings at cost less any impairment. A decision on a potential
impairment is taken when there is an indication of impairment in accordance with the guidelines of IAS36.
4.7 Pensions
The Company operates a number of pension schemes, whose members receive benefits on either a defined benefit or defined
contribution basis. The defined benefit obligation is calculated by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method.
The pension obligation is measured as the present value of the estimated future cash outflows, using a discount rate based on market
yields for high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have terms
to maturity approximating to the terms of the related pension liability. The sensitive nature of key assumptions, such as discount and
mortality rates, can have a material impact on the closing valuation of the schemes and these rates are subject to judgement to ensure
reasonableness and accuracy. The resultant net surplus or deficit recognised as an asset or liability on the Statement of Financial
Position is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting year less the fair value of plan assets.
4.8 Taxation
The Company’s tax charge on ordinary activities is the sum of the total current and deferred tax charges. The calculation of the
Company’s total tax charge necessarily involves a degree of estimation and judgement in respect of certain items whose tax treatment
cannot be finally determined until resolution has been reached with the relevant tax authority.
The recognition of deferred tax assets is based upon whether it is probable that sufficient and suitable taxable profits will be available in
the future against which the reversal of temporary differences can be deducted. Where the temporary differences relate to tax losses, the
availability of the losses to offset against forecast taxable profits is also considered. Recognition therefore involves judgement regarding
the future financial performance of the tax group in which the deferred tax asset has been recognised.
4.9 Other accounting estimates
These accounting estimates require the use of assumptions about matters, some of which are highly uncertain at the time of estimation.
To the extent actual experience differs from the assumptions used, the Company‘s financial position, results of operations and cash
flows could be materially affected.
The financial statements also include allocation of certain general overhead and other expenses that have been incurred by AIG on
behalf of the Company. For further information see Note 39. The Company’s management considers these costs, along with the costs
previously charged by AIG to the Company, to be a reasonable reflection of the costs incurred by AIG’s corporate office on behalf
of the Company. The financial statements of the Company may not be indicative of the Company’s future performance and may not
necessarily reflect what its financial position, results of operations and cash flows would have been had the Company operated
as a separate, stand-alone legal entity during the years presented.
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5. GROUP RECONSTRUCTIONS
During the year the following group reconstruction transactions were completed by the Company.
Creation of new Holding Company
On 1 June 2016 as part of a wider legal entity simplification initiative, AIG carried out a reorganisation of its European operations,
centred on the establishment of a new international holding company, AIG International Holdings Limited, based in Switzerland.
As a result, through a series of transactions, the Company moved from being a wholly-owned subsidiary of AIG Europe Holdings
Limited to being wholly owned by AIG Holdings Europe Limited.
Prior Year Group Reconstructions
In the prior year, the Company assumed the net assets of AIG Building (UK) Limited, resulting in a net gain of £52.7 million.
Through its Ireland branch the Company assumed the net assets of AIG United Guaranty Re Limited in return for £15.6 million.

6. MANAGEMENT OF INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK
The management of risk is a fundamental concern of the Company’s management. This note, together with the Risk Management
Report, summarises the key risks to the Company and the policies and procedures put in place by management to manage them.
The Risk Management Report sets out a high level overview of the risk governance structure adopted by the Company.
The components of insurance, financial, credit, liquidity and operational risk are considered below:
Insurance Risk
Insurance Risk refers to fluctuations in the timing, frequency, and severity of insured events relative to the expectations at the time of
underwriting. Insurance Risk can also refer to fluctuations in the timing and amount of claim settlements and reserves.
Insurance Risk is historically the single most significant risk area within the Company. It is split between four principal key risks which
are all managed through the application of controls, as well as the use of reinsurance to offset exposures through the transfer of risk.
These four key risks are as follows:
——Failure of Pricing, Product or Strategy: The Company’s underwriting operations inherently carry the risk of inappropriately pricing
of products resulting in financial losses or reduced profit through being set too high (therefore losing market share) or too low
(therefore resulting in an unacceptable profit contribution for that product). It also covers scenarios where an inappropriate strategy
or product is introduced or continued for a specific business line or the Company as whole there is an increased risk that material
financial and reputational losses will occur. The Company seeks to manage this through the setting and review of pricing
guidelines relevant to each business line and the application of a strict hierarchy of pre-binding rules and underwriting authorities
to ensure that policies are underwritten with management oversight. In addition, annual processes and controls are in place over
the production, review and analysis of annual business plans and the introduction of new products for each line of business, prior
to launch. The Product Development Forum plays a key role in ensuring that product development controls and processes are
adhered to. Large and unusual transactions are referred to the Large and Unusual Transactions (LUT) referral group, primarily
comprised of members of the Company’s Insurance Risk Committee, for consideration from a Statement of Financial Position,
liquidity and risk portfolio point of view before the Company becomes committed. This helps to ensure compliance with the Board
approved risk appetite. The Company also mitigates exposures to pricing risk through the purchase of reinsurance.
——Failure to Manage Natural Catastrophe Risk Aggregation/Accumulation: The Company may be exposed to an increased
likelihood of disproportionate Natural Catastrophe losses for specific perils if insured risks are overly focused on a specific
geographical area or type of policy cover. The Company seeks to manage this through the use of pre-bind rules and authorities
to manage significant within line and cross-line exposures, as well as quarterly Realistic Disaster Scenario runs to determine
whether aggregate exposures are being adequately managed within the parameters of approved business plans for each line
of business. In addition, large and unusual transactions that may have a material impact on risk aggregation exposures for an
individual line of business are referred to the LUT for further consideration.
——Failure to Manage Man-Made Catastrophe Risk Aggregation/Accumulation: The Company may be exposed to an increased
likelihood of disproportionate man-made losses for specific perils if insured risks are overly focused on a specific geographical
area or type of policy cover. The Company seeks to manage this through the use of pre-bind rules and authorities to manage
significant within line and cross-line exposures, as well as quarterly Realistic Disaster Scenario runs to determine whether
aggregate exposures are being adequately managed within the parameters of approved business plans for each line of business.
In addition, large and unusual transactions that may have a material impact on risk aggregation exposures for an individual line
of business are referred to the LUT for further consideration.
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——Adverse Reserve Development: The Company may be exposed to reserve shortfalls or distortions through failing to set sufficient
case reserves or through failing to adopt a robust and consistent reserve strategy across products offered to insureds and countries.
The Company seeks to manage this through monitoring adherence to established policies and procedures in place governing
claims reserving practices. In addition, the Company’s Actuarial Team conducts quarterly reserve reviews of the Company’s overall
book to determine appropriate reserve levels and quarterly reviews of the Company’s expected IBNR adequacy. The Company
also employs external consultants to perform reviews of its reserves to provide an independent review of their adequacy.
Financial Risk
Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that the Company is adversely affected by movements in the fair value of its financial assets arising from market
movements, such as credit spreads, interest rates and foreign exchange rates or other price risks. A description of the Company’s
principal risks relating to Market Risk are shown below; along with a summary description of controls the Company applies in seeking
to mitigate this risk:
——Unexpected Loss in Fair Value of Investment Portfolio: The adequacy of investment assets held by the Company may be adversely
affected as a result of interest rate, inflation, foreign exchange, equity, real estate and credit spread movements and the
deterioration in the credit quality of invested assets, impacting on the Company’s capital position and liquidity profile.
The Company seeks to manage this risk through the monitoring of adherence to established set of investment guidelines,
which are reviewed and updated periodically by the Market Risk Committee. The guidelines contain restrictions on areas such
as asset class concentrations, business sector concentrations, the duration of investments against our insurance liabilities, the
level of assets held with single obligors with a credit rating lower than AAA and the overall average credit rating target of the
investment portfolio. The Company’s Treasury Department also has processes and procedures in place in order to review, assess
and, if necessary, take action on foreign exchange rate movements.
——Equity Price Risk: The Company invests in mutual funds which are exposed to equity price risk. At 30 November 2016, the
sensitivity of the carrying value of the Company’s mutual fund portfolio to a movement of 10% in the underlying equity prices
was as follows. Subject to any impairment charges that may result under the scenarios, the fair value reserve would be reduced by
£0.4 million (2015: £16 million) for a 10% decrease in the underlying equity prices. Conversely, a 10% increase in the underlying
equity prices would increase the fair value reserve by £0.4 million (2015: £16 million).
Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with its financial
liabilities, primarily insurance claims, as they fall due. This risk is mitigated through investment in predominately tradable financial
assets and constant monitoring of expected asset and liability maturities. The Company further manages this risk through reviews
of Liquidity Risk Management Reports provided by the Treasury function, as well as review and approval of stress scenarios
designed by Treasury to assess liquidity risk of the Company in extreme situations. The Company’s Treasury department is also
operationally responsible to ensure that sufficient funding required for a stressed scenario is available and that the sources of
funding are appropriately diversified. The Company’s Treasury department maintains a Contingent Funding Plan that is triggered
in the event of breaches in the liquidity risk limits. There has been no material change in the Company’s processes in respect of
liquidity risk over the year.
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Maturity Analysis of Financial Liabilities
Below is an analysis of the maturity profile of financial liabilities, including insurance liabilities, which are subject to fixed and variable
interest rates.

Less than
one year
£’m

One to
two years
£’m

Two to
three years
£’m

Three to
four years
£’m

Four to
five years
£’m

Five to
ten years
£’m

Over ten
years
£’m

Carrying
value in the
statement of
financial
position
£’m

Insurance liabilities:
Outstanding
claims
2,857.5
Unearned
premiums
1,932.1

1,616.6

1,070.8

755.1

542.8

1,166.7

421.9

8,431.4

At 30
November
2016

Borrowings
Other payables,
including
insurance
payables
Total

At 30
November
2015

73.1

36.7

25.8

20.4

27.4

3.5

2,119.0

–

–

50.0

–

–

–

–

50.0

1,136.8

6.8

–

–

–

–

–

1,143.6

5,926.4

1,696.5

1,157.5

780.9

563.2

1,194.1

425.4

11,744.0

Less than
one year
£’m

One to
two years
£’m

Two to
three years
£’m

Three to
four years
£’m

Four to
five years
£’m

Five to
ten years
£’m

Over ten
years
£’m

Carrying
value in the
statement of
financial
position
£’m

2,341.4

1,345.2

907.6

607.4

436.4

858.4

233.8

6,730.2

1,783.7

75.1

38.5

24.7

14.2

19.1

3.5

1,958.8

–

–

–

50.0

–

–

–

50.0

1,005.0

5.1

–

–

–

–

–

1,010.1

5,130.1

1,425.4

946.1

682.1

450.6

877.5

237.3

9,749.1

Insurance liabilities:
Outstanding
claims
Unearned
premiums
Borrowings
Other payables,
including
insurance
payables
Total
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Credit Risk
Credit risk is defined as the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other party
to incur a financial loss. The Company has exposure to credit risk principally through its holdings of debt securities, structured assets
and reinsurance assets. There has been no material change in the Company’s processes in respect of credit risk over the year.
A description of each of the Company’s principal risks attached to credit risk is shown below, along with a summary description
of controls the Company applies in seeking to mitigate these risks:
——Unexpected Credit Loss Owing to Reinsurer Failure: The Company faces a risk of material losses if their main reinsurers fail or
are unable to pay their contractual share of claims payable. The Company seeks to manage this through annual review of the
financial strength and creditworthiness of reinsurance counterparties, as well as tracking overall exposures to individual reinsurers.
In addition, a list of approved reinsurers is maintained and an established process is in place to ensure that approval is obtained
before reinsurance cover is taken out with a reinsurer not on the approved list (this may include requiring collateralisation).
——Unexpected Credit Loss (All Other Counterparties Including Group): The Company faces a risk of material losses and cash
flow issues if other internal (intra-group) or third party obligors are unable to pay amounts due. The Company seeks to manage
this risk through the utilisation of processes and procedures to ensure that the Company only utilises approved bank operating
accounts and investment counterparties. In addition, the Company has controls in place to ensure that third party service providers
and brokers used are subject to credit checks prior to and during the year where they provide services to the Company, where it
is possible to do so.
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The following table provides an analysis of the major categories of financial assets with credit risk exposure and the credit rating
of those financial assets based upon the ratings published by Standard & Poor’s or equivalent nationally recognised statistical
rating organisation (“NRSRO”).

At 30 November 2016

AAA
£’m

AA
£’m

A
£’m

BBB
£’m

Below
investment
grade
£’m

2,420.9

2,106.6

2,903.1

1,143.5

663.4

Not rated
£’m

Total
£’m

–

9,237.5

Financial investments
Debt securities
Equity instruments

–

–

–

–

–

9.2

9.2

Loan participations

–

–

140.1

176.0

36.8

48.7

401.6

Mutual funds

–

–

–

–

–

3.6

3.6

Reinsurance assets

–

122.9

1,570.9

197.9

116.7

654.5

2,662.9

238.0

455.7

301.5

96.3

9.9

816.8

1,918.2

19.6

17.5

35.1

18.6

9.9

2.3

103.0

Other receivables, including
insurance receivables
Accrued interest and rent
Other prepayments and
accrued income

–

–

–

–

–

11.7

11.7

Short term deposits

–

–

78.1

–

–

2.1

80.2

2.6

5.9

187.7

8.7

5.1

–

210.0

2,681.1

2,708.6

5,216.5

1,641.0

841.8

1,548.9

14,637.9

Not rated
£’m

Total
£’m

Cash in bank
Total

At 30 November 2015

AAA
£’m

AA
£’m

A
£’m

BBB
£’m

Below
investment
grade
£’m

1,719.3

1,981.9

2,704.6

864.2

553.8

–

7,823.8

–

–

–

–

–

9.0

9.0

Financial investments
Debt securities
Equity instruments
Loan participations

–

–

141.0

100.5

–

17.2

258.7

Mutual funds

–

–

–

–

–

164.0

164.0

0.3

–

–

–

–

–

0.3

6.6

179.4

1,556.8

275.2

60.6

211.1

2,289.7

247.8

80.8

178.4

399.3

12.9

715.0

1,634.2

16.0

20.0

36.4

15.6

8.4

0.5

96.9

Deposits with credit institutions
Reinsurance assets
Other receivables, including
insurance receivables
Accrued interest and rent
Other prepayments and
accrued income

–

–

–

–

–

14.9

14.9

Short term deposits

–

3.3

84.9

–

–

1.8

90.0

3.1

2.6

36.8

49.7

2.3

–

94.5

1,993.1

2,268.0

4,738.9

1,704.5

638.0

1,133.5

12,476.0

Cash in bank
Total
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The following table analyses the credit quality of financial assets with credit risk exposure that are neither past due nor impaired
and those that have been impaired by category of asset.
Financial assets that are past due but not impaired

At 30 November 2016

Neither past
due nor
impaired
£’m

1–30
days
£’m

31–60
days
£’m

61–90
days
£’m

Over
90 days
£’m

Financial
assets that
have been
impaired
£’m

Carrying
value in the
statement of
financial
position
£’m

Financial investments
Debt securities
Equity instruments

9,204.6

–

–

–

–

32.9

9,237.5

9.2

–

–

–

–

–

9.2

401.6

–

–

–

–

–

401.6

3.6

–

–

–

–

–

3.6

Reinsurance assets

2,662.9

–

–

–

–

–

2,662.9

Other receivables, including
insurance receivables

Loan participations
Mutual funds

1,042.9

798.1

16.1

13.9

47.1

0.1

1,918.2

Accrued interest and rent

103.0

–

–

–

–

–

103.0

Other prepayments and
accrued income

11.7

–

–

–

–

–

11.7

Short term deposits
Cash in bank
Total

80.2

–

–

–

–

–

80.2

210.0

–

–

–

–

–

210.0

13,729.7

798.1

16.1

13.9

47.1

33.0

14,637.9

Over
90 days
£’m

Financial
assets that
have been
impaired
£’m

Carrying
value in the
statement of
financial
position
£’m

Financial assets that are past due but not impaired

At 30 November 2015

Neither past
due nor
impaired
£’m

1–30
days
£’m

31–60
days
£’m

61–90
days
£’m

Financial investments
Debt securities
Equity instruments

7,766.3

–

–

–

–

57.5

7,823.8

9.0

–

–

–

–

–

9.0

Loan participations

258.7

–

–

–

–

–

258.7

Mutual funds

164.0

–

–

–

–

–

164.0

Deposits with credit institutions
Reinsurance assets
Other receivables, including
insurance receivables
Accrued interest and rent

0.3

–

–

–

–

–

0.3

2,289.7

–

–

–

–

–

2,289.7

863.2

676.1

40.8

18.8

35.3

–

1,634.2

96.9

–

–

–

–

–

96.9

Other prepayments and
accrued income

14.9

–

–

–

–

–

14.9

Short term deposits

90.0

–

–

–

–

–

90.0

Cash in bank
Total

94.5

–

–

–

–

–

94.5

11,647.5

676.1

40.8

18.8

35.3

57.5

12,476.0
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Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk arises primarily from the Company’s fixed maturity securities and discounted claims provisions which are exposed to
fluctuations in interest rates. The Company mitigates this risk by matching the duration between assets and liabilities with the asset
duration exceeding the liability duration up to half a year and the surplus implied duration remaining positive. At 30 November 2016,
the effective duration for the Company’s fixed maturity portfolio was 3.3 years (2015: 2.8 years).
At 30 November 2016, the sensitivity of the carrying value of the Company’s fixed maturity portfolio to a movement of 100 basis
points in interest rates was as follows. Subject to any impairment charges that may result under the scenarios, the fair value reserve
would be reduced by £309 million (2015: £237 million) for a 100 basis point increase in interest rates. Conversely, a 100 basis point
decrease in interest rates would increase the fair value reserve by £296 million (2015: £215 million). With respect to discounted
claims provisions a 100 basis point increase in interest rates would reduce net claims provisions by £11 million (2015: £10 million)
while a 100 basis point decrease in interest rates would increase net claims provisions by £16 million (2015: £17 million).
Currency Risk
Currency risk arises where assets and liabilities are settled in currencies other than the functional currency of the Company, including
the Company’s overseas branches which all have non-sterling functional currencies. The Company mitigates this risk by actively
matching its financial assets with liabilities in the same currency. It also seeks to manage currency volatility on the excess capital
(capital resources less capital requirements), by holding its capital resources proportionately split by the currencies in which the
Company’s business and risks are written. The analysis of the Company’s shareholders equity by currency is shown below:
Pound sterling
£’m

Euro
£’m

Swiss franc
£’m

United States
dollar
£’m

Other
£’m

Total
£’m

Total equity at 30 November 2016

1,545.2

1,171.8

92.9

520.4

41.7

3,372.0

Total equity at 30 November 2015

1,429.9

1,190.0

63.0

579.7

(51.5)

3,211.1

Sensitivity analysis of shareholders’ equity and total comprehensive income to changes in foreign exchange rates for the three largest
currency risks (Euro, Swiss Francs and US Dollars):
10% increase 10% decrease 10% increase 10% decrease 10% increase 10% decrease
in sterling/
in sterling/
in sterling/
in sterling/
in sterling/
in sterling/
EUR rate
EUR rate
CHF rate
CHF rate
USD rate
USD rate
£’m
£’m
£’m
£’m
£’m
£’m
Total equity at 30 November 2016

(106.5)

130.2

(8.4)

10.3

(47.3)

57.8

Total equity at 30 November 2015

(108.2)

132.2

(5.7)

7.0

(52.7)

64.4

The decision of the United Kingdom to leave the European Union in the referendum held on 23 June 2016 led to significant changes
in the financial market environment. As a direct impact a dramatic drop of the British pound versus the US Dollar and Euro has been
observed. This phase of high uncertainty is also characterised by some extraordinary FX movements like the ‘flash crash’ in October
where the pound dropped within minutes dramatically. As much as possible the FX framework we have in place will try to match
movements in FX between assets and liabilities but this will continue to be monitored.
Business & Strategy Risk
Whilst AIG Europe Limited does identify and manage its Insurance, Market (including Liquidity Risk), Credit and Operational Risks, the
company is aware that these individual risk types are framed to some degree by the Company’s and AIG Group’s business operations and
strategic direction. The Company’s operations and strategy also influence or are impacted by Group Risks arising from its participation in
the wider AIG group and the pan-European scope of the company. A description of each of the Company’s principal risk components
attached to Business and Strategy Risk is shown below along with a summary description of controls the Company applies in seeking to
mitigate these risks:
——Strategic Risk: This represents the risk of losses due to the inability to implement appropriate business plans and strategies, make
decisions, allocate resources, or adapt to changes in the business environment. The risks include general macro-economic pressures,
misalignment of the Company’s objectives to those of AIG Group, as well as risks associated with one-off business specific events, such
as significant mergers and acquisitions. The Company seeks to manage this risk through the application of a business planning process
to ensure that the Company has a sustainable strategy that is aligned to AIG’s global objectives, as well as post-date monitoring of the
Company’s performance against its set budget and adherence to its strategic objectives. AIG Europe Limited Enterprise Risk
Management also actively supports this process through conducting risk assessments of the business planning process, monitoring
identified risks from these assessments and conducting scenario analysis and stress testing on the company’s one and five year budgets.
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——Capital Adequacy Risk: This represents the risk of not maintaining the capital levels required to meet both regulatory and rating agency
standards and the impacts of breaches in these capital requirements. Intra-group transactions, such as dividend payments to the AIG
Group parent, and ceding insurance risk to internal counterparties are also connected to this risk. Key controls in the management of
this risk revolve around the application of and adherence to a clearly defined capital management policy and an annual Capital
Management Plan, which sets out target capital parameters and a strategy to maintain this over the life of the company’s business
planning period, in order to meet rating agency requirements, as well as meeting dividend payments to the AIG Group parent.
In addition, AIG Europe Limited utilises capital support agreements between the Company and its ultimate parent.
——Reputational Risk (Including Group Reputational Risk): This represents the risk that adverse publicity regarding business practices and
associations, whether accurate or not, will cause a loss of confidence in the integrity of AIG Group, which includes AIG Europe
Limited. The Company seeks to manage this risk through the application of and adherence to a suite of corporate policies in place to
control AIG Europe Limited’s exposure to scenarios that could damage the AIG brand or AIG Europe Limited’s immediate reputation
as a company, as well as subjecting activities that carry material reputational risk to additional levels of governance and oversight.
Operational Risk
Operational Risk is defined by the Company as the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and
systems, or from external events. It is intrinsic to the Company’s operations but is actively mitigated and managed. A description of
each of the Company’s eight categories of Operational Risk is shown below. There has been no material change in the Company’s
processes in respect of operational risk over the year.
The Company has no appetite for operational risks related to regulatory breaches and internal fraud. The Company expects to incur
other operational risks (including conduct risk) in the course of conducting business, such as inadvertent errors that may occur in
day-to-day operations. We strive to reduce the probability and impact of operational risks as much as reasonably practicable while
maintaining the ability to conduct a viable business.
AIG categorises Operational Risk in the following Level 1 risk categories:
——Execution, Delivery & Process Management: Risks associated with the failure to execute or process transactions timely or
accurately with clients, counterparties and/or external vendors/suppliers.
——Clients, Products & Business Practices: Risks associated with the unintentional or negligent failure to meet a professional obligation
to specific clients (including fiduciary and suitability requirements) or from the nature or design of a product. It also includes
non-compliance with laws, rules, regulations, agreements, prescribed practices and ethical standards.
——Internal Fraud: Risks associated with acts intended to defraud, misappropriate property or circumvent regulations, the law or
company policy which involves at least one internal party.
——External Fraud: Risks associated with acts intended to defraud, misappropriate property or circumvent regulations or the law by
one or more third party.
——Employment Practices & Workplace Safety: Risks associated with acts inconsistent with employment relations, health, safety and/or
anti-discrimination laws or agreements.
——Business Disruption & Systems Failure: Risks associated with the interruption of business activity due to system and/or
communication failures, the inaccessibility of information and/or the unavailability of utilities.
——Damage to Physical Assets: Risks associated with the damage or unavailability of physical assets as a result of a natural disaster
or other traumatic event.
Each risk category divides further into Level 2 sub-categories for more detailed capture and analysis of risk events, assessments,
scenarios and monitoring. Key operational risks are monitored in a risk register. AIG’s Operational Risk Management (“ORM”)
Framework, which AIG Europe Limited aligns to, facilitates the identification, assessment, monitoring and measurement of operational
risk and promotes a culture where each employee has responsibility for managing and reporting operational risk. The ORM
Framework establishes a structure within which the ORM process evolves commensurate with changes in the regulatory and business
environment. The risk management process is supported by pro-active risk assessments (including Risk and Control Self Assessments),
as well as reactive risk event analysis. These processes and oversight is embedded throughout the operational Zones of AEL, with a
thorough Governance structure to report and review the risk profiles.

7. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Company maintains robust and sufficient capital to ensure the safety and stability of the Company whilst meeting regulatory,
rating agency and other business needs.
The Company is regulated by the UK regulator, the Prudential Regulatory Authority (“PRA”). On 1 January 2016, Solvency II, an EU
legislative programme was introduced, bringing a new harmonised insurance regulatory regime. This replaced the Solvency I EU
directive which the Company had previously reported under.
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Solvency II now brings a level playing field across the member states of the European Union. It is a comprehensive programme of
regulatory requirements for insurers covering authorisation, corporate governance, supervisory reporting, public disclosure and risk
assessment and management, as well as solvency and reserving. These requirements are divided into three pillars which include the
primary capital metric, the Solvency Capital Requirement (“SCR”).
Entities have the option to calculate their SCR using either the Standard Formula, as prescribed in the regulations, or through an
internally developed capital model (the latter must be approved by the PRA). The Company is currently calculating its SCR using
the Standard Formula; however it is the Company’s intention to replace this with an Internal Model once approval is received from
the PRA.
The Company has been fully compliant with Solvency II since its commencement.
The Company also maintains sufficient capital to support a single A rating from A.M. Best and Fitch, an A+ from Standard & Poor’s
and an A2 from Moody’s. In addition, to provide against material shocks, the Company would normally expect to hold sufficient
capital to maintain a significant economic surplus. Available capital comprises total equity, subordinated loans and letters of credit.
The table below provides an analysis of the Own Funds of the Company under Solvency II.
30 November
2016
£’m
Basic own funds
Ordinary share capital (gross of own shares)

197.1

Share premium account related to ordinary share capital

1,260.3

Reconcilation reserve

1,595.1

Subordinated liabilities

37.2

An amount equal to the value of net deferred tax assets
Total basic own funds

53.2
3,142.9

Ancillary own funds
Letters of credit
Total ancillary own funds

500.0
500.0

Available and eligible own funds
Total available own funds to meet the SCR
Total eligible own funds to meet the SCR

3,642.9
3,642.9

SCR

3,360.5

Ratio of eligible own funds to SCR

108.4%

Management information to monitor the Company’s available capital and solvency position is produced and presented to the
relevant Committees and the Board on a regular basis. In the event of failure of the Company to meet any of its regulatory
requirements, the Company can draw on a Capital Maintenance Agreement it has with the ultimate parent company, AIG Inc.,
to inject the required funds.
The Company is also the beneficiary of £500 million of Letters of Credit (“LoC”) provided by three well rated banks. £200 million
of these LoCs will expire in June 2017 and have been replaced by an equivalent cash capital injection by the parent Company,
received 16 March 2017. The Company is able to draw down upon this facility on demand. Should a failure occur, the PRA have
broad authority to require or take various regulatory actions including limiting or prohibiting the issue of new business, prohibiting
the payment of dividends, or in extreme cases, putting the Company into rehabilitation or insolvency proceedings.
The Company’s branches, in common with other insurers, are subject to regulation and supervision by the states and jurisdictions
in which they do business. The Company is not generally subject to supervision by state regulators, but certain transactions, such
as those involving significant transactions with its branches and any transaction involving a change in control of the Company or
any of its branches, may require the prior approval of state regulators.
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8. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT
The Company carries certain of its financial instruments at fair value. The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount that would
be received from the sale of an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly arm’s length transaction between willing and
knowledgeable market participants at the measurement date.
The degree of judgement used in measuring the fair value of financial instruments generally correlates with the level of observable
valuation inputs. Financial instruments with quoted prices in active markets generally have more pricing observability and less judgement
is used in measuring fair value. Conversely, financial instruments for which no quoted prices are available have less observability and
are measured at fair value using valuation models or other pricing techniques that require more judgement. Pricing observability is
affected by a number of factors, including the type of financial instrument, whether the financial instrument is new to the market and
not yet established, and the characteristics specific to the transaction, liquidity and general market conditions.
Fair value hierarchy
Financial assets recorded at fair value in the Statement of Financial Position are measured and classified in a hierarchy for disclosure
purposes consisting of three levels based on the characteristics of inputs available in the marketplace that are used to measure the fair
values as noted below:
Level 1
Financial assets included in this category are measured at fair value with reference to publicly available quoted prices in active markets that
the Company has the ability to access for identical assets. A financial instrument is regarded as being quoted in an active market if quoted
prices are readily available from an exchange, dealer, broker, pricing service or regulatory agency and the prices quoted represent actual
and regularly occurring market transactions conducted at an arm’s length basis. Level 1 assets held by the Company include certain
government and governmental agency securities, actively traded derivative contracts, and mutual funds.
Level 2
Financial assets included in this category are measured at fair value based on inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1
above, that are observable for the asset either directly or indirectly. Level 2 inputs include quoted market prices for similar assets
in active markets, and other inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset, such as interest rates and yield curves
that are observable at commonly quoted intervals. Assets measured at Level 2 include certain government and governmental
agency securities, most investment grade and high yield corporate bonds, certain residential mortgage backed securities
(“RMBS”), commercial mortgage backed securities (“CMBS”) and collateralised debt obligations/asset backed securities
(“CDO/ABS”) and certain derivative contracts.
Level 3
Financial assets included in this category are measured at fair value based on prices provided by brokers derived from valuation
techniques (models) that use significant inputs that are unobservable. These measurements include circumstances in which there is
little, if any, market activity for the asset or liability. Assets measured at Level 3 include certain RMBS, CMBS and CDO/ABS,
corporate bonds, and certain derivative contracts. The Company’s non-financial instrument assets that are measured at fair value
on a non-recurring basis generally are classified as Level 3.
The following is a description of the valuation methodologies used for instruments carried at fair value:
Valuation Methodologies
Fixed maturity securities
Whenever available, the Company obtains quoted prices in active markets for identical assets at the financial position date
to measure fixed maturity securities at fair value in its available-for-sale portfolios. Market price data is generally obtained from
dealer markets.
Management is responsible for the determination of the value of the investments carried at fair value and the supporting
methodologies and assumptions. The Company employs independent third-party valuation service providers to gather, analyse and
interpret market information, and derive fair values based upon relevant methodologies and assumptions for individual instruments.
When the Company’s valuation service providers are unable to obtain sufficient market observable information upon which to
estimate the fair value for a particular security, fair value is determined either by requesting brokers who are knowledgeable about
these securities to provide a quote, which is generally non-binding, or by employing widely accepted internal valuation models.
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Valuation service providers typically obtain data about market transactions and other key valuation model inputs from multiple
sources and through the use of widely accepted valuation models provide a single fair value measurement for individual securities
for which a fair value has been requested under the terms of service agreements. The inputs used by the valuation service providers
include, but are not limited to, market prices from recently completed transactions and transactions of comparable securities,
benchmark yields, interest rate yield curves, credit spreads, currency rates, quoted prices for similar securities and other market
observable information, as applicable. The valuation models take into account, among other things, market observable information
as of the measurement date as well as the specific attributes of the security being valued including its term, interest rate, credit rating,
industry sector, and when applicable, collateral quality and other security or issuer-specific information. When market transactions
or other market observable data is limited, the extent to which judgement is applied in determining fair value is greatly increased.
The Company has processes designed to ensure that the values received are accurately recorded, that the data inputs and the
valuation techniques utilised are appropriate and consistently applied, and that the assumptions are reasonable and consistent with
the objective of determining fair value. The Company assesses the reasonableness of individual security values received from
valuation service providers through various analytical techniques. In addition, the Company may validate the reasonableness of fair
values by comparing information obtained from the Company‘s valuation service providers to other third-party valuation sources for
selected securities. The Company also validates prices for selected securities obtained from brokers through reviews by members of
management who have relevant expertise and who are independent of those charged with executing investing transactions.
The methodology described above is relevant for all fixed maturity securities. The following paragraphs set out certain procedures
unique to specific classes of securities.
Fixed maturity securities issued by Government entities
For most debt securities issued by government entities, the Company obtains fair value information from independent third-party
valuation service providers, as limited quoted prices in active markets are available for debt securities issued by government entities.
The fair values received from these valuation service providers may be based on a market approach using matrix pricing, which
considers a security‘s relationship to other securities for which a quoted price in an active market may be available, or alternatively
based on an income approach, which uses valuation techniques to convert future cash flows to a single present value amount.
Fixed maturity securities issued by corporate entities
For most debt securities issued by corporate entities, the Company obtains fair value information from third-party valuation service
providers. For certain corporate debt securities, the Company obtains fair value information from brokers.
RMBS, CMBS, CDOs and other ABS
Third-party valuation service providers also provide fair value information for the majority of the Company‘s investments in RMBS,
CMBS, CDOs and other ABS. Where pricing is not available from valuation service providers, the Company obtains fair value
information from brokers. Broker prices may be based on an income approach, which converts expected future cash flows to a
single present value amount, with specific consideration of inputs relevant to structured securities, including ratings, collateral types,
geographic concentrations, underlying loan vintages, loan delinquencies, and weighted average coupons and maturities.
Broker prices may also be based on a market approach that considers recent transactions involving identical or similar securities.
When the volume or level of market activity for an investment in RMBS, CMBS, CDOs or other ABS is limited, certain inputs used
to determine fair value may not be observable in the market.
Equity securities
Equity securities held by the Company relate to investments in unquoted entities where the Company does not have any significant
influence. Since these equity investments do not have a quoted market price in an active market and fair values cannot be reliably
measured, they are held at cost in accordance with IAS 39.
Short Term Investments
Short Term Investments are held at amortised cost in line with their classification as loans and receivables under IAS 39.
Amortised cost is calculated using the effective interest method, which allocates interest income/expense over the relevant period
by applying the effective interest rate to the carrying amount of the instrument. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount
of the financial instrument.
Loans Receivable
The Company holds Loans Receivable at amortised cost in line with their classification as loans and receivables under IAS 39.
Amortised cost is calculated using the effective interest method, which allocates interest income/expense over the relevant year by
applying the effective interest rate to the carrying amount of the asset. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the
financial instrument.
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At 30 November 2016 the estimated fair value of the Loans Receivable held at amortised cost was £397 million (2015: £261 million)
which represents a £4 million decrease (2015: £2 million increase) on the carrying amount at that date. The carrying amount of the
short term investments measured at amortised cost at 30 November 2016 is deemed to be a reasonable estimate of the fair value at
that date. Based on the characteristics of inputs available in the marketplace, the fair value estimates of these financial assets are
classified as Level 3 at 30 November 2016.
Mutual Funds
Quoted prices in active markets for these assets are obtained at the Statement of Financial Position date to measure at fair value
of these marketable equity securities in our available for sale portfolios. Market price data is generally obtained from exchange
or dealer markets.
Derivatives
Derivative assets and liabilities can be exchange-traded or traded over-the-counter (OTC). We generally value exchange-traded derivatives
such as futures and options using quoted prices in active markets for identical derivatives at the Statement of Financial Position date.
OTC derivatives are valued using market transactions and other market evidence whenever possible, including market-based inputs to
models, model calibration to market clearing transactions, broker or dealer quotations or alternative pricing sources with reasonable levels
of price transparency. When models are used, the selection of a particular model to value an OTC derivative depends on the contractual
terms of, and specific risks inherent in the instrument, as well as the availability of pricing information in the market. We generally use similar
models to value similar instruments. Valuation models require a variety of inputs, including contractual terms, market prices and rates, yield
curves, credit curves, measures of volatility, prepayment rates and correlations of such inputs. For OTC derivatives that trade in liquid
markets, such as generic forwards, swaps and options, model inputs can generally be corroborated by observable market data by
correlation or other means, and model selection does not involve significant management judgement.
Transfers of certain investments in RMBS, CMBS and CDO/ABS out of Level 3 assets were based on consideration of market liquidity as well
as related transparency of pricing and associated observable inputs for these investments. Transfers of certain investments in private
placement corporate debt and certain ABS out of Level 3 assets were primarily the result of using observable pricing information that reflects
the fair value of those securities without the need for adjustment based on our own assumptions regarding the characteristics of a specific
security in the current liquidity market.
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The following table shows an analysis of financial instruments at fair value by each level within the fair value hierarchy:
At 30 November 2016
Assets:
Available-for-sale debt securities:
Fixed maturity securities issued by Government entities
Fixed maturity securities issued by corporate entities
RMBS
CMBS
Total available-for-sale debt securities (Note 22)

Level 1
£’m

Level 2
£’m

Level 3
£’m

Total
£’m

41.3
–
–
–

3,233.7
5,647.4
29.6
60.7

–
–
224.8
–

3,275.0
5,647.4
254.4
60.7

41.3

8,971.4

224.8

9,237.5

Available-for-sale equity securities
Mutual funds

3.6

–

–

3.6

Total available-for-sale equity securities (Note 22)

3.6

–

–

3.6

44.9

8,971.4

224.8

9,241.1

Level 1
£’m

Level 2
£’m

Level 3
£’m

Total
£’m

Total Assets

At 30 November 2015
Assets:
Available-for-sale debt securities:
Fixed maturity securities issued by Government entities
Fixed maturity securities issued by corporate entities

43.1

2,383.0

–

2,426.1

–

4,723.5

–

4,723.5

RMBS

–

121.1

237.1

358.2

CMBS

–

75.3

–

75.3

CDO/ABS

–

240.7

–

240.7

43.1

7,543.6

237.1

7,823.8

164.0

–

–

164.0

Total available-for-sale equity securities (Note 22)

164.0

–

–

164.0

Total Assets

207.1

7,543.6

237.1

7,987.8

Total available-for-sale debt securities (Note 22)
Available-for-sale equity securities
Mutual funds

Transfers of Level 1 and Level 2 Assets and Liabilities
The Company’s policy is to record transfers of assets and liabilities between Level 1 and Level 2 at their fair values as of the end of each
reporting period, consistent with the date of the determination of fair value. Assets are transferred out of Level 1 when they are no longer
transacted with sufficient frequency and volume in an active market. During the year ended 30 November 2016, the Company
transferred certain debt securities issued by various Governments with a carrying value of £36.2 million (2015: £22.0 million) from Level
1 to Level 2. Conversely, assets are transferred from Level 2 to Level 1 when transaction volume and frequency are indicative of an active
market. During the year ended 30 November 2016, there were no transfers of assets from Level 2 to Level 1 (2015: £nil).
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Reconciliation of Movements in Level 3 Financial Investments at Fair Value
A reconciliation of the movements during the year of financial assets measured using inputs not based on observable market data is
shown below:
30 November 30 November
2016
2015
£’m
£’m
237.1

580.6

Additions

Fair value at beginning of the year (1 December)

33.6

–

Disposals

(53.9)

(31.1)

Total gains and losses recognised in profit for the year

2.7

3.3

Total gains and losses recognised in other comprehensive income

3.3

(15.2)

Transfers out to other levels
Foreign exchange movements
Fair value at end of the year (30 November)

–

(299.5)

2.0

(1.0)

224.8

237.1

Both observable and unobservable inputs may be used to determine the fair values of positions classified in Level 3 in the tables
above. As a result, the net unrealised gains and losses on instruments held at 30 November 2015 and 2016 may include changes
in fair value that were attributable to both observable (e.g. changes in market interest rates) and unobservable inputs (e.g. changes
in unobservable long-dated volatilities).
Transfers of Level 3 Assets and Liabilities
The Company’s policy is to transfer assets and liabilities into Level 3 when a significant input cannot be corroborated with market
observable data. This may include circumstances in which market activity has dramatically decreased and transparency to underlying
inputs cannot be observed, current prices are not available and substantial price variances in quotations among market participants
exist. Assets are transferred out of Level 3 when circumstances change such that significant inputs can be corroborated with market
observable data. This may be due to a significant increase in market activity for the asset, a specific event, one or more significant
input(s) becoming observable, or when a long-term interest rate significant to a valuation becomes short-term and thus observable.
Quantitative Information about Level 3 Fair Value Measurements
The table below provides information about the significant unobservable inputs used for recurring fair value measurements for certain
Level 3 instruments.

RMBS

Fair value at
30 November
2016
£’m

Valuation Technique

Unobservable Inputs

224.8

Discounted cash flow

Constant prepayment rate

4.21% – 6.60% (5.40%)

Loss severity

9.8% – 33.58% (21.69%)

Constant default rate

0.05% – 1.55% (0.80%)

Yield

1.41% – 3.17% (2.29%)

Range (Weighted Average)

CMBS

–

Discounted cash flow

Yield

–

CDO/ABS

–

Discounted cash flow

Yield

–

Total

224.8
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Sensitivity to Changes in Unobservable Inputs
The Company considers unobservable inputs to be those for which market data is not available and that are developed using the best
information available to the Company about the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability.
Relevant inputs vary depending on the nature of the instrument being measured at fair value. The following is a general description
of sensitivities of significant unobservable inputs along with interrelationships between and among the significant unobservable inputs
and their impact on the fair value measurements. The effect of a change in a particular assumption in the sensitivity analysis below
is considered independently of changes in any other assumptions. In practice, simultaneous changes in assumptions may not always
have a linear effect on the inputs discussed below. Inter-relationships may also exist between observable and unobservable inputs.
Such relationships have not been included in the discussion below. For each of the individual relationships described below, the
inverse relationship would also generally apply.
For Level 3 investments, changing unobservable valuation inputs to a reasonable alternative would result in an increase in total equity
of £9.8 million (2015: £16.8 million) under a favourable scenario and a decrease of £3.7 million (2015: £18.3 million) under an
unfavourable scenario. This value was derived using the structured products module of the Company’s Economic Capital Model which
is a stochastic model that uses discounted cash flow modelling to capture the financial risks of these assets under different scenarios.
RMBS
The significant unobservable inputs used in fair value measurements of RMBS valued by third party valuation service providers are
constant prepayment rates (CPR), constant default rates (CDR), loss severity and yield. A change in the assumptions used for the
probability of default will generally be accompanied by a corresponding change in the assumption used for the loss severity and an
inverse change in the assumption used for prepayment rates. In general, increases in yield, CPR, CDR, and loss severity, in isolation,
would result in a decrease in the fair value measurement. Changes in fair value based on variations in assumptions generally cannot
be extrapolated because the relationship between the directional change of each input is not usually linear.

9. EXCHANGE RATES
The Company’s overseas branches during the year were located within the European continent. Branch operations and associated
cash flows of European overseas branches have been translated into pounds sterling at the average rate for the year and their assets
and liabilities at the closing rate for the year. The euro, Swiss franc and US dollar functional currency branch operations were
converted at the rates set out below:
2016

2015

Average rate (€1 equals)

£0.806

£0.731

Closing rate (€1 equals)

£0.847

£0.702

Euro

CHF
Average rate (CHF 1 equals)

£0.739

£0.678

Closing rate (CHF 1 equals)

£0.786

£0.646

USD
Average rate (USD 1 equals)

£0.726

£0.652

Closing rate (USD 1 equals)

£0.799

£0.664
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10. NET EARNED INSURANCE PREMIUM REVENUE

2016
£’m

2015
£’m

4,898.8

4,788.4

47.7

(104.0)

4,946.5

4,684.4

(1,237.5)

(1,235.3)

11.8

(16.2)

Premium revenue from insurance contracts issued:
Gross written premium in period
Change in unearned premium provision
Insurance premium revenue
Premium revenue ceded to reinsurers on insurance contracts issued:
Premium ceded to reinsurers in period
Change in unearned premium provision
Insurance premium ceded to reinsurers

(1,225.7)

(1,251.5)

Net earned insurance premium revenue

3,720.8

3,432.9

Gross written premiums and premium ceded to reinsurers transferred in on the acquisition of the branches during the years ended
30 November 2016 and 30 November 2015 represents the balance of outstanding unearned premiums written and ceded by those
branches at the date of their acquisition by the Company.
Net premium written, being gross written premium for the year less premium ceded to reinsurers in the year, was £3,661.3 million
(2015: £3,553.1 million).

11. NET INVESTMENT INCOME
2016
£’m

2015
£’m

268.5

238.6

11.2

7.3

2.0

0.5

Interest income from debt securities:
Available-for-sale financial assets
Interest income:
From loans and receivables
From cash and cash equivalents
Net amortisation of premium on purchase of financial assets
Impairment charge for the year (note 18)
Dividend income (note 39)
Investment management expenses

(43.7)

(41.9)

(6.1)

(10.6)

0.3

59.1

(15.4)

(13.1)

216.8

239.9

2016
£’m

2015
£’m

84.8

48.9

84.8

48.9

12. NET REALISED GAINS ON FINANCIAL ASSETS

Net realised gains on financial assets − available-for-sale:
Debt securities
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13. NET UNREALISED GAINS ON FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH INCOME
2016
£’m

2015
£’m

Net unrealised gains on financial assets at fair value through income:
Derivative financial instruments

–

70.1

–

(70.1)

–

–

2016
£’m

2015
£’m

163.7

154.9

Change in deferred reinsurance commissions

0.2

13.8

Rental income from property

0.7

1.0

Policy fee income

7.2

8.6

–

56.9

171.8

235.2

Gross
£’m

2016
Reinsurance
£’m

Net
£’m

3,219.9

(899.1)

2,320.8

655.4

(56.2)

599.2

3,875.3

(955.3)

2,920.0

Transfer of gain on hedge accounted derivative to other comprehensive income (note 28)

14. OTHER INCOME
Reinsurance commissions receivable

Net foreign exchange gains

15. NET INSURANCE CLAIMS

Gross claims paid and reinsurance recoveries receivable
Movement in claims provision

Gross claims paid and reinsurance recoveries receivable
Movement in claims provision

Gross
£’m

2015
Reinsurance
£’m

Net
£’m

2,793.7

(827.3)

1,966.4

(202.0)

462.6

260.6

2,591.7

(364.7)

2,227.0

An analysis of the movement in claims provisions is provided in Note 30.

16. NET OPERATING EXPENSES
Acquisition costs
Change in deferred acquisition costs
Administrative expenses
Net foreign exchange losses

2016
£’m

2015
£’m

732.7

654.2

(14.4)

(1.2)

693.2

668.4

33.8

–

1,445.3

1,321.4

Net operating expenses include £163.1 million (2015: £139.9 million) charged to the Company by related parties. Refer to Note 39
for an analysis of these amounts. Finance costs of £1.9 million (2015: £1.9 million) were incurred during the year on subordinated
debt. Refer to Note 31 for these borrowings.
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17. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

A) Tax Charge to the Profit for the Year
i) Analysis of the tax charge for the year
2016
£’m

2015
£’m

(15.2)

129.6

Current tax:
For the current year
Adjustments in respect of previous years

(6.0)

21.4

(21.2)

151.0

(27.1)

(29.3)

Capital allowances lower than/(in excess of) depreciation

8.8

2.1

Effect of taxation treatment for pension

1.1

2.4

Effect of changes in tax rate

4.1

0.9

Total current tax
Deferred tax:
Effect of taxation treatment of technical reserves

Deferred acquisition costs
Share based payments
Other

(35.1)

2.9

(1.7)

(1.8)

(7.1)

0.4

Adjustments in respect of previous years

20.7

(22.5)

Derecognition of deferred tax attributes

78.6

–

Total deferred tax charge/(credit)

42.3

Income tax expense for the year

21.1

106.1

UK tax
Overseas tax

2016
£’m
(30.0)
51.1

2015
£’m
70.6
35.5

Total charge

21.1

106.1

(44.9)

The income tax expense for the year is further analysed as follows:

ii) Analysis of the Factors Affecting the Tax Charge for the Year
The tax assessed for the year is higher than the standard rate of corporation tax for the UK. The differences are explained below:

Profit on ordinary activities before tax
Profit on ordinary activities multiplied by standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 20.00% (2015: 20.33%)

2016
£’m
(171.1)

2015
£’m
408.5

(34.2)

83.0

Effects of:
Other discrete items

(0.4)

(0.9)

Permanent differences

(1.9)

(16.8)

Adjustments to taxation charge in respect of previous years

(26.7)

21.4

Effect of tax rate differences

(14.9)

26.3

Adjustment for prior year deferred tax balances

20.7

(22.5)

Deferred tax attributes not recognised

78.5

15.6

21.1

106.1

Tax charge for the year
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Finance Act 2016 (enacted on 15 September 2016) reduces the UK tax rate to 17% from 1 April 2020.
B) Tax Charge/(Credit) to Other Comprehensive Income

2016
£’m

2015
£’m

16.3

(30.8)

7.1

–

Current tax:
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit and loss
In respect of fair value movements on financial assets
In respect of translation of overseas branches
Total current tax

23.4

(30.8)

(1.0)

(1.2)

(5.7)

0.2

(6.7)

(1.0)

Deferred tax:
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit and loss
In respect of fair value movements on financial assets
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit and loss
In respect of pensions
Total deferred tax
Tax charge/(credit) to other comprehensive income

16.7

(31.8)

2016
£’m

2015
£’m

18. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Profit for the year is stated after charging:
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 19)

10.7

8.3

Depreciation charge for the year (note 21)

14.4

11.5

6.1

10.6

23.6

15.0

Impairment charges for the year (note 11)
Operating leases

Impairment charges for the year comprise an impairment of £6.1 million (2015: £10.6 million) on debt securities (Note 11).
Auditors’ Remuneration
Remuneration paid to the Company’s auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, included within net operating expenses, is set out below:
2016
£’m

2015
£’m

2.2

2.1

The audit of Company’s subsidiaries

0.2

0.1

Audit related assurance services

0.4

0.6

Other assurance services

0.4

0.1

–

0.3

Fees paid to the Company’s Auditors and their associates for the audit of the financial statements
Fees paid to the Company’s Auditors and their associates for other services:

Tax advisory services
Tax compliance services

0.1

0.1

Other non-audit services

–

0.3

3.3

3.6
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Employee Costs
The table below sets out the staff costs incurred directly by AIG Europe Limited.
2016
£’m

2015
£’m

Wages and salaries

292.3

318.9

Social security costs

39.8

46.0

5.8

4.9

20.0

17.3

7.4

27.7

365.3

414.8

2016
Number

2015
Number

5,245

5,406

2016
£’m

2015
£’m

Aggregate emoluments

9.7

6.7

Aggregate value of contributions in respect of money purchase pension scheme

0.1

–

2.5

3.6

–

–

Post retirement benefits:
Defined benefit schemes
Defined contribution schemes
Termination benefits

The average number of persons employed directly by the Company (including directors) during the year were:

Europe
Directors’ Emoluments

Highest paid director:
Emoluments of the highest paid director
Contributions to money purchase pension scheme of the highest paid director

For both years presented, no directors were members of the defined benefits pension scheme operated by the Company. Amounts
paid in the year to directors in respect of long-term incentive schemes for qualifying service was £1.9 million (2015: £0.7 million).

74

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AIG EUROPE LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 30 November 2016 (continued)

19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Software
development
£’m

Acquired
brands
and other
£’m

Total
£’m

Balance at 1 December 2014

14.1

22.0

36.1

Additions

27.5

–

27.5

(1.6)

(2.6)

Cost

Foreign exchange movements
Balance at 30 November 2015

(4.2)

40.0

19.4

59.4

Additions

7.1

4.2

11.3

Disposals

(0.6)

(0.6)

(1.2)

–

(5.6)

(5.6)

Fair value adjustment/impairment

2.3

3.8

6.1

48.8

21.2

70.0

Balance at 1 December 2014

8.8

15.4

24.2

Amortisation charge for the year

8.1

0.2

8.3

Foreign exchange movements

(1.0)

(1.9)

(2.9)

15.9

13.7

29.6

Amortisation charge for the year

9.6

1.1

10.7

Disposals

(0.7)

–

Foreign exchange movements

1.7

3.0

4.7

26.5

17.8

44.3

At 30 November 2016

22.3

3.4

25.7

At 30 November 2015

24.1

5.7

29.8

Foreign exchange movements
Balance at 30 November 2016
Amortisation and impairment

Balance at 30 November 2015

Balance at 30 November 2016

(0.7)

Carrying amount
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20. INVESTMENTS IN GROUP UNDERTAKINGS
30 November 30 November
2016
2015
£’m
£’m
At beginning of the year (1 December)
Transfers out on group restructuring
Fair Value Adjustment
Foreign exchange movements
At end of the year (30 November)

Subsidiary

Principal activity

AIG Building (UK) Limited

Non Trading Company

AIG Europe (Services) Limited

Administrative services

AIG Germany Holding GmbH

Registered office
The AIG Building, 58 Fenchurch
Street, London EC3M 4AB

70.5

161.4

(1.2)

(77.3)

(32.6)

–

8.9

(13.6)

45.6

70.5

Proportion of ownership
interest/voting power
held by the Company
2016
2015
0.0%

100.0%

The AIG Building, 58 Fenchurch
Street, London EC3M 4AB

100.0%

100.0%

Non Insurance Holding Company

Karlstrasse 68–72, 74076
Heillbronn, Germany

100.0%

100.0%

AIG Global Reinsurance

Reinsurance Administration

Boulevard de la Plaine 11, 1050
Ixelles, Brussels, Belgium

100.0%

100.0%

Hansa GmbH

Property management

Karlstrasse 68–72, 74076
Heillbronn, Germany

100.0%

100.0%

Hansa Grundstuckverwaltungs
GmbH & Co KG

Real Estate Company

Karlstrasse 68–72, 74076
Heillbronn, Germany

94.5%

94.5%

The Company’s indirect subsidiaries are Wynona 1837 GmbH, AIG Medical Management Services, AIG Receivables Management
and AIG Trade Finance Limited.
The fair value adjustment in 2016 is a result of an impairment of the AIG Germany Holdings GmbH subsidiary following an
impairment review using the discounted cash flow model indicating a present value reduction of £32.6 million.
In the prior financial year, AIG Building (UK) Limited paid out a return of capital of £68.6 million and a total dividend of
£52.7 million. Furthermore, the Company derecognised its investment in Chartis Romania S.A. following the receipt of a
final liquidating distribution.
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21. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Leasehold
Improvements
Land and and Fixtures
Buildings
& Fittings
£’m
£’m

Total
£’m

Cost or valuation
Balance at 1 December 2014
Additions
Disposals
Movements in fair value
Foreign exchange movements

109.1

61.7

170.8

–

22.8

22.8

–

(3.8)

5.1

–

(3.8)
5.1
(7.7)

(1.2)

(6.5)

113.0

74.2

187.2

Additions

–

18.8

18.8

Disposals

(1.8)

(2.2)

Balance at 30 November 2015

Foreign exchange movements
Balance at 30 November 2016

(4.0)

1.4

11.0

12.4

112.6

101.8

214.4

10.6

45.8

56.4

3.2

8.3

11.5

–

(1.0)

(1.0)

(10.5)

–

(10.5)

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Balance at 1 December 2014
Charge for the year
Disposals
Eliminated on revaluation
Foreign exchange movements

(0.3)

Balance at 30 November 2015

3.0

47.9

(5.2)

50.9

(5.5)
14.4

Charge for the year

2.9

11.5

Disposals

(0.1)

(1.2)

(1.3)

Foreign exchange movements

0.3

8.5

8.8

Balance at 30 November 2016

6.1

66.7

72.8

At 30 November 2016

106.5

35.1

141.6

At 30 November 2015

110.0

26.3

136.3

Carrying amount

The Company’s property portfolio is located in the United Kingdom, Greece and Cyprus. The Group’s land and buildings are stated
at their revalued amounts, representing the fair value at the date of revaluation, less any subsequent depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses.
On 1 November 2016, the owner occupied office in the Netherlands was sold for £1.9 million resulting in a gain of £0.2 million.
An independent valuation, in accordance with IAS 16, was performed in 2015 of all properties by qualified external valuers.
Under the revaluation model applied, the portfolio is regularly reviewed so that the carrying value of the assets do not differ
materially from the fair value.
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Cost Model
The carrying amount of land and buildings that would have been recognised in the Statement of Financial Position under the cost
model at 30 November 2016 was £83.5 million (30 November 2015: £88.0 million).
The Company’s land and buildings are stated at their revalued amounts, representing the fair value at the date of revaluation, less any
subsequent depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. The Company’s land and buildings across the regions were last valued
as follows:
Country

Valuation Date

Valuation Company

Cyprus

30/11/2015

Cleon Lacovides & Associates Ltd

Greece

20/05/2015

Axies SA

UK (Croydon)

18/05/2015

CBRE Limited

UK (London)

20/05/2015

CBRE Limited

The valuation methods utilised include the comparable method which compares the subject asset with similar assets for which
information is available, and the hard core traditional method, which measures the value of property by an estimate of current market
rental value plus any capital costs for fittings. The valuations have been adjusted by taking consideration of interest rates and yield
curves observable, as well as implied risk and mitigating factors.
Details of the Company’s land and buildings and information regarding the fair value hierarchy as at 30 November 2016 are as
follows. There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the year.

Level 1
£’m

Level 2
£’m

Level 3
£’m

Fair Value
£’m

At 30 November 2016

–

106.5

–

106.5

At 30 November 2015

–

110.0

–

110.0
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22. FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS

A) Analysis of Fair Value
The following is an analysis of the cost/amortised cost, unrealised gains and losses, impairments and fair value of financial investments.
Amortised
cost or cost
£’m

Unrealised
gains
£’m

Unrealised
losses and
impairments
£’m

Total
£’m

At 30 November 2016
Available-for-sale debt securities:
Government and governmental agencies

3,156.4

127.8

(9.2)

3,275.0

Corporate debt

5,391.7

273.7

(18.0)

5,647.4

RMBS

248.7

9.6

(3.9)

254.4

CMBS

59.8

0.9

–

60.7

8,856.6

412.0

3.4

0.2

–

3.6

3.4

0.2

–

3.6

401.6

–

–

401.6

401.6

–

–

401.6

Total debt securities at available-for-sale

(31.1)

9,237.5

Available-for-sale equity instruments:
Mutual funds
Total equity securities at available-for-sale
Loans and Receivables:
Loan participations
Total loans and receivables at cost
Cost:
9.2

–

–

9.2

9.2

–

–

9.2

9,270.8

412.2

(31.1)

9,651.9

Government and governmental agencies

2,385.8

59.4

(19.1)

2,426.1

Corporate debt

4,604.8

179.4

(60.7)

4,723.5

361.0

9.5

(12.3)

358.2

Equity instruments
Total cost
Total
At 30 November 2015
Available-for-sale debt securities:

RMBS

75.5

0.9

(1.1)

75.3

281.6

–

(40.9)

240.7

7,708.7

249.2

(134.1)

7,823.8

136.9

27.1

–

164.0

136.9

27.1

–

164.0

Loan participations

258.7

–

–

258.7

Short term deposits

0.3

–

–

0.3

259.0

–

–

259.0

9.0

–

–

9.0

9.0

–

–

9.0

8,113.6

276.3

CMBS
CDO/ABS
Total debt securities at available-for-sale
Available-for-sale equity instruments:
Mutual funds
Total equity securities at available-for-sale
Loans and Receivables:

Total loans and receivables at cost
Cost:
Equity instruments
Total cost
Total

(134.1)

8,255.8
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Included in the analysis of fair value of financial investments are tied assets required for regulatory purposes as restricted assets
against insurance liabilities. The debt securities pledged as restricted assets are held in separate custodian accounts; however,
as substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of these investments have been retained by the Company, the
investments have not been derecognised. The total amount of debt securities pledged at 30 November 2016 was
£578.1 million (2015: £401.1 million).
Impairment of Financial Investments – Evaluating Investments for Impairment
Fixed Maturity Securities
The evaluation of impairment of fixed maturity securities is a two-step process. First, AIG performs an impairment review of the debt
security on an instrument-by-instrument basis at each Statement of Financial Position date. The aim of this review is to determine
whether there is objective evidence that impairment exists for a fixed maturity security. Secondly, if there is objective evidence of
impairment, AIG measures and records the impairment loss in that reporting year. A fixed maturity security is impaired and
impairment losses are recognised at the Statement of Financial Position date only if there is objective evidence of impairment as
a result of a past event that occurred subsequent to the initial recognition of the asset.
It may not always be possible to identify a single, discrete event that causes an impairment. Rather, the combined effect of several
events may cause an impairment. The loss event must have a reliably measurable effect on the present value of estimated future
cash flows and be supported by current observable data. Losses expected as a result of future events (as opposed to past events),
no matter how likely, are not recognised. That is, the impairment model for fixed maturity income securities is based on the ‘incurred
loss’ model and not on an ‘expected loss’ model.
Objective evidence includes observable data that comes to AIG’s attention as the holder of the security. Indicators that a fixed
maturity security is impaired include:
——Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor;
——A breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;
——A lender, for economic or legal reasons relating to the issuer’s financial difficulty, granting to the issuer a concession that the
lender would not otherwise consider;
——It becoming probable that the issuer will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;
——The disappearance of an active market for that security because of financial difficulties;
——Changes in the issuer’s financial environment evidenced by changes in factors such as liquidity;
——Worsening credit rating, profitability, cash flow, debt/equity ratio and level of dividend payment;
——Length of time fair value has been below cost; and
——Subsequent sales of similar securities at a loss.
The disappearance of an active market or the downgrade of an entity’s credit rating is not in itself evidence of impairment, although
it may be evidence of impairment when considered with other information.
For available for sale fixed maturity securities, if there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on the security has been incurred
and a decline in the fair value of an AFS security has been recognised in OCI, the cumulative loss that has been recognised in OCI
is be reclassified to profit or loss (i.e. realised capital gains and losses). The cumulative loss is the difference between the amortised
cost and the current fair value of the security, less any impairment loss on the security previously recognised in profit or loss
(i.e. realised capital gains and losses).
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23. REINSURANCE ASSETS
In the ordinary course of business, the Company places reinsurance with affiliated and unaffiliated reinsurance and insurance
companies in order to manage exposures by limiting its maximum net loss arising from large risks or catastrophic events.
A variety of traditional reinsurance products are used in connection with the Company’s risk management strategy. These products
include excess of loss treaties which are designed to limit exposure to potentially substantial losses, and quota share treaties which
cover specific lines of business. Facultative reinsurance is also used to manage large policy specific individual risk exposures.
The Company utilises catastrophe reinsurance treaties to manage its exposure to losses resulting from natural catastrophes and
other events which may result in significant losses.
Ceded premiums for prospective reinsurance contracts are considered prepaid insurance premiums and are recognised as a
reduction of premiums earned over the contract period, which approximates the period of risk over which insurance protection is provided,
in proportion to the coverage received. Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are estimated in a manner consistent with the loss
reserves associated with the reinsurance and presented as a component of reinsurance assets.
30 November
2016
£’m

30 November
2015
£’m

Reinsurers’ share of provisions for claims

2,077.4

1,767.2

Reinsurers’ share of unearned premiums

585.5

522.5

2,662.9

2,289.7

1,017.9
1,645.0

712.1
1,577.6

2,662.9

2,289.7

30 November
2016
£’m

30 November
2015
£’m

247.8

253.5

Total reinsurance assets
Amounts to be settled within one year
Amounts to be settled after one year

An analysis of movements in reinsurance assets is included in note 30.

24. DEFERRED ACQUISITION COSTS

Carrying amount at beginning of the year (1 December)
Net movement in the year

14.4

1.2

Foreign exchange movements

26.4

(6.9)

288.6

247.8

285.8
2.8

201.5
46.3

288.6

247.8

Carrying amount at end of the year (30 November)
Amounts to be settled within one year
Amounts to be settled after one year

There were no impairments of deferred acquisition costs for the years ended 30 November 2016 and 2015.
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25. OTHER RECEIVABLES, INCLUDING INSURANCE RECEIVABLES
30 November
2016
£’m

30 November
2015
£’m

1,221.8

1,152.3

Due from policyholders

116.0

88.7

Due from related parties

25.7

20.6

1,363.5

1,261.6

216.9

178.1

103.0

96.9

11.7

14.9

Receivables arising out of direct insurance operations:
Due from intermediaries

Receivables arising out of reinsurance operations
Other receivables:
Accrued interest and rent
Prepayments
Pension Asset (note 32)
Other receivables

Amounts to be settled within one year
Amounts to be settled after one year

21.0

15.9

316.8

178.6

2,032.9

1,746.0

2,011.8

1,725.0

21.1

21.0

2,032.9

1,746.0

The fair value of other receivables, including insurance receivables, does not differ materially from their amortised cost. There is
no concentration of credit risk with respect to other receivables, including insurance receivables, as the Company has a large
number of dispersed debtors.

26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash at bank and in hand
Short term deposits

Cash Reconciliation

Cash and cash equivalents, as above
Less: bank overdrafts (note 31)

30 November
2016
£’m

30 November
2015
£’m

210.0

94.5

80.2

90.0

290.2

184.5

30 November
2016
£’m

30 November
2016
£’m

290.2

184.5

–

–

290.2

184.5

The effective interest rate on short-term deposits with credit institutions was 0.6% (2015: 0.34%) and has an average maturity of
16.2 days (2015: 11.7 days).
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27. SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM
Ordinary shares
at £1 each
At 1 December 2014

Number

Share capital
£’m

Share premium
£’m

197,118,479

197.1

1,260.3

–

–

–

197,118,479

197.1

1,260.3

–

–

–

197,118,479

197.1

1,260.3

Shares issued in year
At 30 November 2015
Shares issued in year
At 30 November 2016

28. OTHER RESERVES
Currency
translation
reserve
£’m
At 1 December 2014
Fair value gains and losses
Foreign exchange movements
Impairment transferred to Statement of Profit or Loss
Gain on hedging instrument designated for hedges of net investment
of overseas branches
At 30 November 2015
Fair value gains and losses
Foreign exchange movements
Impairment transferred to Statement of Profit or Loss
At 30 November 2016

(84.3)

AFS fair
value
reserve
£’m

Other
reserves
£’m

Total other
reserves
£’m

290.7

0.7

207.1

–

(124.1)

15.3

(108.8)

(220.5)

–

–

(220.5)

–

10.6

–

10.6

70.1
(234.7)

–

–

177.2

16.0

70.1
(41.5)
(67.3)

–

(67.3)

–

394.2

–

–

394.2

–

6.1

–

6.1

159.5

116.0

16.0

291.5

29. RETAINED EARNINGS
Retained
earnings
£’m
At 1 December 2014
Profit for the year

1,794.0
302.4

Other comprehensive income
Dividends
Equity settled share based payment schemes
At 30 November 2015
Profit for the year

1.0
(314.0)
11.8
1,795.2
(192.2)

Capital contribution from group undertakings

5.2

Other comprehensive income
Equity settled share based payment schemes
At 30 November 2016

1.9
13.0
1,623.1

During 2016, dividends of £nil (2015: £1.59) per ordinary share amounting to £nil million (2015: £314.0 million), were declared
and paid by the Board of Directors.
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30. INSURANCE LIABILITIES
30 November
2016
£’m

30 November
2015
£’m

Claims reported

4,470.9

3,679.4

Claims incurred but not reported (IBNR)

3,666.6

2,788.7

293.9

262.1

2,119.0

1,958.8

10,550.4

8,689.0

(1,295.9)

(1,066.2)

(706.1)

(621.3)

(75.4)

(79.7)

Gross

Loss adjustment expenses
Unearned premiums
Total insurance liabilities gross
Recoverable from reinsurers
Claims reported
Claims incurred but not reported (IBNR)
Loss adjustment expenses
Unearned premiums

(585.5)

(522.5)

(2,662.9)

(2,289.7)

Claims reported

3,175.0

2,613.2

Claims incurred but not reported (IBNR)

2,960.5

2,167.4

Total insurance liabilities recoverable from reinsurers
Net

Loss adjustment expenses
Unearned premiums
Total insurance liabilities net

218.5

182.4

1,533.5

1,436.3

7,887.5

6,399.3

Included within claims incurred but not reported (IBNR) above is £228.4 million (2015: £189.7 million) of unallocated loss
adjustment expenses.
The Company establishes claim reserves, which are estimates of future payments of reported and unreported claims and claim
adjustment expenses, with respect to insured events that have occurred. Reserving is a complex process dealing with uncertainty,
requiring the use of informed estimates and judgements. Any changes in estimates or judgements are reflected in the results of
operations in the year in which estimates and judgements are changed.
Significant delays may occur in the notification and settlement of claims, and a substantial measure of experience and judgement
is involved in assessing outstanding liabilities, the ultimate cost of which cannot be known with certainty as of the financial position
date. The reserves for claims and claims adjustment expenses are determined on the basis of information currently available; however,
it is inherent in the nature of the business written that the ultimate liabilities may vary as a result of subsequent developments.
Outstanding claims provisions based on undiscounted estimates of future claims payments totalling £253.3 million (2015: £229.5
million) are subject to discounting under AIG policy. Discount rates of 3.5% (2015: 3.5%) (Periodical Payment Orders) and 1.6%
(2015: 1.6%) (Future Policy Benefits) were applied in 2016 resulting in discounted reserves of £101.2 million (2015: £94.8 million).
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Movements in insurance liabilities and reinsurance assets:
Claims liabilities (Claims Reported and Loss Adjustment Expenses)

Gross
£’m

Reinsurance
£’m

Net
£’m

Notified claims

4,292.9

(1,457.6)

2,835.3

Incurred but not reported

3,017.6

(844.9)

2,172.7

At 1 December 2014

7,310.5

(2,302.5)

Claims settled in the year

(2,793.7)

827.3

(1,966.4)

3,048.2

(647.5)

2,400.7

(456.5)

282.8

(173.7)

(378.3)

72.7

(305.6)

5,008.0

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities
Arising from current year claims
Arising from prior year claims
Foreign exchange movements
At 30 November 2015

6,730.2

(1,767.2)

4,963.0

Reported claims

3,941.5

(1,145.9)

2,795.6

Incurred but not reported

2,788.7

(621.3)

2,167.4

At 1 December 2015

6,730.2

(1,767.2)

4,963.0

Claims settled in the year

(3,219.8)

899.1

3,809.8

(1,097.0)

(136.6)

113.6

1,247.8

(225.9)

1,022.0

8,431.4

(2,077.4)

6,354.0

Reported claims

4,764.8

(1,371.3)

3,393.5

Incurred but not reported

3,666.6

(706.1)

2,960.5

8,431.4

(2,077.4)

6,354.0

Comprising:

(2,320.8)

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities
Arising from current year claims
Arising from prior year claims
Foreign exchange movements
At 30 November 2016

2,712.8
(23.0)

Comprising:

At 30 November 2016
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Loss Development Tables
The loss development tables presented below show the cumulative provisions for insurance claims, whether reported or not, and related loss
adjustment expenses arising for each accident year from 2008 onwards. The historical net insurance claims provision for all outstanding
claims arising for accident years prior to 2008 are shown cumulatively as one figure in the right hand column. All amounts shown in the
tables have been stated at constant exchange rates based on the rates prevailing at 30 November 2016.
The top half of each table shows the estimated ultimate insurance claims losses and related loss adjustment expenses for each accident year
presented as at the end of each reporting year. Movements in these provisions arise as additional information becomes available upon
which more accurate estimates of the ultimate insurance claims losses can be made.
The lower half of each table shows the cumulative amounts paid against those claims provisions at the end of each reporting year.
Insurance Claims – Gross
2008
2009
Accident year
£’m
£’m
Estimate of ultimate claims costs

2010
£’m

2011
£’m

2012
£’m

2013
£’m

2014
£’m

2015
£’m

2016
£’m
3,608.8

At end of accident year

1,647.3

1,794.6

1,479.1

1,927.5

2,124.5

6,463.8

3,354.3

3,079.8

One year later

1,700.4

2,152.8

1,698.5

1,743.4

1,882.4

6,205.2

3,143.6

3,166.7

Two years later

1,688.2

2,204.6

1,666.8

1,528.1

1,736.8

6,083.1

3,137.8

Three years later

1,699.8

1,997.3

1,595.8

1,529.9

1,728.9

6,152.9

Four years later

1,666.3

1,969.1

1,567.7

1,510.2

1,759.7

Five years later

1,652.5

1,949.4

1,556.6

1,543.1

Six years later

1,621.9

1,936.3

1,550.8

Seven years later

1,610.7

1,967.3

Eight years later

1,611.1

Total
£’m

Cumulative claims payments
At end of accident year

(302.8)

(306.2)

(357.6)

(359.0)

(398.3) (1,594.3)

One year later

(774.1)

(723.3)

(922.1)

(903.0)

(859.8) (2,953.9) (1,509.1) (1,533.7)

(562.1)

Two years later

(1,054.6) (1,002.0) (1,180.8) (1,101.5) (1,104.3) (3,788.2) (2,045.4)

Three years later

(1,217.0) (1,255.4) (1,304.4) (1,256.6) (1,285.5) (4,359.6)

Four years later

(1,375.1) (1,381.0) (1,388.1) (1,333.6) (1,436.0)

Five years later

(1,453.0) (1,492.9) (1,449.6) (1,401.8)

Six years later

(1,495.7) (1,729.8) (1,475.9)

Seven years later

(1,515.3) (1,774.7)

Eight years later

(1,538.4)

Current estimate of
cumulative claims
Cumulative payments
to date
Claims liability
outstanding
Claims liability for prior
years

1,611.1

1,967.3

1,550.8

1,543.1

1,759.7

6,152.9

3,137.8

(646.7)

3,166.7

(1,538.4) (1,774.7) (1,475.9) (1,401.8) (1,436.0) (4,359.6) (2,045.4) (1,533.7)
72.7

192.6

74.9

141.3

Total liability included in Statement of Financial Position

(856.1)

3,608.8

24,498.2

(856.1) (16,421.6)

323.7 1,793.3 1,092.4 1,633.0 2,752.7

8,076.6
354.8
8,431.4
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Insurance Claims – Net of Reinsurance
2008
2009
Accident year
£’m
£’m
Estimate of ultimate claims costs

2010
£’m

2011
£’m

2012
£’m

2013
£’m

2014
£’m

2015
£’m

2016
£’m

At end of accident year

723.7

892.5

871.3

890.2

1,051.6

4,580.6

2,295.6

2,424.6

2,614.0

One year later

717.6

938.3

897.3

853.9

938.6

4,482.8

2,219.7

2,536.2

Two years later

737.8

1,000.3

879.7

758.7

941.8

4,421.5

2,270.7

Three years later

734.4

980.9

847.6

781.0

928.0

4,477.5

Four years later

725.9

962.4

831.6

778.8

947.7

Five years later

727.5

965.1

833.4

810.7

833.8

Six years later

714.2

970.2

Seven years later

711.8

984.1

Eight years later

716.6

Total
£’m

Cumulative claims payments
At end of accident year

(120.1)

(168.0)

(206.5)

(166.3)

(220.9) (1,101.6)

One year later

(293.2)

(376.7)

(427.6)

(359.7)

(469.6) (2,071.3) (1,112.7) (1,226.1)

Two years later

(416.0)

(531.3)

(554.3)

(478.9)

(607.2) (2,670.1) (1,473.2)

Three years later

(493.0)

(652.5)

(641.4)

(582.5)

(711.5) (3,102.0)

Four years later

(572.5)

(732.9)

(705.4)

(634.5)

(784.4)

Five years later

(615.7)

(776.7)

(752.2)

(687.1)

Six years later

(642.2)

(823.7)

(773.4)

Seven years later

(658.1)

(851.9)

Eight years later

(671.5)

Current estimate of
cumulative claims
Cumulative payments
to date
Claims liability
outstanding
Claims liability for prior
years

2,270.7

(532.3)

716.6

984.1

833.8

810.7

947.7

(671.5)

(851.9)

(773.4)

(687.1)

(784.4) (3,102.0) (1,473.2) (1,226.1)

45.1

132.2

60.4

123.6

163.3 1,375.5

Total liability included in Statement of Financial Position

4,477.5

(442.4)

2,536.2

(579.9)

2,614.0

16,191.3

(579.9) (10,149.5)

797.5 1,310.1 2,034.1

6,041.8
312.2
6,354.0
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The large increase in the gross and net ultimate claims cost in 2013 pertains to the merger of the Chartis Europe SA businesses into
the Company which occurred at 1 December 2012. During 2014, the merger of the Chartis Excess business into the Company which
occurred in 2014 had less of an impact given this business is much smaller. There was a general reduction in gross ultimates during
2014 largely driven by refinements to the gross-to-reinsurance view of the ultimates which largely impacted the gross results. This is
shown mostly in 2013 as the prior year reductions for the Continental European business are reflected in this year. There were general
reductions to the ultimate in the 2015 valuation year following favourable experience in Excess Casualty and less than expected severe
and Cat loss activity in the year. Ultimates have strengthened during the 2016 valuation year as a result of emerging severity trends
across historical accident years in Financial Lines. In addition, reserves in Excess Casualty have increased as a result of adverse severe
loss trends.
Movements in Insurance Liabilities and Reinsurance Assets:
Unearned premiums
Gross
£’m
1,949.6

Reinsurance
£’m
(560.4)

Net
£’m
1,389.2

Premiums written during the year (note 10)

4,788.4

(1,235.3)

3,553.1

Less: premiums earned during the year (note 10)

(4,684.4)

1,251.5

(3,432.9)

(94.8)

21.7

(73.1)

At 1 December 2014

Foreign exchange movements

1,958.8

(522.5)

1,436.3

Premiums written during the year (note 10)

At 30 November 2015

4,898.8

(1,237.5)

3,661.3

Less: premiums earned during the year (note 10)

(4,946.5)

1,225.7

(3,720.8)

207.9

(51.2)

156.7

2,119.0

(585.5)

1,533.5

Foreign exchange movements
At 30 November 2016

31. BORROWINGS
Borrowings consist of subordinated loans and bank overdrafts.

Subordinated loans

30 November 2016
£’m
50.0

30 November 2015
£’m
50.0

50.0

50.0

The subordinated loan was entered into on 17 August 2012, with an agreement whereby AIG International Holdings GmbH
(the Lender), a related party of the Company, would provide a loan facility with an initial maximum amount of £50.0 million.
The Company is required to repay all amounts advanced under the facility, at par, on 17 August 2019 unless either the Company
or the Lender exercises their option to seek early repayment at any time on or after 17 August 2017. Any early repayment by the
Company is subject to providing the PRA with six months prior notice and gaining regulatory approval for such repayment.
Interest is payable on any amounts drawn down under the facility at the rate of 6 month LIBOR plus 3%. The estimated fair value
of the borrowings at 30 November 2016 is £50 million (2015: £51 million) which does not differ materially from its carrying
amount at that date (2015: £1 million increase on carrying value).
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32. PENSION OBLIGATIONS
The Company operates a number of pension plans for its employees, the most significant of which are defined benefit plans for
employees based in the United Kingdom, Germany, the Netherlands and Ireland. The Company also operates various defined benefit
pension and post-retirement benefit plans in other countries and defined contribution plans which provide benefits equal to the
amounts contributed by both the employer and employee plus investment returns.
For all pension plans disclosed, the scheme assets cannot be allocated on a consistent and reasonable basis to individual
participating member companies. However, it has been determined that the Company is most likely to benefit or suffer from any
surplus or deficit in each plan as a whole. In accordance with IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’, the Company has taken the decision
that it is reasonable to allocate the entire deficit to the Company.
The net deficit in the pension plans is presented in the Statement of Financial Position as follows:
30 November 2016
£’m

30 November 2015
£’m

Pension Liability

(70.5)

(52.6)

Pension Asset (included in receivables – see note 25)

21.0

15.9

(49.5)

(36.7)

Net Deficit in the Schemes
The net deficit is analysed by plan as follows:

30 November 2016
£’m

30 November 2015
£’m

UK Plan

20.8

15.8

Germany Plan

(35.8)

(25.9)

Netherlands Plan

(13.6)

(10.5)

Closing Value

Ireland Plan
All Other Plans
Net Deficit in the Schemes

(4.9)

(2.4)

(16.0)

(13.7)

(49.5)

(36.7)

United Kingdom
The Company operates two pension plans in association with other group companies operating in the UK, a defined benefit plan
(The AIG Pension Plan) and a defined contribution plan (The AIG Retirement Savings Plan). New entrants join The AIG Retirement
Savings Plan, as the AIG Pension Plan is closed to new employees and future accrual. The pension plans are administered by an
external administrator, with trustees comprising representatives of the employer, staff and pensioner members. The assets are held
under a self-administered Trust Fund and are separate from the Company’s assets.
The AIG Pension Plan (hereafter referred to as ‘the UK Plan’), is a group plan for UK based employees. The plan closed to future
accrual on 31 October 2012. Since that date the service cost payable by the Company has been limited to the administration
expenses for the UK Plan only. For the year-end 30 November 2016, administration expenses are reported as a separate line item
in the pension expense. The Company’s contributions to the UK Plan for 2016 and 2015 were 0% of employees’ pensionable salaries
in respect of future service. The Company paid administration expenses and deficit contributions of £5.3 million (2015: £5.3 million).
A link to salary has been maintained for active members of the UK Plan at the closure. All active employees accrue benefits
on a defined contribution basis in The AIG Retirement Savings Plan.
The UK Plan provides a pension at retirement based on salary and service. It is governed by Trustees and a Trust Deed and Rules.
The Pensions Regulator in the UK sets out additional requirements which Trustees and the Company must comply with including
funding requirements and reporting. Fluctuations in interest rates, investment returns and inflation as well as member longevity present
risks to the Company in the future.
The last formal funding valuation for the UK Plan was carried out as at 6 April 2013 and showed a surplus of assets over liabilities at
that time of £0.8 million. Notwithstanding the fact that the Plan had a surplus the Company agreed to continue to make contributions
to the Plan to facilitate de-risking at a rate of £401k each month until 31 March 2017. The Company also makes payments to the Plan
of £36.5k each month in respect of administration expenses.
The investment strategy is set by the Trustees in consultation with the Company.
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Germany
The Company’s Germany branch operates five pension plans for its staff. The most significant is the Heilbronn (Wueba) Pension Plan
(hereafter referred to as the ‘Germany Plan’). The Germany Plan provides benefits in case of normal or early retirement, disability
or death after a ten year service waiting period. The Germany Plan is an unfunded plan.
The Germany Plan provides a pension at retirement based on salary and service. The plan is governed by internal rules. As the plan
is unfunded, there are no assets set aside to fund benefits as they fall due. Fluctuations in interest rates and inflation as well as
member longevity present risks to the Company in the future.
Netherlands
The Company’s Netherlands branch operates two pension plans for its staff. The most significant is the AIG Europe DB Netherlands
plan (hereafter referred to as the ‘Netherlands Plan’).
The accrual of benefits is covered by an insurance contract with Zwitserleven. This insurance contract is a bundled contract which
includes administration, insurance and management of assets. The annual contributions are based on the tariff rates (annuity rates)
as set out in the contract and one year accrual of the individual members. The Pension provision must meet the minimum required
provisions as agreed in the Collective Labour Agreement for the Dutch Insurance Industry. If the employer wants to change the scheme
provisions it will normally need the consent of the Works Council.
The accrued benefits are insured and Zwitserleven guarantees the pay out of these benefits. The Dutch Central Bank (De
Nederlandsche Bank: DNB) sets minimum solvency and liquidity requirements for life insurance companies to fulfil the guarantee.
AIG shares in the profit of asset returns that exceed the interest rate used within the tariff rates. Fluctuations in interest rates, investment
returns and inflation, as well as member longevity present risks to the Company for future accrual as well as unconditional indexation
on accrued benefits. Future salary increases which are attributable to past service years are part of the obligation.
Ireland
The Company’s Irish branch operates two pension plans in association with other group companies operating in Ireland, a defined
benefit plan, the AIG Ireland Retirement and Death Benefit Plan (hereafter referred to as the ‘Ireland Plan’), and a defined contribution
plan, the AIG Ireland Retirement Savings Plan. New entrants join the Retirement Savings Plan, as the Ireland Plan is closed to new
employees. The pension plans are administered by an external administrator.
The Ireland Plan provides a pension at retirement based on salary and service. It is governed by Trustees and a Trust Deed and Rules.
The Pensions Authority in Ireland sets additional requirements which Trustees and the Company must comply with including funding
requirements and reporting. Fluctuations in interest rates, investment returns and inflation as well as member longevity present risks to
the Company in the future.
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The following disclosures are presented in accordance with IAS 19(R):
Plan Particulars
The following table provides an analysis of the membership profile and benefit obligation of the main plans:

2016
Active members
Deferred members
Pensioners

UK Plan
Number of
Members
34
389
291

Germany
Plan Number
of Members
247
108
47

Netherlands
Plan Number
of Members
131
159
24

Ireland
Plan Number
of Members
18
40
10

Total members

714

402

314

68

Germany Plan Netherlands Plan
£’m
£’m

Ireland Plan
£’m

2016

UK Plan
£’m

Owed to active members

20.0

20.7

22.2

10.8

Owed to deferred members

77.3

8.1

19.2

14.3

Owed to pensioners

47.8

7.0

12.1

1.7

Defined benefit obligation at 30 November 2016

145.1

35.8

53.5

26.8

Plan assets

(165.9)

–

(39.9)

(21.9)

Net Deficit/(Asset) Valuation

(20.8)

35.8

13.6

4.9

22

25

20

Germany Plan Netherlands Plan
Number of
Number of
Members
Members

Ireland Plan
Number of
Members

Duration (years)

2015
Active members

19
UK Plan
Number of
Members
64

258

143

18

Deferred members

423

102

130

41

Pensioners

248

43

24

10

Total members

735

403

297

69

2015
Owed to active members
Owed to deferred members
Owed to pensioners

UK Plan
£’m
34.0
66.4
31.8

Germany
Plan £’m
15.8
5.1
5.0

Netherlands
Plan £’m
17.3
11.7
9.7

Ireland
Plan £’m
7.8
11.2
1.4

Defined benefit obligation at 30 November 2015
Plan assets

132.2
(148.0)

25.9
–

38.7
(28.2)

20.4
(18.0)

(15.8)

25.9

10.5

2.4

21

24

20

Net Deficit/(Asset) Valuation
Duration (years)

20
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Assumptions on Plan Liabilities
For each plan shown, the liabilities have been determined using the projected unit credit method to discount the best estimate of future
cash flows to be paid out of the plan. This takes into consideration the accrued benefits at the date of valuation plan and makes an
allowance for projected future earnings (where applicable). The calculation of the plan liabilities is dependent upon a number of
actuarial assumptions and changes in these assumptions can materially affect the measurement of the pension obligations.
Valuations and Assumptions
The valuations calculated for the purposes of IAS 19 have been based upon the most recent full actuarial valuation, updated in
accordance with the requirements of IAS 19 to determine the liabilities of each plan at 30 November 2016. The assets of each plan
are stated at their fair values at 30 November 2016.
The main actuarial assumptions that have a material impact on the valuation of the scheme liabilities under IAS 19 are (per annum):

2016
Pensionable salary increases

UK
Plan
%
3.25%

Germany
Plan
%
2.75%

Netherlands
Plan
%
2.25%

Ireland
Plan
%
2.50%

Pension increases

3.25%

1.50%

1.23%

0.00%

Inflation rate

RPI: 3.25%
CPI: 2.25%

1.75%

1.75%

1.75%

Discount rate

2.90%

1.98%

2.05%

2.00%

Mortality assumption

S1NA light tables with CMI
projections (2011 model)
converging to a long term rate
of 1.5% p.a.

Heubeck
2005G

2015
Pensionable salary increases

UK
Plan
%
3.25%

Germany
Plan
%
3.00%

Netherlands
Plan
%
2.50%

Ireland
Plan
%
2.75%

Pension increases

3.25%

1.50%

1.40%

0.00%

S2PNA_80M75F
with mortality
Prognosetafel
improvements
AG2016
from 2007

Inflation rate

RPI: 3.25%
CPI: 2.25%

2.00%

2.00%

2.00%

Discount rate

3.72%

2.57%

2.66%

2.50%

Prognosetafel
AG2014

108%
PNML00 –1
with CSO
improvement
factors

Mortality assumption

S1NA light tables with CMI
projections (2011 model)
converging to a long term rate
of 1.5% p.a.

Heubeck
2005G
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The following table shows the average life expectancy at 30 November 2016:
Life expectancy/pension
duration at age 65
of a male member
Retiring
Retiring
today
in 25 years

Mortality table
Year ended 30 November 2016

Life expectancy/pension
duration at age 65
of a female member
Retiring
Retiring
today
in 25 years

UK Plan

24.6

27.4

25.9

28.8

Germany Plan

19.1

22.4

23.2

26.3

Netherlands Plan

21.3

24.2

24.4

27.2

Ireland Plan

22.9

24.9

25.7

27.8

UK Plan

24.5

27.3

25.8

28.7

Germany Plan

19.0

22.3

23.1

26.2

Netherlands Plan

21.5

24.4

24.4

26.9

Ireland Plan

23.7

26.6

25.0

27.6

Year ended 30 November 2015

Sensitivity to Key Assumptions
The discount rate and mortality are the two assumptions that have the most significant impact on the value of each of the plan’s
liabilities. In addition, given the size of the UK Plan & Ireland Plan, the sensitivity to the inflation assumption has also been considered.
The following table sets out the increase/(decrease) in plan liabilities for movements in these assumptions as at the year end.

£’m
2016
UK Plan

Defined
benefit
obligation

Discount rate
0.25%
0.25%
increase
decrease

Inflation rate
Life Expectancy
0.25%
0.25%
Age rated
increase
decrease down by 1 year

145.1

138.5

152.2

150.4

140.2

149.4

Germany Plan

35.8

33.9

37.7

36.8

34.7

37.3

Netherlands Plan

53.5

50.3

56.9

56.1

51.0

55.1

Ireland Plan

26.8

25.5

28.1

27.3

26.2

27.6

£’m
2015
UK Plan

Defined
benefit
obligation

Discount rate
0.25%
0.25%
increase
decrease

Inflation rate
Life Expectancy
0.25%
0.25%
Age rated
increase
decrease down by 1 year

132.2

125.8

139.1

137.6

127.2

135.1

Germany Plan

25.9

24.6

27.3

26.7

25.2

26.8

Netherlands Plan

38.7

36.5

41.0

39.4

36.1

39.7

Ireland Plan

20.4

19.4

21.4

20.9

19.9

20.9

Each sensitivity analysis considers the change in one assumption at a time leaving the other assumptions unchanged. This approach
shows the isolated effect of changing one individual assumption but does not take into account that some assumptions are related,
except for the inflation assumption which has a knock on impact on pension increases. The method used to carry out the sensitivity
analysis is the same as in the prior year.
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Pension Expense
The total pension expense for all schemes was:
Analysis of Amounts Charged to Profit for the Year

Current service cost
Past service cost
Gains on settlement
Total pension cost charged to net operating expenses

2016
£’m
5.3

2015
£’m
4.7

(0.5)

(1.0)

–

(0.2)

4.8

3.5

Interest expense on plan liabilities

7.7

7.3

Interest income on plan assets

(7.1)

(6.6)

Total net interest cost

0.6

0.7

Administrative expenses and taxes

0.4

0.7

Amortisation of actuarial gains and losses for other long term benefits

0.4

–

Total pension charge to income

6.2

4.9

For the year end 30 November 2017, expected employer contributions into all the defined benefit pension plans are £4.3 million.
In addition, the Company expects to contribute £6.4 million into its defined contribution plans.
Analysis of Amounts Charged to Other Comprehensive Income

Actual return on those assets

2016
£’m
17.6

Actuarial gains on scheme assets

17.6

3.3

9.1

(2.4)

Experience gains arising on plan liabilities
Effect of changes in demographic assumptions
Effect of changes in financial assumptions
Net actuarial (losses)/gains

2015
£’m
3.3

0.5

–

(31.0)

0.3

(3.8)

1.2
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Plan assets
The assets of the plans are held separately from those of the Company, being invested with external investment managers, to meet
long-term pension liabilities of past and present members. The investment managers make investment decisions based on guidelines
laid down by the Trustees/Board (as applicable).
The following table provides an analysis of the fair value and composition of the plan assets across all plans.

2016
Debt securities
Equity instruments

Quoted
Market Value
£’m

Non-Quoted
Market Value
£’m

Total
£’m

82.9

–

82.9

101.1

–

101.1

–

50.9

50.9

4.4

–

4.4

188.4

50.9

239.3

Debt securities

69.5

–

69.5

Equity instruments

91.1

–

91.1

–

37.3

37.3

5.7

–

5.7

166.3

37.3

203.6

All schemes
30 November
2016
£’m

All schemes
30 November
2015
£’m

Fair value of assets

239.3

203.6

Present value of scheme liabilities

(288.8)

(240.3)

Funded status

(49.5)

(36.7)

Insurance contracts
Cash and cash equivalents
Total
2015

Insurance contracts
Cash and cash equivalents
Total
Statement of Financial Position Recognition
The assets and liabilities of the schemes at 30 November were:

Analysis of amounts recognised in Statement of Financial Position

Effect of asset ceiling
Net liability in the schemes

–
(49.5)

–
(36.7)
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The table below illustrates the value of funded and unfunded pension schemes.

2016
UK Plan
Germany Plan

Funded
Schemes
£’m

Unfunded
Schemes
£’m

Total
£’m
(20.8)

(20.8)

–

–

35.8

35.8

13.6

–

13.6

Ireland Plan

4.9

–

4.9

All Other Plans

4.7

11.3

16.0

Total

2.4

47.1

49.5

(15.8)

–

–

25.9

25.9

Netherlands Plan

2015
UK Plan
Germany Plan

(15.8)

10.5

–

10.5

Ireland Plan

2.4

–

2.4

All Other Plans

4.5

9.2

13.7

Total

1.6

35.1

36.7

Netherlands Plan
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Movements in the scheme’s net deficit were as follows:

Deficit in the scheme at 1 December 2014
Employer contributions

Scheme
assets
£’m

Scheme
liabilities
£’m

198.6

(246.4)

Net deficit
£’m
(47.8)
7.1

7.1

–

Employee contributions

0.2

(0.2)

–

Benefits paid

(4.3)

5.3

1.0

Settlement payments

(0.8)

1.0

0.2

Interest income on plan assets

6.6

–

6.6

Current service cost

–

(4.7)

(4.7)

Interest expense on plan liabilities

–

(7.3)

(7.3)

(0.8)

0.3

(0.5)

Administrative expenses
Past service cost
Experience gains/(losses)
Actuarial (losses)/gains on changes to demographic assumptions
Exchange rate movements
Deficit in the scheme at 30 November 2015
Employer contributions

–

1.0

1.0

3.3

(2.4)

0.9

–

0.3

0.3

(6.3)

12.8

6.5

203.6

(240.3)

(36.7)
7.5

7.5

–

Employee contributions

0.3

(0.3)

–

Benefits paid

(7.7)

8.6

0.9

Interest income on plan assets

7.1

–

7.1

Current service cost

–

(5.3)

(5.3)

Interest expense on plan liabilities

–

(7.7)

(7.7)

(0.9)

0.1

(0.8)

–

0.5

0.5

17.6

9.1

26.7

–

0.5

0.5

Administrative expenses
Past service cost
Experience gains/(losses)
Actuarial (losses)/gains on changes to demographic assumptions
Actuarial (losses)/gains on changes to financial assumptions
Exchange rate movements
Deficit in the scheme at 30 November 2016

–

(31.0)

(31.0)

11.8

(23.0)

(11.2)

239.3

(288.8)

(49.5)
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33. CURRENT AND DEFERRED TAX
30 November
2016
£’m

30 November
2015
£’m

Current tax assets

92.2

38.0

Current tax liabilities

(49.0)

(31.9)

Net current tax assets

43.2

6.1

Current tax:

Deferred tax:
Deferred tax assets

81.4

94.5

Deferred tax liabilities

(77.5)

(48.2)

3.9

46.3

Net deferred tax assets
Net deferred tax asset breakdown:
Insurance reserves

80.6

(6.3)

Property, plant and equipment

25.5

23.6

Pensions and similar obligations

14.2

4.9

Deferred acquisition costs

24.7

21.4

Other liabilities
Deferred tax assets not recognised
Net deferred tax assets/(liabilities)

(7.7)

30.0

(133.4)

(27.3)

3.9

46.3

Current tax assets and liabilities are recoverable/payable within one year. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recoverable/payable
after more than one year.
The reduction in the UK corporation tax rate to 17% from 1 April 2020 was enacted on 15 September 2016. Accordingly, the effects
of these changes are reflected in the financial statements for the year ended 30 November 2016. The changes have not had a
material impact on the Company’s deferred tax balances as at 30 November 2016.
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34. OTHER PAYABLES, INCLUDING INSURANCE PAYABLES
30 November
2016
£’m

30 November
2015
£’m

56.0

–

(1.0)

2.6

Insurance payables arising out of direct insurance operations:
Due to intermediaries
Due to policyholders

55.0

2.6

Insurance payables arising out of reinsurance operations

428.6

368.4

Other payables including tax and social security

580.2

566.0

Assets held as collateral
Reinsurer’s share of acquisition costs
Amounts to be settled within one year
Amounts to be settled more than one year

6.8

5.1

73.0

68.0

1,143.6

1,010.1

1,136.8

1,005.0

6.8

5.1

1,143.6

1,010.1

Assets held as collateral comprise cash and debt securities received as collateral against reinsurance assets transferred from unrated
related parties. As the Company acquired substantially all the risks and rewards from ownership, debt securities received have been
recognised in the Statement of Financial Position as part of the Company’s financial investments.

35. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The following charges exist over the assets of the Company:
A charge, in favour of Citibank NA, London Branch (the ‘Custodian’), of any cash or securities held by the Custodian as security for:
a.	all obligations of the Company to reimburse the Custodian for any irrevocable commitments to pay for or deliver securities
incurred by the Custodian in carrying out instructions under the relevant Custodian Agreement; and
b.	all other present and future obligations to repay the Custodian.
A similar charge to the one above also exists with J.P. Morgan Chase Bank NA London Branch.
A charge in favour of HSBC Holdings Plc (the security trustee) as trustee for itself and for the HSBC parties, over all reinsurance
recoverables receivable by HSBC Insurance (Bermuda) Limited to the Company under reinsurance contracts between HSBC and AIG.
Under the terms of Credit Support Annexes (CSAs) to executed International Swaps and Derivative Association Agreements (ISDAs),
the Company is obligated to provide collateral in favour of the counterparties to cover margin calls on unfavourable movements in the
fair value of outstanding derivatives. At 30 November 2016, the gross amount of assets pledged under such agreements was £nil
(30 November 2015: £nil), which represents the fair value of the liability.

36. GUARANTEES
During the year the Company has been party to various guarantees against the non-payment of contractual obligations, and as a
requirement to write public tender business in the US and South Africa. These include automatically extending standby letters of credit
which are callable on demand are issued on the Company’s behalf to guarantee the obligations of another AIG Group company,
AIG South Africa Ltd. As the likelihood of payments being made under these arrangements is currently remote no associated liabilities
have been recognised in the Statement of Financial Position at 30 November 2016 (30 November 2015: £nil).
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37. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
The Statement of Profit or Loss and Total Comprehensive Income includes share-based payment compensation expense as follows:
2016
£’m

2015
£’m

Employee plan – ‘2013 Long Term Incentive Plan’
All other plans

13.0
–

11.7
0.1

Total: pre-tax

13.0

11.8

Total: post-tax

11.3

9.8

Employee Plans
The Company has in place a Long Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) which granted awards to employees in 2013 through to 2016.
The 2013 LTIP provides for the annual grant of Performance Stock Units (“PSUs”) to certain employees, including our senior executive
officers and other highly compensated employees. Each recipient of an award is granted a number of PSUs (the target) that provides
the opportunity to receive shares of AIG Common Stock based on AIG achieving specified performance goals at the end of a
three-year performance period.
These performance goals are pre-established by AIG’s Compensation and Management Resources Committee for each annual grant
and may differ from year to year. The actual number of PSUs earned can vary from zero to 150 per cent of the target depending on
AIG’s performance relative to a specified peer group. Vesting occurs in three equal instalments beginning on January 1 of the year
immediately following the end of a performance period and January 1 of each of the next two years. Recipients must be employed
at each vesting date to be entitled to share delivery, except upon the occurrence of an accelerated vesting event, such as an
involuntary termination without cause, disability or retirement during the vesting period.
LTIP awards granted in 2016 and 2015 accrue dividend equivalent units (“DEUs”) in the form of additional PSUs that are subject
to the same terms and conditions as the target whenever a cash dividend is declared on shares of AIG common stock. Dividends
or DEUs do not accrue on unvested PSUs or underlying shares for LTI awards granted in 2014 and 2013.
Further detail on the other share-based payment plans can be found in the AIG Inc. 10-K filing.

38. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
At 30 November 2016, the Company had annual commitments in respect of non-cancellable operating leases.
The Company is committed to payments in 2017 which are expected to be £14.8 million (2015: £15.6 million). The total of future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases on land and buildings are £40.4 million as analysed in the
table below:

Not later
than one year
£’m

Later than
one year
and not later
than five years
£’m

Later than
five years
£’m

Total
£’m

At 30 November 2016

14.8

20.0

5.6

40.4

At 30 November 2015

15.6

34.6

4.3

54.5

Future minimum lease payments

The Company expects to receive total future sublease payments of £7.5 million (2015: £7.7 million) in relation to non-cancellable
operating leases on properties over the next 9 years (2015: 8 years).
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39. RELATED PARTIES
The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of AIG Holdings Europe Limited (2015: AIG Europe Holdings Limited). The ultimate
parent company is American International Group Inc. (“AIG Inc.”), a company incorporated in the State of Delaware, United States
of America. Copies of the ultimate parent company’s consolidated financial statements may be obtained from The Secretary, AIG
Europe Limited, The AIG Building, 58 Fenchurch Street, London EC3M 4AB.
Insurance and Reinsurance Transactions
In the ordinary course of business the Company both assumes and cedes insurance contracts with related parties. The following
summarises the key reinsurance arrangements under which the Company both assumes and cedes business:
——Intra-Group Multinational Programmes – these relate to cases where insurance coverage is provided to multinational clients
by a number of AIG operations. In cases where the Company has the primary relationship with the client, the Company
assumes business written by overseas related parties and ultimately cedes a proportion of the business externally. During the
year, the Company assumed a total of £57.7 million (2015: £97.3 million) of insurance premium revenue from fellow
subsidiary undertakings.
——Intra-Group Reinsurance Treaties – the Company has a number of excess of loss and proportional reinsurance programmes
with the American International Overseas Association (an association comprising American Home Assurance Company,
New Hampshire Insurance Company and National Union Fire Insurance Company of Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania), all fellow
subsidiary undertakings. During the year, the amount ceded by the Company amounted to £117.2 million (2015: £141.4 million).
——Intra-Group Facultative Reinsurance – the Company has facultative reinsurance arrangements with a number of related parties.
Facultative reinsurance is purchased for individual risks not covered, or insufficiently covered, under other reinsurance
arrangements. During the year, the Company ceded £29.8 million (2015: £20.3 million) to fellow subsidiary undertakings.
Insurance claims expense for the year includes £22.9 million (2015: £35.5 million) of claims payable on insurance contracts assumed
from related parties. Insurance claims recoverable from reinsurers include £240.7 million (2015: £250.3 million) of recoveries due
from related parties. All relevant related parties were fellow subsidiary undertakings of the Company.
Insurance Liabilities and Reinsurance Assets with Related Parties
Insurance liabilities and reinsurance assets with related parties were as set out in the table below:
30 November
2016
£’m

30 November
2015
£’m

Reinsurers’ share of provisions for claims

789.5

548.1

Reinsurers’ share of unearned premiums

59.1

124.5

848.6

672.6

Claims incurred

(24.9)

(54.5)

Unearned premium provision

(15.6)

(16.2)

(40.5)

(70.7)

Reinsurance assets due from fellow subsidiary undertakings:

Insurance liabilities due to fellow subsidiary undertakings:
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An analysis of the movements in insurance liabilities and reinsurance assets with related parties is shown in the tables below:
Claims Liabilities:

At 1 December 2014

Insurance
claims liability*
£’m

Reinsurance
assets*
£’m

(99.4)

967.2

Claims settled in cash in the year

35.5

(250.3)

Increase in liabilities

(23.3)

–

–

232.7

3.5

(50.2)

Reinsurance recoveries received on claims
Foreign exchange movements
At 30 November 2015

(83.7)

899.4

Claims settled in cash in the year

22.9

(240.7)

Increase in liabilities

39.1

–

Reinsurance recoveries received on claims
Foreign exchange movements
At 30 November 2016

–

28.8

(3.2)

102.0

(24.9)

789.5

* Prior year numbers have been restated to agree to current year presentation.
All amounts included in the above table were reserves in Claims Liabilities of fellow subsidiary undertakings, with the exception
of £12.2 million insurance claims liabilities which were with parent company (2015: £10.4 million) and Reinsurance Assets of
£127.8 million which were with the parent company (2015: £112.9 million) and £nil which were with subsidiaries (2015: £nil).
Unearned Premiums:

At 1 December 2014

Insurance
claims liability
£’m

Reinsurance
assets
£’m

(34.9)

117.5

Premiums (assumed)/ceded during the year

(79.0)

217.3

Less: premiums earned during the year

97.3

(206.5)

0.4

(3.8)

Foreign exchange movements
At 30 November 2015

(16.2)

124.5

Premiums (assumed)/ceded during the year

(56.3)

192.6

Less: premiums earned during the year

57.7

(267.5)

(0.8)

9.5

(15.6)

59.1

Foreign exchange movements
At 30 November 2016

All amounts included in the above table were reserves in Unearned Premiums of fellow subsidiary undertakings, with the exception
of £nil Insurance Claims liability which were with subsidiaries (2015: £0.3 million) and £4.4 million which were with the
parent company (2015: £5.8 million), and for Reinsurance Assets of £33.0 million which were with the parent company
(2015: £35.9 million).
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Financial Investments
The Company’s financial investment portfolio is managed by a fellow subsidiary undertaking, AIG Asset Management (Europe)
Limited. Management fees payable for the year were £11.1 million (2015: £9.9 million) and are charged on the basis of funds
under management and investment activity in the year. Dividend income in the year was £0.3 million being the final settlement from
AIG Buildings Limited. In the prior year dividend income was £59.1 million which included £5.0 million received from AIG Services
Limited, £52.7 million from AIG Buildings Limited and £1.7 million from Chartis Romania S.A.
Additionally, included in the financial investments balance at 30 November 2016 are the following related party investments:
30 November
2016
£’m

30 November
2015
£’m

Related Party

Type of Investment

AIG Real Estate Partners

Equity Investment

5.5

5.9

AIG International Holdings GmbH

Loan Participation

76.0

76.1

AIG Property Company

Loan Participation

9.8

8.3

Habitus Holdings Sarl

Loan Participation

19.7

7.5

Privilege Holdings Sarl

Loan Participation

13.1

6.5

Privilege Southampton Holdings Sarl

Loan Participation

11.6

–

Privilege Cardiff Holdings Sarl

Loan Participation

4.3

–

140.0

104.3

Total

Investments in Joint Ventures
During the current and previous year, the Company invested in a series of equity investments in European real estate alongside other
AIG companies and third party investors. The table below shows the Company’s holdings in these joint ventures:

Joint Venture

Principal Activity

Habitus Holdings Sarl

Privilege Southampton
Holdings Sarl

Holding company for real
estate investments
Holding company for real
estate investments
Holding company for real
estate investments

Privilege Cardiff
Holdings Sarl

Holding company for real
estate investments

Privilege Holdings Sarl

Proportion of ownership
interest/voting power held by
the Company
Investment
(Shares)
2016
2015

Investment
(share capital and share
premium)
£
2016
2015

5,000

50%

50%

15,000.00

15,000.00

4,580

50%

50%

9,295.00

9,295.00

5,000

50%

0%

10,000.00

–

5,000

50%

0%

10,000.00

–

Dividend Paid
During the year the Company declared and paid dividends of £nil (2015: £314.0 million) to its immediate parent company.
Other Income
Net reinsurance commission income, inclusive of reinsurers’ share of deferred acquisition costs, shown as part of other income
includes £35.9 million (2015: £52.9 million) of commission receivable and net movement in reinsurers’ share of deferred acquisition
costs from fellow subsidiary undertakings.
The Company’s UK property is occupied by AIG Europe (Services) Limited, a subsidiary undertaking. Rental income from this property
of £0.6 million (2015: £nil) is included within other income.
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Net Operating Expenses
Net operating costs charged by related parties amounted to £163.1 million (2015: £139.9 million) comprised as set out in the table below:

Acquisition
costs
£’m

Change
in deferred
acquisition
costs
£’m

Administrative
expenses
£’m

Total
£’m

3.4

(2.6)

136.4

137.2

–

–

25.9

25.9

Year ended 30 November 2016
Fellow subsidiary undertakings
Subsidiary undertakings

3.4

(2.6)

162.3

163.1

7.1

(0.1)

120.5

127.5

–

–

12.4

12.4

132.9

139.9

Year ended 30 November 2015
Fellow subsidiary undertakings
Subsidiary undertakings

7.1

(0.1)

Administrative expenses contain net recharges from fellow subsidiary undertakings, including US Corporate Management Recharges
which the Company incurs. These global recharges are allocated to each operating unit based on its proportionate share of
worldwide net premiums written or other appropriate metrics. Total costs recharged to the Company in 2016 were £112.0 million
(2015: £90.6 million).
Other Receivables, including Reinsurance Receivables from Related Parties

At 1 December 2014

Receivables
arising out of
direct insurance
operations
£’m

Receivables
arising out of
reinsurance
operations
£’m

Other
receivables
£’m

Total
receivables
£’m

33.7

170.9

55.8

260.4

Transactions in the year

79.0

250.3

–

Settled in the year

(88.3)

(256.6)

53.3

Foreign exchange movements

329.3
(291.6)
(27.7)

(3.8)

(9.5)

(14.4)

At 30 November 2015

20.6

155.1

94.7

270.4

Transactions in the year

56.3

240.7

–

297.0

Settled in the year

(54.3)

(213.8)

36.9

(231.2)

3.1

14.6

2.8

20.5

25.7

196.6

134.4

356.7

Foreign exchange movements
At 30 November 2016

All amounts included in the above table were receivable from fellow subsidiary undertakings with the exception of £47.4 million
which were due from subsidiary undertakings (30 November 2015: £21.7 million) and £46.2 million from the parent company
(30 November 2015: £28.0 million).
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Other Payables, including Insurance Payables to Related Parties
Payables
arising out of
reinsurance
operations
£’m
At 1 December 2014

Other
payables
£’m

Total
payables
£’m

223.3

56.3

279.6

Transactions in the year

252.8

136.6

389.4

Settled in the year

(314.5)

(118.3)

(432.8)

29.2

16.6

45.8

190.8

91.2

282.0

Foreign exchange movements
At 30 November 2015

215.5

170.6

386.1

Settled in the year

(92.9)

(162.8)

(255.7)

Foreign exchange movements

(14.1)

(1.3)

(15.4)

299.3

97.7

Transactions in the year

At 30 November 2016

397.0

All amounts included in the above table were payable to fellow subsidiary undertakings with the exception of £81.3 million which
were due to subsidiary undertakings (30 November 2015: £58.8 million) and £58.3 million due to the parent company
(30 November 2015: £59.2 million).
Other payables to related parties at 30 November 2016 includes £6.8 million (30 November 2015: £5.1 million) of assets held as
collateral from the American International Overseas Association and American International Reinsurance Company as described
further in Note 34.
Key Management Personnel
Included within net operating expenses were the following costs of key management personnel. These costs are included within
administrative expenses.
2016
£’m

2015
£’m

Wages and salaries

14.7

10.4

Social security costs

1.5

3.2

Other pension costs

0.3

0.3

Share-based payments

3.3

1.7

19.8

15.6

Key management personnel comprise members of the European Executive Committee, Executive Directors and
Non-Executive Directors.

40. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING YEAR
On 16 March 2017, the Company issued a further 200 shares to its immediate parent, AIG Holdings Europe Limited at par value
with an associated share premium of £199,999,800.
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